
Meeting papers

Pension Board

Wednesday 19 January 2022 at 10.00 am

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting





    

Pension Board

Wednesday 19 January 2022 at 10.00 am

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Andrea Griffiths

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Andrea Griffiths

3  PENSION BOARD MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

The Board is asked to approve the minutes of the previous meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

4  PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES (Pages 7 - 12)

The Board is asked to note the draft minutes of the previous Pension 
Committee meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

5  GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE (Pages 13 - 64)

The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

6  RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY & RISK REGISTER (Pages 65 - 98)

The Board is asked to note the register.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

7  REPORTING & RECORDING BREACHES OF THE LAW POLICY 
(Pages 99 - 118)

The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

8  STATEMENT OF ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY DISCRETIONS 
POLICY (Pages 119 - 134)

The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

9  PENSIONS ARRANGEMENTS FOR OUTSOURCED SERVICES (Pages 
135 - 150)

The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

10  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS & PUBLIC Sean Collins



    

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda 
items, because it is likely that if members of the public were present there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information to the public

11  PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT EXEMPT MINUTES (Pages 151 - 158)

The Board is asked to note the draft minutes of the Pension Committee.

Andrea Griffiths

Membership –  Sean Collins (Chair), John Abbott, Annette Benson, Cllr Stephen Hirst, Michael 
Hunt, Jon Topping,  

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob 
Ayliffe 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Officer 
:01452 328506/ e-mail:  andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Tuesday 19 October 2021 
commencing at 10.00 am at the Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Sean Collins (Chair) 
Jon Abbott 
Jon Topping 
Michael Hunt 
Cllr Stephen Hirst 

Apologies: Annette Benson

23. PENSION BOARD MINUTES 

Resolved

That the Pension Board minutes held on the 28th July 2021 be approved as a 
correct record.

24. PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the draft Pension Committee minutes held on the 24th September 2021 
be duly noted.

25. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE - PART 1 

The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update 
on the performance of the Fund, as at 30 June 2021.

Members noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by 
£159.5m, to £3.058bn. It was reported that performance for the fund over three 
years to March 2021 was 8.4%, and was slightly ahead of the benchmark by 0.4%. 
Members were advised that the last quarter provided a return of 5.4%, 
outperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.8%.  

The Board were advised that the Fund was in a healthy positive funded position at 
the quarter end.   The Head of Pensions explained this was the first time ever the 
fund had exceeded £3bn.  

The Board were referred to the LGPS Investment Performance benchmarking 
undertaken by PIRC on page 17 of the report, which showed that Gloucestershire 
was above the LGPS universe average for 2020/21.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members were advised that final transition of the Funds fixed interest allocations to 
Sterling Corporate Bonds and Multi-Asset Credit had taken place to the respective 
Brunel Portfolios during the quarter.  It was noted that no rebalancing of the 
portfolios had taken place during the quarter.  The Board were advised that the 
Committee would review the final transition in December, it was also noted that 
over 95% of the fund was now invested with Brunel.  In addition Brunel were doing 
work on the Paris aligned portfolio benchmark and would report its finding back to 
Committee in December 2021.  

The Head of Pensions explained there was a marked increase in the number of 
retirement estimates, which had now appeared returned to pre-Covid levels.  It was 
noted that the Pensions Administration Team had produced the Annual Benefit 
Statements ahead of the statutory deadline of 31 August.  The Head of Pensions 
told the Board there were a number of issues staff had faced during the pandemic 
but overall the administration team were doing a fantastic job in challenging times.  

The Chair wished to know how many statements weren’t issued, the Head of 
Pensions didn’t have the information to hand and agreed to circulate the information 
via email.  

Members were advised that in terms of administration performance indicators for 
this quarter they were always challenging, however this was not a reflection of the 
performance that would be achieved as the year progressed.  The Head of 
Pensions explained that resources were redeployed during the first quarter to deal 
with major projects, such as the year end process and the production of the Annual 
Benefit Statements. In addition staff were still working in a Covid enforced 
environment.    

The Head of Pensions explained that in accordance with the knowledge and skills 
assessment, a training plan was being developed for members.  In addition Brunel 
had offered investor seminars for members to attend virtually.  If members were 
unable to attend, then the links to the recordings would be would be circulated in 
due course.  

Resolved
 
That the Board noted the market value and quarterly performance of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 30 June 2021.

26. RISK REGISTER 

Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the 
Pension Board in June 2021, there had been no substantial movement in the 
overall risk levels faced by the fund. The Board noted there was an updated 
narrative on risks F9 and G7.  IN addition, it was explained that G8 and F9 would 
be removed from the risk register once the last transition had been reviewed.  

In response to a question relating to G7, it was noted that 50% of the returning 
members had been reappointed to the Pension Committee.  Some Board Members 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

felt although there were plans in place for training, the risk should be higher as 
there was a need for knowledge and experience.  

A question arose regarding A/R1.2, the Head of Pensions explained that the service 
was due to embark on advertising six positions and he hoped there would be some 
internal applications from staff with experience of Pensions.  It was explained now 
the annual statements had been produced other members of the team would be 
available to assist with training.  It was anticipated that the additional staff would 
assist with the McCloud ruling if required.  The Head of Pensions hoped to report 
significant progress in this area at the next Board meeting.   

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the risk register.

27. DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 

The Head of Pensions presented the report and explained that the draft annual 
report was circulated via email for information.  Members were advised that the 
Annual Report had to be published online before the 1st December 2021.  It was 
explained that when the Pension Fund Accounts had been formally approved, they 
would be incorporated into the annual report and the Pension Committee Chair 
would be delegated to sign the annual report.    

During the discussion it was noted that page 179 of the annual report needed to be 
amended to reflect the current number of Board meetings being held on a yearly 
basis.  In addition the Communications Policy needed to also be reviewed and 
amended accordingly, the Head of Pensions agreed to make these amendments.  

Resolved

That the draft annual report be noted.  

28. GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

The Head of Pensions presented the report and referred the Board to the 
recommendations on page 104 of the report.  The Board discussed and approved 
the draft work plan.

Members discussed the Conflicts of Interest Policy in detail and agreed to adopt the 
Policy.  The Head of Pensions explained the Policy would be adopted and issued 
on an annual basis.  It was explained that there was no issue with having a conflict, 
providing it was declared and documented, therefore any issues could be managed.  

The Board discussed the third recommendation and the suggestion of increasing 
the employer representatives on the committee to two members. Officers explained 
that a representative from the academy sector would be sought, as that sector was 
the second largest employer base within the fund.  It was noted at the Pension 
Committee meeting the Employee representative felt it was regrettable that the 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

employee representation on the Committee would not be increased at this time, it 
was recognised that he felt this was unbalanced as members on the committee 
represented councils and not those who contributed directly to the fund.  

The Board supported the recommendation to the constitution committee, that 
representation should include one employee representative, one district 
representative and one employer representative.  

The Board discussed the fourth recommendation and noted the duties of the 
Pension Committee be amended, as set out in appendix 3 to this report.  

Resolved 

That the Board noted the draft work plan.

That the Board agreed to adopt the draft Conflicts of Interest Policy.

That the Board noted the agreed recommendations regarding the proposed 
future Constitution of the Committee.  

That the Board noted the Committee’s agreement to recommend to the 
Constitution Committee that the duties of the Pension Committee, as set out 
in appendix 3 to this report, be amended.  

29. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

30. PENSION BOARD EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved

That the exempt Pension Board minutes held on the 28th July 2021 be 
approved as a correct record.

31. PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the draft exempt Pension Committee minutes held on the 24th 
September 2021 be duly noted.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.20 am

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 3 December 2021 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-
Charrington
Cllr Wendy Thomas
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark
Cllr David Gray
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

No declarations were made.

29. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received. 

30. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No member questions were received.  

31. MINUTES - 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 24th September 2021 be 
approved as a correct record.

32. PENSION BOARD DRAFT MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the Pension Board draft minutes be noted.

33. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 1 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update 
on the performance of the Fund, as at 30 September 2021.

Members noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by 
£42.2m, to £3.100bn. It was reported that performance for the fund over three years 
to September 2021 was 8.0%, and was slightly ahead of the benchmark. Members 
were advised that the last quarter provided a return of 1.3%, outperforming the 
strategic benchmark by 0.2%.  

The Committee were advised that the Fund was in a positive funded position at the 
quarter end.   

Members were advised that final transition of the Funds fixed interest allocations to 
Sterling Corporate Bonds and Multi-Asset Credit had completed to the Brunel 
Portfolios during the quarter.  

It was explained in terms of the fund administration there was an increased level of 
activity and the number of retirees had increased significantly.  
The Head of Pensions told the Committee staff were still continuing to work under 
Covid constraints and the administration team continued to do a sterling job in 
challenging times.  In response to a question, members were advised that the 
administration performance was lower than the target, this was an ongoing issue 
relating to staffing shortages and partially due to Covid working constraints.  

Members were advised that administration was a cause for concern and that 
performance targets had been affected nationally across the majority of LGPS 
Funds due to Covid.  As a result some Funds had taken the decision to temporarily 
amend the required performance targets accordingly, however  for Gloucestershire 
it had been decided not to amend the targets but continue to report against them.  

It was noted that as part of resourcing levels the ability to recruit and train staff in 
the current situation was an ongoing issue.  The Head of Pensions advised 
Members the job adverts were due to go live on the website very soon.  

The Head of Pensions explained the Annual Report had been published by the 
deadline, however the accounts were still unaudited at this stage.  

In response to a question, it was confirmed that all Chairs of the Local Authority 
Pension Funds had received correspondence in relation to the – UN Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights Investments in the Israeli settlement 
economy. It was explained that the scheme advisory board would be debating this 
issue at their December meeting and would provide the appropriate advice to all 
LGPS funds in due course.  Members asked if it would be possible for the 
Committee to have sight of the letter.  

In response to a request for information on exposures in the new corporate bond 
portfolio, the Head of Pensions explained that not all asset classes had a clear label 
of fossil fuels and the fund was instilling responsible investment through its ethos. 
Due to the recent launch of the portfolio the required reporting had yet to be 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

received to provide the data requested, but this will be able to be provided in the 
future.  

Resolved
 
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 30 September 2021.

34. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY & RISK REGISTER 

 The Head of Pensions explained that the Policy recognised that effective Risk 
Management was an essential element of good governance in the LGPS. The 
Committee were requested to approve the Policy, as the recent governance review 
had identified that the Fund did not have a dedicated policy on Risk Management in 
place.  Members were advised if the policy was agreed then the risk register would 
be reformulated in accordance with the new policy.   

Members were advised that the risk register was a live document and therefore it 
was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out by the Committee.  It was 
noted since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in 
September 2021, there had been no substantial movement in the overall risk levels 
faced by the fund. 

The Committee took note of the highlighted risks within the report.  Members noted 
that in terms of risk scoring the Fund had been adopted the same scoring matrix 
used by GCC in order to provide continuity.  The Head of Pensions explained that 
the criteria for assessing risk in relation to the Fund was set out on page 61 of the 
report (Appendix 1).

During the discussion it was suggested that the policy should include a clear 
definition of risk, officers agreed to amend the report accordingly to encapsulate a 
clear definition.  

The Committee felt that a heat map should include a detailed graph which depicted 
all the risk levels and clarified how many were at each level, as it would be more 
user friendly and quicker to ascertain the information.  

Resolved 

That subject to amendments the Committee approved the Risk Management 
Policy and the changes to the risk register as detailed in the report.

35. ABATEMENT POLICY 

The Head of Pensions explained abatement was a method of reducing a pension 
where a pensioner was re-employed by either a local authority or another employer 
who allows that pensioner access to the LGPS and the pay upon re-employment 
plus pension exceeds the person’s pay when they retired.  The pay at retirement 
was adjusted for inflation and any reduction was on a pound for pound basis.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

In response to a question, it was noted if approved the policy would come into force 
as of today.  

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Abatement Policy with effect from the 3rd 
December to cease abatement for all future retirees from the Fund.     

36. REPORTING AND RECORDING BREACHES OF THE LAW POLICY 

The Head of Pensions explained the proposed policy set out the procedure to be 
followed by certain persons involved with the Gloucestershire Pension Fund in 
relation to identifying, recording and where necessary, reporting breaches of the 
law to the Pensions Regulator.  

It was explained that the updated policies were as a result of the governance 
review.  The Committee agreed they should be made aware of breaches that occur.  
Members requested that complaints be considered at a later meeting.  It was 
explained that complaints were usually brought against the employer and not the 
Fund.  

During the discussion, members requested that in the future, policy documents 
include a summary history and a version number for clarity.  It was explained that 
all policies were held centrally and available through the funds website.  The 
committee also requested a matrix of when policies were due to be reviewed.  

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Reporting and Recording Breaches of the 
Law Policy.  

37. STATEMENT OF ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY DISCRETIONS POLICY 

The Head of Pensions explained the LGPS regulations of 2013 required an 
Administering Authority to prepare and keep under review a written statement of its 
policy in relation to the exercise of its discretion under a number of provisions.  
Therefore the policy had been updated in accordance with the regulations.  

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Statement of Administering Authority 
Discretions Policy.  

38. PROPOSALS FOR PENSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR OUTSOURCED 
SERVICES 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 The Head of Pensions explained the report looked to set the Funds preferred 
solution regarding the pension arrangements for outsourced services. The options 
were currently documented within the Funding Strategy Statement, but with no 
guidance on the Fund’s preferred approach. It was noted that Hymans Robertson in 
their capacity as actuary to the Fund, had prepared a comprehensive paper 
(Appendix 1), in order to assist the Fund in understanding the principles of the 
admission body risk sharing route known as “pass-through” and provided a 
comparison of the risks between this and the traditional (current) admission route. 
The report set out the possible contribution rate approaches and next steps for the 
Committee to consider for implementation.

Members were informed a number of different approaches could be taken in 
offering risk sharing agreements between the awarding authority and a contractor.   
It was explained the defining feature of a pass-through arrangement was to pass 
significantly less pension risk onto the contractor, in order to reduce the volatility of 
the contractor’s costs of participation. The consequence was that more of the 
pension risk remained with the awarding authority but by passing less of the 
pension risks to the contractor, the awarding authority would expect more 
competitive bids.

In response to a question relating to smaller employers, the Actuary advised 
members that the fund was not exposed to any risk through pass through, as a 
bond was in place as per the admission agreement and provided indemnity.  

Members questioned the term and conditions, the Head of Pensions explained that 
contractual terms would be written into the standard admission agreements.  In 
terms of commercial agreements these would be bespoke agreements, draft by 
legal representatives on behalf of the fund.  During the discussion, members 
queried the scheme of delegation in terms of who would approve the admission 
agreement on behalf of the Fund.  The Committee were advised the scheme of 
delegation would be reviewed at the next Committee meeting, but under the current 
discretions policy it would be the Head of Pensions.  

Resolved 

That the Committee formally adopted the pass-through approach, as the 
preferred pension arrangement for future outsourced services.   

39. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

40. EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 24th September 2021 were 
agreed as a correct record.

41. PASSIVE & SMART BETA ALLOCATION REVIEW 

The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail which outlined the passive and 
smart beta allocations.  

Resolved

That the Committee agreed the new Investment Strategy Statement of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

42. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY REPORT UPDATE - PART 
2 

The Head of Pensions presented the report in conjunction with the Independent 
Adviser and gave an overview of market valuations and an update on the 
performance of the Fund, as at 30th September 2021.

Resolved

That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 30th September 2021.

43. ADMISSION AGREEMENTS 

The Head of the Pensions Fund presented the report in detail.  

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Officer’s recommendation.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.37 pm

Page 12



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

Pension Board 
19 January 2022 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund update 
Quarter ending 30 September 2021 

 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

Summary 
 

This report summarises the Fund’s financial position and operational activities for the 
quarter ending 30 September 2021.  

 

The information contained in this report was taken to the Pensions Committee on 3 
December 2021 and fulfils the requirement for administering authorities, under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 
must keep under review the performance of their investment managers. 

 

This report also contains information on relevant recommendations tabled and agreed by 
Committee at its meeting on 3 December 2021, which are not covered in other agenda 
items  

 

Funding position 
 
The Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to meet earned benefit payments than at the 
previous valuation.  

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

 
 
 
Past service funding position: The reported past service funding position has improved. The 
Fund has a surplus of £504m at 30 September 2021 (compared to a surplus of £41m at 31 
March 2019). The improvement has been largely driven by strong investment performance 
since 31 March 2019. 
 
Investment outlook: Prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen to 4.1% 
p.a. at 30 September 2021 based on a 70% likelihood of being achieved (at 31 March 2019, 
the equivalent return was 4.2%p.a.).  
 
Fully funded required return: The likelihood of achieving the future investment returns 
needed to have sufficient assets to pay past service benefits has increased since the last 
valuation (there is now an 83% chance of achieving the returns needed). 
 
The position remains similar to the previous quarter as at 30 June 2021. The detailed funding 
report, prepared by Hymans, is attached at Appendix 1.  

 

 

Fund Investment Performance 
 

Over the quarter to 30 September 2021, the Fund’s total market value increased by 
£42.261m, to £3,100.015m.  
 
Over the quarter, total Fund assets produced a positive return of 1.3%, compared to a 
target of 1.1%, outperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.2%. 
 
Performance over the 3 years to 30 September 2021 was 8.0% ahead of the benchmark by 
0.4%. 
 
A detailed investment performance report is attached as Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
 
Investment Strategy and Activities 
 
During the Quarter the following investment activity took place: 
 

• The transition of the Funds fixed interest allocations to Sterling Corporate Bonds and 
Multi-Asset Credit was completed to the Brunel Portfolios. The allocations to Multi-Asset 
Credit and Sterling Corporate Bonds, were previously managed by Western Asset 
Management (WAMCO).  

• The Brunel Sterling Corporate Bond portfolio will be managed by a single manager, Royal 
London (RLAM). The Brunel Multi-Asset Credit portfolio contains three managers, 
Neuberger Berman, Oaktree and CQS. 

• This transition outcome have been reviewed by Officers, the Brunel Client Group, and 
Oversight Board. The Pensions Committee formally reviewed these outcomes in the part of 
their meeting that excluded the press and public on 3 December, due to the financial 

Page 14



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

information of other authorities contained in the report and concluded that the transitions 
had been undertaken appropriately.  

• During the quarter there has been a number of substantial calls into the alternative asset 
class of circa £51.5m in GBP terms, resulting in the Fund moving more towards its target 
allocation to alternatives. 

 

The current Strategic Asset Allocation is as follows: 
 

Asset Class 
 

Target 
Allocation 

% 

Range 
+/- % 

Allocation as 
at 30 

September 
2021 

% 

Variation from 
Target 

% 

Equities 55.0 3.0 60.8 5.8 

Fixed Interest 22.0 2.0 19.1 -2.9 

Alternatives 23.0 2.0 20.2 -2.8 

 
A detailed Strategic Asset Allocation report is attached as Appendix 3 to this report. 
 

Passive & Smart Beta Allocations Review 

 

In accordance with the agreed recommendation by Committee at its previous meeting, the 
Committee received a report providing the outcome of the review of the two recently 
launched Paris aligned passive equity funds from Brunel compared to the two existing 
passive portfolios held by the Fund, namely the Low Carbon Equity portfolio and the Smart 
Beta Equity portfolio. 
 
As requested by the Partner Funds, Brunel have developed and have now launched 2 new 
investment opportunities within the passive portfolio range delivered by LGIM, with climate 
aligned benchmarks following extensive work with FTSE Russell in their development. 
 
The increased range of passive investment options now offer the Fund Net Zero-aligned 
passive investment opportunities, that were requested to be developed by the partner funds 
and also provide a path forward for the wider industry. Great emphasis was placed on 
developing benchmark/indices that not only met current needs, but also have scope to evolve 
in response to rapid industry developments, so that they will continue to deliver on the 
partner funds investment objectives.  
 
Addressing climate change as an investor is made all the harder by the relative lack of 
appropriate benchmarks. For investors seeking alignment with the ambitions of the Paris 
Agreement, which aims to limit global warming to two degrees above pre-industrial levels, 
the new benchmarks are an enormously important tool in making that ambition possible. 
 
The new indices reflects FTSE Russell’s expertise in index design. The Paris-aligned Benchmark 
meets the minimum requirement of the EU’s Paris-aligned benchmarks by achieving a 50% 
reduction in carbon emissions over a ten-year period. It also integrates the Transition 
Pathway Initiative’s analysis of how the world’s largest and most carbon-exposed companies 

Page 15



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

are managing the climate transition. 
 
Within the construction of FTSE Russell’s new EU Climate Benchmarks is the inclusion of 
recently issued guidance from the IIGCC Net Zero Investment Framework to limit investor 
exposure to Thermal Coal and Oil Sands. Other features involve limiting the active weight of 
banking sector constituents to no more than their underlying index weight, a move that 
reflects the sector’s funding role for large carbon emitters as a contributory factor to climate 
change. 
 
Therefore, within our passive investment options with Brunel/LGIM we now have the 
following additions: 
 

• FTSE Russell Paris Aligned Benchmark (PAB) 
o Target reductions in both Carbon Reserves and Operational Emissions: 

▪ Minimum 50% reduction (reserves and emissions) 
▪ 7% year on year reduction (emissions only) 

• FTSE Russell Climate Transition Benchmark (CTB) 
o Target reductions in both Carbon Reserves and Operational Emissions: 

▪ Minimum 30% reduction (reserves and emissions) 
▪ 7% year on year reduction (emissions only)  

  
Both the PAB and CTB explicitly exclude ‘pure play’ Oils Sands and Thermal Coal companies. 
These are defined as companies generating 50% or more of their revenues from these 
activities. 
 
These new investment options have been launched by LGIM, our passive provider at the 
beginning of November 2021.  
 
David Vickers, Chief Investment Officer at Brunel attending the Committee meeting on 3 
December 2021 and provided further detailed information on the constituent parts of the 
benchmarks and the analysis that underpins their construction. Details about how the 
benchmarks will continue to evolve as companies evolve was also provided.   
 
The Committee also received a detailed report and analysis of new Paris aligned passive 
funds, undertaken by the Funds Independent Advisor, John Arthur. This analysis has been 
utilized to form the recommendation for Committee to consider. 
 
Through the analysis undertaken, it was stated that the new Paris Aligned benchmarks 
launched by Brunel are well designed and can offer the Fund opportunities to incorporate 
further alignment to the Paris Agreement of limiting global temperature rises to below 2% 
and preferably 1.5%. However, it is still a belief that climate change can be better tackled by 
ongoing engagement by active managers who continually analyse the financial and ESG data 
of a company in unison.  
 
As part of the analysis a comparison of both the CTB and PAB portfolios had been undertaken, 
and whilst both are aligned to the Paris agreement the CTB portfolio could be seen as a 
halfway house, therefore, the recommendation was to utilize the PAB portfolio if the 

Page 16



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

Committee wishes to invest in a Paris aligned passive portfolio of this type, thereby taking a 
larger step now than taking two steps over the course of a few years and thereby incur higher 
transition costs. 
 
The balance of all risks had been analysed for the entire portfolio in formulating the strategic 
asset allocation, if the PAB portfolio is to be incorporating into the strategy.  
 
This analysis has resulted in a recommendation to allocate 10% of the Fund to the PAB, whilst 
increasing the Fund’s weighting in the Sustainable Equity portfolio by 3% and the Global High 
Alpha portfolio by 0.5%. These allocations will replace those of the Smart Beta (9.5%) and Low 
Carbon (4%). 
 
The proposed new Strategic Asset Allocation is contained in the table below: 
  

Asset Class Benchmark  Target Strategic 

Asset Allocation  

Target Asset 

Allocation Range 

(+/-) 

Equities  55.0% 3.0% 

UK Active Equities FTSE All Share (excluding 

investment trusts) 

12.0% 2.0% 

Global High Alpha MSCI World 13.5% 2.0% 

Emerging Market MSCI Emerging Markets 6.5% 1.5% 

Sustainable MSCI All Country World 

(ACWI) 

13.0% 2.0% 

Paris Aligned Passive 

Equities 

FTSE Developed World PAB 10.0% 2.0% 

    

Fixed Interest  22.0% 2.0% 

UK Investment Grade Iboxx Sterling Non-Gilt All 

Maturities Bond Index 

14.5% 1.5% 

Multi Asset Credit GBP SONIA 7.5% 1.0% 

    

Alternatives  23.0% 2.0% 

Diversified Returns GBP SONIA 0.0% 10.0% 

UK Property MSCI/AREF UK Quarterly 

Property Fund Index 

7.5% 1.0% 

International Property Global Real Estate Fund Index 2.5% 1.0% 

Infrastructure Consumer Prices Index (CPI) 5.0% 1.0% 

Page 17



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

Private Equity MSCI ACWI 3.0% 1.0% 

Private Debt GBP SONIA 5.0% 1.0% 

Cash - 0.0% 0.5% 

Total  100.0%  

 
After further debate the Pensions Committee agreed the recommendation and therefore 
approved the new Investment Strategy Statement, attached as appendix 4 to this report, 
which incorporates the above table.  
 
Voting and Engagement Statistics 
 
Hermes Equity Ownership Services (EOS) are the Partnership’s engagement and voting 
overlay provider.  
 
Over the last quarter Hermes EOS made voting recommendations at 116 meetings (1,228 
resolutions). At 41 meetings they recommended opposing one or more resolutions. They 
recommended voting with management by exception at 6 meetings and abstaining at 1 
meeting. They supported management on all resolutions at the remaining 68 meetings. A 
detailed quarterly voting report is attached as Appendix 5 to this report 
 
Hermes EOC engaged with 194 companies held in the Gloucestershire Pension portfolios on 
a range of 602 environmental, social and governance issues and objectives. A detailed 
quarterly engagement report is attached as Appendix 6 to this report.  
 
This information is provided to ensure that appropriate levels of engagement and voting are 
being undertaken on the Funds behalf, but the annual Responsible Investment and 
Stewardship outcomes report, provides greater information on the effectiveness and 
outcomes of the voting and engagement undertaken and will include case studies. 
 
 

Fund Administration 
 
The Administration Team are continuing to operate under working practises that were 
introduced at the start of the pandemic and these continue to impact on operational delivery. 
However, the steps undertaken have mitigated the impact on the service delivery and we 
continue to monitor the balance between service delivery and staff safety. 
 
The current performance figures for the quarter to 30 September 2021 and previous whole 
year comparisons are attached as appendix 7 to this report.  
 
The quarter to 30 September sees the team issuing the Annual Benefit Statements (ABS), 
which is the resultant of the year end processing which takes additional resource from the 
team across the first 2 quarters of the Fund year.  
 
Performance indicators for the first 2 quarters are normally challenging and not a reflection 

Page 18



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

of the performance that will be achieved as the year progresses. During this period, we 
continue to focus on delivering an equal service level to all members, which can be 
demonstrated by the average days taken for cases which exceed target, as outlined to table 
2 in appendix 7. 
 
During the quarter to 30 September, we continue to see an increase in the number of 
retirements (461 in total with 260 within the quarter), which have now returned to pre-
pandemic levels and projected to be greater than 2019/20 which had previously seen the 
largest yearly number. Additionally, estimates are also likely to be at their highest levels to 
date if current volumes continue at the same level, and based on the increasing membership 
this seems likely. The team continue to experience higher levels of individual member 
questions and engagement. 
 
 
Business Plan 2021/22 

 
The following is a summary, together with commentary of the amber key tasks from the 

work plan agreed as part of the business plan for 2021/22.  

A detailed report against all items is attached as Appendix 8 to this report 

Investment Management 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Responsible Investment Reporting 

Comment: The activity has yet to 

commence, but is now is scheduled to 

take place over multiple quarters. 

Anticipated to commence in Q4 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Review the recommendations of the 

Taskforce for Climate-related Financial 

Disclosure (TCFD) and requirements for 

UK Stewardship code signatory status 

Comment: The activity has yet to 

commence, but is now is scheduled to 

take place over multiple quarters. 

Anticipated to commence in Q4 

 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

Administration 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Page 19



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

Possible implementation of McCloud 

judgement  

Comment: Awaiting further guidance and 

IT support. 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Possible implementation of revised 95k 

cap regulations 

Comment: Awaiting revised consultation 

from DLUHC. 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 
 
 
Governance Review 

 
The following is a summary, together with commentary of the amber key tasks from the 

work plan agreed by Committee in September 2021.  

A detailed report against all items is attached as Appendix 9 to this report. 

 

Action  Reason   Timescales  
 

Completed 

Update the Fund's 
Governance  
Compliance Statement and  
Policy  

 
Comment: The activity has 

yet to commence, but is now 

is scheduled to take place in 

Q4 

 

The current Compliance Statement is 

dated July 2017. We would anticipate 

this document being reviewed in 

conjunction with the Governance 

Policy statement which was last 

reviewed in February 2020.  

We understand that an updated 
Compliance Statement has been 
drafted so we assume that our input 
would be to review the draft updated 
policy  

Q3 - Q4 2021/22   Will be 
undertaken 
in Q4 
2021/22 

Review of Scheme of 
Delegation  

 
Comment: The activity has 

yet to commence, but is now 

is scheduled to take place in 

Q4 

Review Council’s Scheme of Delegation 

to ensure that pension fund matters 

are covered.  

Consider this in conjunction with 
recommendation from SAB Good 
Governance review regarding LGPS 
senior officer.  

Q3 - Q4 2021/22  Will be 
undertaken 
in Q4 
2021/22 

 

   

 
 
 

Page 20



 

Agenda Item 5 

 

 

Recommendation 

That the Board notes the report. 
 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP  

Funding update at 30 September 2021  

This paper has been commissioned by and is addressed to 

Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”). 

Its purpose is to provide an update on the funding position and risk 

metrics as at 30 September 2021 and how these compare to the position 

at the last formal valuation of the Fund (31 March 2019). The results 

consider the Fund as a whole and not the positions of individual 

employers (which may vary materially).  This paper contains a high level 

summary of the results (and charts).  Further details on the methodology, 

data, reliances and limitations of these results are contained within the 

Appendix and the Fund’s 2019 valuation report.     

Key points to note on the commentary of this funding update are: 

• The funding position is only a snapshot in time and is based on a 

single set of assumptions about the future. The funding level is 

therefore extremely sensitive to the choice of assumptions and 

market movements, in particular the expected future investment 

return assumption. 

• Actual benefit payments in the future will be in respect of both 

service accrued up to today (“past service”) and service that will be 

accrued in the future (“future service”).  The funding position 

presented is only in respect of past service benefits. 

• The assumptions have been derived in line with the Fund’s current 

Funding Strategy Statement. The approach to setting assumptions 

will be reviewed as part of the next formal valuation; and 

• The judgements relating to McCloud and Goodwin will impact 

employers differently (the above analysis doesn’t make any 

allowance for these matters). 

Executive summary 

 

* likelihood of the Fund’s portfolio achieving these returns over the next 20 years 

Past service funding position:  The reported past service funding 

position has improved.  The Fund has a surplus of £504m at 30 

September 2021 (compared to a surplus of £41m at 31 March 2019).  The 

improvement has been largely driven by strong investment performance 

since 31 March 2019. 

Investment outlook: Prudent expectations of future investment returns 

have fallen slightly to 4.1% p.a. at 30 September 2021 based on a 70% 

likelihood of being achieved (at 31 March 2019 the equivalent return was 

4.2%p.a.).   

Fully funded required rate:  The likelihood of achieving the future 

investment returns needed to have sufficient assets to pay past service 

benefits has increased since the last valuation (there is now an 83% 

chance of achieving the returns needed). 

Therefore, the Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to 

meet earned benefit payments than at the previous valuation.   

Reported funding position 31 March 2019 30 September 2021

Assets (£m) 2,379 3,100

Past service liabilities (£m) 2,338 2,596

Surplus/(Deficit) (£m) 41 504

Funding level 102% 119%

Assumed future investment return 4.2% 4.1%

Likelihood of achieving this return* 70% 70%

Fully funded target 31 March 2019 30 September 2021

Funding target 100% 100%

Future investment return required to be 100% 

funded
4.1% 3.0%

Likelihood of achieving this return* 71% 83%

P
age 23



 Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

November 2021 002 
 

Liabilities 

Benefit projections allowing for changes in inflation: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The blue bars are the projected annual future benefits payments at 30 

September 2021 and the pink line shows the total benefit payment 

projections at 31 March 2019.   

Actual pension increases at April 2020 and April 2021 were less than 

expected (1.7% vs. 2.3% and 0.5% vs 2.3% respectively)  

Market derived long-term future inflation expectations have risen since 31 

March 2019 (noting that no allowance has been made for any changes 

resulting from RPI reform).   

The impact of higher long-term future inflation expectations has resulted in 

a slight increase in the projected benefit payments as at 30 September 

2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 24



 Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

November 2021 003 
 

Funding level versus future investment return assumption  

At 30 September 2021 the estimated funding position has improved, with 

surplus increasing from £41m at 31 March 2019 to £504m. 

 

The funding level has been calculated using a future investment return 

assumption which has a 70% likelihood of being achieved in line with the 

Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement. However, the reported funding level 

is extremely sensitive to the return assumption adopted.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The chart below shows how the funding level varies under different future 

investment return assumptions.  The likelihood of achieving these returns 

is noted next to each point of the chart.   

• From this chart, we can see that the likelihood of achieving any 

given future investment return is either broadly the same or slightly 

lower than at 2019 as expectations of future investment returns 

have slightly deteriorated.  

• However, regardless of the investment return assumption used, 

there has been an improvement in the funding position at 30 

September 2021 compared to the 2019 valuation, reflecting an 

increase in assets held today per pound of benefit to be paid out in 

future.  

• This improvement has been driven by strong investment 

performance over the period (26.9% since 31 March 2019). 

  

Funding position 31 March 2019 30 September 2021

Assets (£m) 2,379 3,100

Past service liabilities (£m) 2,338 2,596

Surplus/(Deficit) (£m) 41 504

Funding level 102% 119%

P
age 25



 Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

November 2021 004 
 

Indicative impact on future contributions 

Secondary rate contributions 

It can be inferred that the improved past service funding position at 30 

September 2021 is likely to have a positive impact on Secondary rate 

contributions at the next valuation for the average employer, all else being 

equal.   

Of course any changes in funding position (and any impact on 

contributions rates) will be varied across the Fund’s employers and is 

dependent on each individual employer’s membership and funding plans. 

Primary rate contributions 

As discussed above, the past service funding position has improved. 

However, the assets held today only cover past service benefits – we still 

need to fund those benefits yet to be earned (i.e. Primary Rate 

contributions in respect of future accrual). For the average fund, two-thirds 

of the benefit payments made over the next 50 years will be in respect of 

benefits yet to be earned.   

As at 30 September 2021, longer term future market conditions for 

valuing benefit costs are expected to be more challenging and are 

applying upward pressure to the future service cost (compared to 

March 2019). 

The increased cost of future accrual will lead to increased Primary 

contribution rates at the next valuation.  For the average employer any 

increases in Primary contribution rates may be partially (or wholly) offset 

by reductions in Secondary contribution rates. 

Summary  

Combining both these factors together, if the Fund’s funding strategy and 

investment strategy remained static, we may expect funding plans to be 

broadly unchanged at the next formal valuation (31 March 2022). 

However this may vary between employers. 

Reliances and limitations 

This paper has been prepared for Gloucestershire County Council as 

Administering Authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the 

purpose described above.  It has not been prepared for use for any other 

purpose and should not be so used.  The paper should not be disclosed to 

any third party except as required by law or regulatory obligation or with 

our prior written consent.  We accept no liability where the paper is used 

by or disclosed to a third party unless we have expressly accepted such 

liability in writing.  Where this is permitted, the paper may only be released 

or otherwise disclosed in a complete form which fully discloses our advice 

and the basis on which it is given.   

The following Technical Actuarial Standards are applicable in relation to 

this advice, and have been complied with where material and to a 

proportionate degree: 

• TAS100 

This report together with the formal valuation report for the Fund (issued 

March 2020) and the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement set out the 

aggregate of my advice. 

 

Julie West FFA     

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021 

  

P
age 26



 Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

November 2021 005 
 

Appendix 

Assumptions and methodology 

Liabilities 

All demographic and financial assumptions underlying the benefit 

projections have been derived as per the Funding Strategy Statement in 

force as at the 31 March 2019 formal valuation of the Fund, with the 

exception of the future inflation assumption (which affects the rate of 

future pension increases, CARE revaluation and salary increases). 

As such, no allowance has been made for changes in the formulation of 

underlying actuarial assumptions. For example, future assumed long-term 

inflation expectations may be affected by the recent RPI reform 

announcement (RPI is expected to align with CPIH from 2030 onwards) or 

longevity assumptions may need to be revisited in light of any emerging 

data on the long-term health impact of Covid-19. As part of the 2022 

valuation the assumptions will be revisited, and any changes deemed 

necessary may have an impact on the funding position. 

Further details about the assumptions can be found in the 2019 formal 

valuation report dated March 2020. 

The future long-term inflation assumption used in the benefit projections 

as at 30 September 2021 is 2.5% p.a..  Therefore, as at 30 September 

2021 we have assumed that: 

• Future pension increases are 2.5% p.a. 

• Future CARE pot revaluation is 2.5% p.a. 

• Future salary increases are 2.8% p.a. 

The benefit projections assume that membership experience since 31 

March 2019 has been in line with the assumptions made.  At a whole fund 

level, this assumption is reasonable to make and, for the purpose of this 

paper, we do not expect this to result in a material inaccuracy. 

We have also allowed for additional benefit accrual between 1 April 2019 

to 30 September 2021. This allows comparison with the Fund’s asset 

value as at 30 September 2021. 

Future investment returns 

To calculate the expected future investment returns, we have used our 

proprietary Economic Service Scenario (“ESS”) model, and the same 

methodology used at the last formal valuation.  Further details about the 

ESS model, and the calibration of the model as at 31 March 2019, can be 

found in the 2019 valuation formal report dated March 2020.   

The calibration of the model as at 30 September 2021 is detailed below.  

The following figures have been calculated using 5,000 simulations of the 

ESS, calibrated using market data as at 30 September 2021.  All returns 

are shown net of fees.  Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 5,000 

simulations and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 and 20 years, 

except for the yields which refer to the simulated yields for at that time 

horizon.  Only the overall Fund portfolio returns are shown, however 

similar information for separate asset classes is available on request. 

The portfolio returns are based on the Fund’s strategic portfolio of asset, 

further details on this portfolio are detailed in the Fund’s 2019 formal 

valuation report. 

 

% p.a.

16th %'ile -0.6% 1.5% -2.4%

50th %'ile 4.1% 3.0% -1.5%

84th %'ile 8.7% 4.6% -0.6%

16th %'ile 1.3% 1.2% -1.8%

50th %'ile 4.7% 2.8% -0.6%

84th %'ile 8.0% 4.5% 0.6%

16th %'ile 2.9% 0.9% -0.7%

50th %'ile 5.6% 2.5% 1.0%

84th %'ile 8.3% 4.0% 2.7%

Volatility (1 year) 10% 1.3%

1
0

y
e
a
rs

2
0

y
e
a
rs

Portfolio 

returns

Inflation 

(CPI)

5

y
e
a
rs

17 year real 

yield

P
age 27



 Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

November 2021 006 
 

The current calibration of the model indicates that a period of outward 

yield movement is expected.  For example, over the next 20 years our 

model expects the 17 year maturity annualised real (nominal) interest rate 

to rise from -2.4% (1.4%) to 1.0% (3.2%). 

Model limitations 

The models used to calculate the results in the paper make some 

necessary simplifying assumptions. I do not consider these simplifications 

to be material and I am satisfied that they are appropriate for the purposes 

described in this report. 

Sensitivity of results 

The results in this report are dependent on a number of factors including 

the membership details, current financial conditions, the outlook for future 

financial conditions and demographic trends such as longevity.  Changes 

in each of these factors can have a material impact on the results.  I have 

not sought to quantify the impact of differences in the above because of 

the complex interactions between them.  If further information about the 

sensitivity of the results to different data or assumptions is required, this 

can be provided on request. 

Funding Risks 

Please see the FSS for details of the funding risks that apply to the future 

ability of the Fund to pay all members’ benefits.  These include, but are 

not limited to: 

• Market risks – these include investment returns being less than 

anticipated or liabilities increasing more than expected due to 

changes in market conditions underlying the financial assumptions 

(e.g. inflation or pay increases above that assumed etc.). 

• Demographic risks – these include anything that affects the timing 

or type of benefits (e.g. members living longer than anticipated, 

fewer members opting into the 50/50 option, etc.). 

• Regulatory risks – the LGPS is a statutory scheme.  There is a risk 

that central Government legislation could significantly change the 

cost of the scheme in future. 

In particular, the benefit structure of the LGPS is currently 

under review as a result of the consultation on the McCloud 

and Sargeant judgement, HM Treasury’s and Scheme Advisory 

Board’s cost-sharing valuations as well as the recent outcome 

of the Goodwin tribunal.  Benefit changes as a result of these 

issues may materially affect the value of benefits earned by 

members both in the past and future.  I have made no direct 

allowance for these changes and may need to review my 

calculations once the outcomes are known.   

• Administration and Governance risks – failures in administration 

processes can lead to incorrect actuarial calculations.  For 

example, where membership data is not up to date (e.g. leaver 

forms not being submitted in a timely matter) material inaccuracies 

in respect of the level of deficit and contributions may occur at 

future valuations.  

• Resource and Environmental risks – i.e. risks relating to potential 

resource constraints and environmental changes, and their impact 

on Fund employers and investments: such risks exist and may 

prove to be material. Given the lack of relevant quantitative 

information available specifically relevant to the Fund, I have not 

explicitly incorporated such risks in this advice. The Administering 

Authority may wish to seek direct advice on these risks. 

 

 

P
age 28



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1

Performance vs Benchmark @ 30 September 2021
Market Value 

30.06.21
Market Value 

30.09.21

Asset Class Manager Inception Date £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark %
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark %

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel Nov-18 392,522           402,499               2.5 2.3 25.2 27.4 - - 5.5 5.3

Emerging Market Equities Brunel Oct-19 184,418           172,473               -6.5 -5.7 13.7 13.7 - - 8.8 9.6

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel Nov-19 476,769           484,824               1.7 2.6 25.2 24.1 - - 23.8 15.7

Sustainable Equities Brunel Sep-20 275,743           285,655               3.6 1.5 22.9 22.7 - - 22.8 22.6

Low Carbon Equities Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 72,579              74,348                 2.4 2.5 23.7 23.9 12.7 12.8 13.0 13.2

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 180,126           180,835               0.4 0.4 28.8 28.9 12.0 12.1 12.1 12.2

Smart Beta Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 278,469           282,756               1.5 1.6 22.9 23.1 8.9 9.1 9.0 9.3

Total Asset Class 1,860,626        1,883,390            

Fixed Interest

Multi-Asset Credit Brunel Jun-21 202,127           205,276               0.6 1.0 - - - - 0.8 1.4

Sterling Corporate Bonds Brunel Jul-21 391,821           386,421               -0.9 -1.1 - - - - -0.9 -1.1 

Total Asset Class 594,080           591,697               

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel Jul-20 230,308           231,610               0.6 0.0 8.0 0.1 - - 5.4 0.1

UK Property Brunel Apr-20 200,954           237,760               3.7 4.5 11.0 13.1 - - 6.4 7.3

International Property Brunel Apr-20 13,750              15,140                 5.6 3.4 3.1 -3.2 - - 1.0 2.1

Infrastructure - Cycle 1 Brunel Apr-18 11,152              16,877                 2.2 1.0 -1.6 3.0 - - 1.9 1.8

Infrastructure - Cycle 2 Brunel Apr-20 8,598                10,931                 3.3 1.0 0.0 0.0 - - -3.1 3.0

Private Equity - Cycle 1 Brunel Apr-18 13,085              16,575                 18.9 1.5 29.0 22.7 - - 23.7 16.3

Private Equity - Cycle 2 Brunel Apr-20 2,409                5,903                   9.9 1.5 - - - - 71.1 12.8

Private Debt - Cycle 2 Brunel Sep-21 -                    9,566                   - - - - - - 1.5 0.2

Private Debt Golub Capital Partners Jul-17 31,670              32,447                 6.1 1.3 6.3 5.2 7.0 5.6 7.7 5.6

Private Debt Arcmont Asset Management Aug-17 32,922              28,631                 1.1 1.3 7.8 5.2 8.0 5.6 7.3 5.6

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Oct-17 4,856                4,032                   15.7 - 24.7 - - - - -

In-house Cash In-house Cash 51,073              9,297                   0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Fund Manager Cash Fund Manager Cash 2,403                6,159                   0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total Asset Class 603,048           624,928               

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 3,057,754      3,100,015         1.3 1.1 16.6 15.3 8.0 7.6 7.9 8.2

3 Years 
Annualised Return

1 Year 
Total Return

3 Months 
Total Return

Since Inception
 Annualised Return

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 .

Fund Asset Allocation vs Strategic Asset Allocation @ 30 September 2021

Market Value
30 Sept 21

Target Allocation Range
Fund Asset 
Allocation
30 Sept 21

Variation from 
Target

Variation from 
previous quarter

Asset Class Manager(s) £000's % +/- % % %

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel 402,499                   12.0 2.0 13.0 1.0 

Emerging Market Equities Brunel 172,473                   6.5 1.5 5.6 -0.9 

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel 484,824                   13.0 2.0 15.6 2.6 

Sustainable Equities Brunel 285,655                   10.0 2.0 9.2 -0.8 

Low Carbon Equities Brunel - LGIM 74,348                      4.0 1.0 2.4 -1.6 

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel - LGIM 180,835                   0.0 0.0 5.8 5.8 

Smart Beta Brunel - LGIM 282,756                   9.5 1.5 9.1 -0.4 

Total Asset Class 1,883,390                55.0 3.0 60.8 5.8 

Fixed Interest

Multi-Asset Credit Brunel 205,276                   7.5 1.0 6.6 -0.9 

Sterling Corporate Bonds Brunel 386,421                   14.5 1.5 12.5 -2.0 

Total Asset Class 591,697                   22.0 2.0 19.1 -2.9 

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel 231,610                   0.0 10.0 7.5 7.5 

UK Property Brunel 237,760                   7.5 1.0 7.7 0.2 

International Property Brunel 15,140                      2.5 1.0 0.5 -2.0 

Infrastructure Brunel 27,808                      5.0 1.0 0.9 -4.1 

Private Equity Brunel 22,478                      3.0 1.0 0.7 -2.3 

Private Debt Golub/Arcmont/Brunel 70,644                      5.0 1.0 2.3 -2.7 

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP 4,032                        0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 

Cash In-house Cash/Fund Manager Cash 15,456                      0.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Total Asset Class 624,928                   23.0 2.0 20.2 -2.8 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 3,100,015                100.0 0.0 100.0

 Moving further away from target
 Moving closer to target
 Stable against target

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Investment Strategy Statement (November 2021) 

 

Introduction and background  

This is the Investment Strategy Statement (“ISS”) of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the 

Fund”), which is administered by Gloucestershire County Council, (“the Administering 

Authority”). The Council has a duty to ensure that the Fund assets, not immediately 

required to pay pension benefits, are suitably invested and to take proper advice in the 

execution of this function. It has delegated this responsibility to the Funds Pensions 

Committee (“the Committee”). 

The ISS is made in accordance with Regulation 7 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (“the Regulations”) and guidance 

issued from time to time by the Secretary of State. The ISS has been prepared by the 

Committee having taken advice from the actuary to the Fund, Hymans Robertson LLP and 

the Fund’s Independent Investment Advisor.  

This ISS, which was approved by the Committee, is subject to periodic review at least every 

three years and without delay after any significant change in investment policy. In addition, 

an appendix is included which sets out the Committees Investment Beliefs. This is in line 

with the recommendations in the Stewardship Code 2020 produced by the Financial 

Reporting Council (FRC). It is the intention that these beliefs act as broad guidance for the 

Committee’s actions going forward. 

The ISS should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement (dated 

March 2021).  

 

The suitability of particular investments and types of investments 

The primary objective of the Fund is to provide pension and lump sum benefits for members 

on their retirement and/or benefits on death for their dependants, on a defined benefits 

basis. The funding position of the Fund will be reviewed at each triennial actuarial valuation, 

or more frequently as required.  

Page 33



2 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee aims to fund the Fund in such a manner that, in normal market conditions, 

all accrued benefits are fully covered by the value of the Fund's assets and that an 

appropriate level of contributions is agreed by the employers to meet the cost of future 

benefits accruing.  

The Committee has translated its objectives into a suitable strategic asset allocation 

benchmark for the Fund. This benchmark is consistent with the Committee’s views on the 

appropriate balance between generating a satisfactory long-term return on investments 

whilst taking account of market volatility and risk and the nature and cash flow 

requirements of the Fund’s liabilities.  

It is intended that the Fund’s investment strategy and strategic asset allocation will be 

reviewed at least every three years following an actuarial revaluation of the Fund.  

The Committee carried out a strategic asset allocation review and an asset liability 

modelling exercise in conjunction with the 2019 actuarial valuation of the Fund. A number 

of different contribution and investment strategies were modelled and the future evolution 

of the Fund considered under a wide range of different scenarios. The Committee 

considered the chances of achieving their long-term funding target – maintaining a fully 

funded position into the future. They also considered the level of downside risk in the 

various strategies by identifying the low funding levels which might emerge in the event of 

poor outcomes.  

This approach helps to ensure that the investment strategy takes due account of the 

maturity profile of the Fund (in terms of the relative proportions of liabilities in respect of 

pensioners, deferred and active members), together with the level of disclosed surplus or 

deficit (relative to the funding bases used).  

In addition, the Committee monitors the investment strategy on an ongoing basis, focusing 

on factors including, but not limited to:  

• Suitability, given the Fund’s level of funding and liability profile  

• The level of expected risk  

• The outlook for asset returns over the long term 

The Committee also monitors the Fund’s actual allocation on a regular basis to ensure it 

does not notably deviate from the agreed target allocation ranges. The allocations will be 

rebalanced back to within this target allocation range as necessary to control investment 

risk.  

Investment of money in a wide variety of investments Asset classes  

The Fund may invest in quoted and unquoted securities of UK and overseas markets 

including equities; fixed interest and index linked bonds; cash; property; and loans, either 

Page 34



3 

 

 

 

 

 

directly or through pooled funds. The Fund may also make use of contracts for differences 

and other derivatives either directly or in pooled funds, investing in these products for the 

purpose of efficient portfolio management or to hedge specific risks.  

The Committee reviews the nature of Fund investments on a regular basis, with particular 

reference to suitability and diversification. The Committee seeks and considers advice from 

a suitably qualified person in undertaking such a review, this being the appointed 

Independent Advisor to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund. If, at any time, investment in a 

security or product not previously known to the Committee is proposed, appropriate advice 

is sought and considered to ensure its suitability and diversification benefit.  

The conclusions of the asset allocation review conducted in 2020 were that the Fund could 

afford to take a modestly lower level of investment risk and still achieve the required rate of 

return as forecast by the actuary. As a result, the overall target allocation to equities has 

been reduced. The target allocation to fixed interest (bonds) has also been reduced due to 

the low level of current bond yields and the low level of forecast investment returns. There 

have been increases in the target allocations to, international property; infrastructure; 

private equity and private debt. These asset classes have similar long-term return forecasts 

to equities but should provide greater diversification and hence lower the investment risk 

within the Fund. Due to the illiquid nature of some of the assets the Fund will be investing 

in, this move will take a number of years to complete. 

The new target investment strategy is set out below. 

 

Allocation by investment category 

Investment Category Target Strategic Asset 

Allocation 

Target Strategic Asset 

Allocation Range 

(+/-) 

 

Equities 55.0% 3.0% 

Alternatives 23.0%  2.0% 

Fixed Interest 22.0% 2.0% 

   

Total 100.0%  

 

As at February 2020, the forecast return on the target portfolio over the long-term was 4.8% 

p.a. with an expected annual volatility of the funding level of 9.1%. This volatility includes an 

Page 35



4 

 

 

 

 

 

assumed diversification benefit. Further details on the Fund’s risks, including the approach 

to mitigating risks, is provided in the following section.  

 

 

Restrictions on investment 

In line with the Regulations, the authority’s investment strategy does not permit more than 

5% of the total value of all investments of fund money to be invested in entities which are 

connected with that authority within the meaning of section 212 of the Local Government 

and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  

The Committee’s approach to setting its investment strategy and assessing the suitability of 

different types of investment takes account of the various risks involved and a rebalancing 

policy is applied to maintain the asset split close to the agreed asset allocation target. 

Therefore, it is not felt necessary to set additional restrictions on investments.  

Once the Committee has set the strategic asset allocation for the Fund, after seeking 

appropriate investment advice, it sets benchmarks for each asset class which reflect the risk 

and return profile which the Fund is looking to access so that, in aggregate, they are 

consistent with the overall asset allocation for the Fund.  

The Fund’s investment managers will hold a mix of investments which reflects their views 

relative to their respective benchmarks. Within each major market and asset class, the 

managers will maintain diversified portfolios through direct investment or pooled vehicles. 

Passive management (where the portfolio directly reflects the composition of the 

benchmark), is used where the Committee do not believe an active manager is able to add 

value in this asset class or where there is a desire to dampen the investment risk in that 

asset class.  

 

The individual managers and their benchmarks are as follows: 

Asset Class Benchmark  Target Strategic 

Asset Allocation  

Target Asset 

Allocation Range 

(+/-) 

Equities  55.0% 3.0% 

UK Active Equities FTSE All Share (excluding 

investment trusts) 

12.0% 2.0% 

Global High Alpha MSCI World 13.5% 2.0% 

Emerging Market MSCI Emerging Markets 6.5% 1.5% 

Page 36



5 

 

 

 

 

 

Sustainable MSCI All Country World 

(ACWI) 

13.0% 2.0% 

Paris Aligned Passive 

Equities 

FTSE Developed World PAB 10.0% 2.0% 

    

Fixed Interest  22.0% 2.0% 

UK Investment Grade Iboxx Sterling Non-Gilt All 

Maturities Bond Index 

14.5% 1.5% 

Multi Asset Credit GBP SONIA 7.5% 1.0% 

    

Alternatives  23.0% 2.0% 

Diversified Returns GBP SONIA 0.0% 10.0% 

UK Property MSCI/AREF UK Quarterly 

Property Fund Index 

7.5% 1.0% 

International Property Global Real Estate Fund Index 2.5% 1.0% 

Infrastructure Consumer Prices Index (CPI) 5.0% 1.0% 

Private Equity MSCI ACWI 3.0% 1.0% 

Private Debt GBP SONIA 5.0% 1.0% 

Cash - 0.0% 0.5% 

Total  100.0%  

 

The intention is to continue to move towards the Target Strategic Benchmark in stages as 

market conditions allow and commitments to the Alternative Asset Classes are drawn. A 

high allocation to Diversified Returns will be made to hold a proportion of the cash awaiting 

drawdown into the alterative asset classes, hence the wide of 10% range for this asset class.  

The approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and managed  

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund Committee is aware that the Fund has a need to take 

investment risk to help it achieve its funding objectives. It has an active risk management 

programme in place that aims to help it identify the risks being taken and has put in place 

processes to manage, measure, monitor and (where possible) mitigate the risks being taken. 

The principal risks affecting the Fund are set out below, as is the Fund’s approach to 

managing these risks and the contingency plans that are in place:  

Funding risks  

Page 37



6 

 

 

 

 

 

• Financial mismatch – The risk that Fund assets fail to grow in line with the 

developing cost of meeting its liabilities.  

• Changing demographics –The risk that longevity improves and other demographic 

factors change, increasing the cost of Fund benefits.  

• Systemic risk - The possibility of an interlinked and simultaneous failure of several 

asset classes, and/or investment managers, possibly compounded by financial 

‘contagion’, resulting in an increase in the cost of meeting the Fund’s liabilities.  

The Committee measures and manages financial mismatch in two ways. As indicated above, 

the Committee has set a strategic asset allocation benchmark for the Fund after considering 

the most recent actuarial data from the 2019 actuarial review. This data will be updated in 

2022. The Committee assesses risk relative to the strategic benchmark by monitoring the 

Fund’s asset allocation and investment returns relative to the benchmark. The Committee 

also assesses risk relative to liabilities by monitoring the delivery of benchmark returns 

relative to liabilities.  

The Committee monitors Demographic changes by using detailed mortality analysis 

provided by the Funds actuaries during each triennial actuarial review. 

The Committee seeks to mitigate systemic risk through a diversified portfolio of assets and 

by employing a number of asset managers.  It is not possible to make specific provision for 

all possible eventualities that may arise under this heading.  

Investment risks 

• Concentration - The risk that a significant allocation to any single asset category 

and its underperformance relative to expectation would result in difficulties in 

achieving funding objectives.  

• Illiquidity - The risk that the Fund cannot meet its immediate liabilities because it 

has insufficient liquid assets.  

• Currency risk – The risk that the currency of the Fund’s assets underperforms 

relative to Sterling (i.e. the currency of the liabilities).  

• Environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) – The risk that ESG related factors 

reduce the Fund’s ability to generate the long-term returns.  

• Manager underperformance - The failure by the fund managers to achieve the rate 

of investment return assumed in setting their mandates.  

The Committee measure and manage asset risks as follows.  

The Fund’s strategic asset allocation benchmark includes a diversified range of asset classes. 

The Committee has put in place rebalancing arrangements to ensure the Fund’s “actual 

Page 38



7 

 

 

 

 

 

allocation” does not deviate substantially from this target. The Fund invests in a range of 

investment mandates each of which has a defined objective, performance benchmark and 

manager process which, taken in aggregate, help reduce the Fund’s asset concentration risk.  

The Fund monitors its cashflow requirements and any necessary generation of income from 

its assets to meet current and future pension payments. The cash flow forecasts are 

formally updated as part of the triennial actuarial review. The Fund invests in a range of 

assets, both liquid (quoted equities and bonds) and less liquid (infrastructure, Private Debt 

etc). The Committee monitors its need for liquidity and aims to hold cash to cover 6 months 

of forecast drawdowns of its commitments into the alternative asset classes and the use of 

the Diversified Returns allocation will manage the Funds medium to long-term cash 

requirements for these commitments.  

The Fund invests in a range of overseas markets which provides an exposure to a diversified 

range of currencies; the Committee also assess the Fund’s currency risk during their risk 

analysis. A proportion of the currency risk relating to the Fund’s overseas equity 

investments is hedged back to Sterling either through investment in currency hedged fund 

units within the Fund’s Global Equity mandates, or via a strategic currency hedge solution. 

At the strategic level, the intention is to hedge back to Sterling 100% of fixed interest assets 

and approximately 50% of Equity assets via the major currencies where this is cost efficient. 

The actual level of currency hedging will be kept under review by the Committee and its 

advisers on an ongoing basis. 

Details of the Fund’s approach to managing ESG risks is set out later in this Investment 

Strategy Statement.  

The Committee believes in working with asset managers over the long-term which allows 

the asset manager to invest over the long-term, and the Committee monitors them on this 

basis. The diversification by manager and long-term nature of the investment process 

adopted by the asset managers reduces the probability of a single asset manager 

underperforming to the extent that it affects the Funds ability to meet its liabilities in a 

significant way. Under the advent of pooling the selection and monitoring of asset managers 

is undertaken by the Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) who are resourced to complete 

this function. Nonetheless the Committee will continue to hold both Brunel and the 

underlying managers to account as necessary. 

A separate schedule of risks that the Fund monitors is set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 

Statement.  

 

The approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective investment vehicles 

and shared services  

Page 39



8 

 

 

 

 

 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund is working with nine other administering authorities to 

pool investment assets through the Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd (Brunel). Brunel is wholly 

owned by the Administering Authorities of these ten member Funds and is authorised by 

the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) to act as the operator of an unregulated Collective 

Investment Scheme.    

The pool has been created in order to achieve greater economies of scale within asset 

management, increase resources focused on the selection and monitoring of asset 

managers, provide thought leadership in Responsible Investment and EGS areas, imbedding 

these into the selection of asset managers and investments, and deliver cost savings to the 

Fund. The Fund’s intention is to invest its assets through the Brunel pool as and when 

suitable investment solutions become available. An indicative timetable for investing 

through the Pool was set out in the July 2016 submission to Government.  

The key criteria for assessment of Pool solutions will be as follows:  

1 That the Pool enables access to an appropriate solution that meets the objectives 

and benchmark criteria set by the Fund.  

2 That there is financial benefit to the Fund in investing in the solution offered by the 

Pool. 

At the end of 2020 all of the Fund’s listed equity exposures are being managed by Brunel, as 

well as the property exposure. The fixed interest allocations will transition in 2021 and all 

future alternative asset allocations are now being committed to the Brunel portfolios.. At 

the time of preparing this statement, the Fund has the following legacy assets under its 

management: : 

• Two small closed end fixed life venture capital funds. These funds will mature over 

the next few years and repay their proceeds to the Fund.  

• Two Private Debt funds, both of which are closed ended. These funds will mature 

over the next few years and repay their proceeds to the Fund. 

The Gloucestershire fund is a client of Brunel and as a client has the right to expect certain 

standards and quality of service. A detailed service agreement has been signed which sets 

out the duties and responsibilities of Brunel, and the rights of the Gloucestershire Fund as a 

client. It includes a duty of care on Brunel to act in its clients’ interests. Each client has an 

appointed Shareholder and an Oversight Board and Client Group have been established by 

Brunel. They are comprised of representatives from each of the Administering Authorities 

including Gloucestershire.  

These have been set up by them according to an agreed constitution and terms of 

reference. Acting for the Administering Authorities, they will, together with the nominated 

Shareholders, have responsibility for ensuring that Brunel delivers the services required to 

Page 40



9 

 

 

 

 

 

achieve investment pooling.  The proposed arrangements for asset pooling for the Brunel 

pool have been formulated to meet the requirements of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 and Government 

guidance. The Committee is aware that the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government is currently engaged in a further consultation regarding the mechanisms for 

pooling and the Fund will take any updated recommendations and advice into account 

when issued.  Gloucestershire County Council has approved the full business case for the 

Brunel Pension Partnership.  

How social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are considered in the 

selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments  

The Committee consider the Fund’s approach to responsible investment in two key areas:  

• Responsible investment, including climate change – considering the financial 

impact of environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors on its investments.  

• Stewardship and governance – acting as responsible and active investors/owners, 

through considered voting of shares, and encouraging its investment managers to 

engage with investee company management as part of the investment process.  

Responsible investment, including Climate Change 

As a Pension Fund, with pension obligations stretching out many years into the future, the 

Fund, by its nature, is a long-term investor. The authority recognises that investing 

responsibly over the long-term must include the consideration of not just financial data but 

also of the impact of the Fund’s investments in terms of the environment, effects on 

broader society and corporate governance (ESG issues). The Fund, through Brunel, has 

appointed asset managers who invest for the long term and explicitly consider ESG issues as 

an integral part of their research effort when investing the Fund’s assets.  

The Fund also expects to vote, where practical, on all Annual and Extraordinary general 

meetings held by companies in which it is invested, via the Brunel Pension Partnership. The 

Fund will not seek to exclude investments that are not barred by UK law in the belief that 

engagement is preferable to divestment. Whilst there is obvious risk in investing in 

companies with material ESG issues, there can be long-term financial gain where such 

companies are actively attempting to manage and improve these risks, and as such the Fund 

adopts a policy of risk monitoring and engagement in order to positively influence company 

behaviour and enhance future returns to investors, and believes this is more compatible 

with its fiduciary responsibility and more supportive of its long term investment goals.  

If a company fails to engage on these issues with the Brunel Pension Partnership and with 

the Fund’s asset managers, or if the BPP and/or asset managers have reason to believe a 

Page 41



10 

 

 

 

 

 

company is not being honest and open about its intended actions in this area, divestment 

on a stock by stock basis remains an option. 

The Fund will work with like-minded investors within the BPP to promote best practice in 

the long-term stewardship of investments.  

Brunel’s Investment Principles clearly articulate the commitment of each Fund in the 

Partnership and its operator (Brunel Company), to be responsible investors and as such 

recognise that social, environment and corporate governance considerations are a key part 

of the processes in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of managers and 

underlying assets. One of the principal benefits, outlined in the Brunel business case, 

achieved through scale and resources arising from pooling, is this improved implementation 

of responsible investment and stewardship. Every portfolio, in every asset class, under the 

Brunel, explicitly includes responsible investment and includes an assessment of how social, 

environment and corporate governance considerations may present financial risks to the 

delivery of the portfolio objectives. The approach undertaken will vary in order to be the 

most effective in mitigating risks and enhancing investor value in relation to each portfolio 

and its objectives. More information is available on the Brunel Pension Partnership website.  

Climate Change 

The Brunel Pension Partnership’s 2020-2022 climate change policy objectives  

The Gloucestershire Pension Committee fully encourages and supports the BPP’s 2020-2022 

policy objectives on climate change which are set out in their Climate Change Policy. These 

are laid out below. 

Brunel’s 2020-2022 policy objectives  

We will play an active and leading role in encouraging policy makers to establish 

comprehensive and robust climate change policy frameworks. Within this, we will focus 

particular attention on:   

• The adoption of a meaningful price on carbon, which is material (i.e. sufficient to 

drive change at the scale and rate required); progressive over time and widespread 

(i.e. applies to all major sectors of the economy).  

 

• The removal of fossil fuel subsidies.  

 

• The introduction of policy measures – for example, product standards, limitations on 

high carbon technologies, support for low carbon technologies – that accelerate the 

move away from high impact activities and sectors.   

 

Page 42



11 

 

 

 

 

 

• The removal or correction of regulatory barriers to progress and support financial 

policy makers and regulators in being ambitious and effective in implementation of 

plans to mitigate climate risk and under the Adaptation Reporting Power.  

 

• The integration of climate change into the mandates and into the oversight and 

control processes of prudential regulators and other regulatory bodies.  

 

• Ensuring that climate change policy is socially sustainable and takes due account of 

workers’ rights and community interests (the ‘Just Transition’) when taking action to 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions and adapt to a changing climate.  

 

We will play an active leading role in encouraging policy makers to integrate climate change 

into multilateral and bilateral trading frameworks, with a particular focus on the UK post 

Brexit.     

We will encourage policy makers to introduce mandatory climate change disclosure 

requirements for companies, with a focus on providing clear, decision useful information 

and encouraging a clear articulation of the risks that companies and their investors face.   

We will support the development of skills, knowledge and professional standards of those 

intermediaries who are critical influencers in the action of investors and companies. These 

include, but are not limited to, investment consultants, actuaries, lawyers and auditors. 

Further details of Brunel’s Climate Change policy are set out on its website 

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/.   

Monitoring and Reporting Progress  

Reporting on climate change is an area that is rapidly developing, and we are working with 

Brunel and other member funds to continue to improve this. We are supportive of Brunel’s 

involvement in initiatives, such as the Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change 

(“IIGCC”) Paris Aligned Investment Initiative, that are working to allow asset owners and 

investment managers to explain, in a consistent and comparable manner, how their 

portfolios compare to the goals of a net zero carbon future and of keeping global 

temperature rise below 2°C.  

2022 stocktake and ongoing improvements   

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund is currently supportive of Brunel’s approach of not issuing 

exclusion lists as we believe that simply stating exclusions or requiring divestment from 

specific stocks or sectors will not compel investment managers to develop their capacity on 

climate change or drive change in the companies in which they are invested.  

Page 43



12 

 

 

 

 

 

Alongside Brunel and our partner funds, we will be undertaking a full review of our climate 

change policy approach in late 2022 to provide us with the opportunity to reflect on our 

progress, the effectiveness of our approach, and to raise our ambitions (ahead of the 

triennial strategy review).  

One of the key questions that will be addressed as part of this review is whether Brunel’s 

decision to engage with investment managers has been effective. Specifically, whether it 

has been effective in delivering change in the way investment managers work and in their 

ongoing engagement with companies to drive improvements in corporate strategies on 

climate change, so that these companies are on a trajectory to be aligned with the transition 

to a 2°C economy. If the answer is no, we will be expecting Brunel to consider whether they 

need to change investment managers and/or introduce selective divestment requirements 

for companies.   

We will continue to monitor Brunel’s progress on implementing its policy objectives and will 

work with them to achieve our collective climate change ambitions. If the Fund does not 

feel action is progressing at an appropriate pace, the Fund will seek to address this with the 

partnership.  

Stewardship  

The Committee believes one of the potential benefits of pooling, achieved through the scale 

and resources arising from pooling, is the improved implementation of stewardship 

practices. Brunel has published its Responsible Investment Stewardship Policy which 

outlines its approach and priorities.   

The policy reflects the priorities of its underlying clients, and we were active in contributing 

to the policy.    

With the support of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and the other partner funds, Brunel 

has been using its influence to press for improved stewardship at external investment 

managers and has been actively involved in government consultations and other initiatives 

in the area. Once all equity assets have been transitioned, the Partnership and Brunel Ltd 

will seek to deliver best practice standards in responsible investment and stewardship in 

terms of company engagement as outlined in the Brunel Pension Partnership Investment 

Principles. More information is available on the website 

(www.brunelpensionpartnership.org).  

The Committee has delegated investment powers to Brunel and the Fund’s investment 

managers (where assets have not yet transitioned to Brunel) to act in the best interests of 

the Fund. Brunel and the Fund’s investment managers are encouraged to engage in 

constructive dialogue on behalf of the Fund and to use their influence to encourage 

companies to adopt best practice in key areas. Brunel and the Fund’s investment managers 

Page 44



13 

 

 

 

 

 

have been asked to report to the Committee on the implementation of their stewardship 

and engagement activities, which will be reviewed on a regular basis.   

Officers of the Fund have been involved in the Responsible Investment sub-group and 

discuss ESG and responsible investment matters regularly. A representative from Brunel is 

also present at the majority of Committee meetings and can report back on these activities.  

The Fund recognises the importance of collaboration with other investors to achieve more 

effective and wider reaching outcomes. In this respect, the Fund is a member of the Local 

Authority Pension Fund Forum (“LAPFF”) which aims to protect the long-term investment 

interests of beneficiaries by promoting the highest standards of corporate governance and 

corporate responsibility amongst investee companies.  

 

 

 

2020 UK Stewardship Code:  

In late 2019, the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”) published its revised 2020 UK 

Stewardship Code (“2020 Code”). The latest Code defines stewardship as “the responsible 

allocation, management and oversight of capital to create long-term value for clients and 

beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits for the economy, the environment and 

society.”  

The FRC has described the 2020 Code as ambitious and highlighted the increased focus on 

‘activities and outcomes’ as opposed to policy statements alone. As part of this increased 

remit, the 2020 Code covers a wider range of asset classes, requires signatories to consider 

the systematic integration of ESG and climate change in the stewardship and investment 

process, and is based on a more stringent ‘comply and explain’ basis.  

The Committee will be reviewing its policy towards becoming a signatory to the Stewardship 

Code 2020 as published by the Financial Reporting Council. In relation to the asset classes 

where the UK Stewardship Code is relevant, our Fund Managers are signatories.  

The Committee expects both the Brunel pool and any directly appointed fund managers to 

comply with the Stewardship Code 2020 and this is monitored on an annual basis. Through 

Brunel the Fund is affiliated with Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC); 

Share Action; The Task Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD); the UK 

Sustainable Investment and Finance Association (UKSIF) and Climate Action 100.  We 

continue to explore opportunities to enhance our stewardship activities.  

Voting   

Page 45



14 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee has delegated the exercise of voting rights to Brunel and the Fund’s 

investment managers (where assets have not yet transitioned to Brunel) on the basis that 

voting power will be exercised with the objective of preserving and enhancing long-term 

shareholder value.  

As part of owning publicly listed companies Brunel, on behalf of its clients, will have the 

opportunity to vote at company meetings (AGM/ EGMs). Brunel aims to vote 100% of all 

available votes. To provide guidance to its managers, Brunel has a single voting policy for all 

assets managed by Brunel in segregated accounts. Hermes EOS has been appointed to 

support Brunel as its engagement and voting service provider. Brunel will publish its voting 

policy and provide online voting records at least annually. The Fund will publish the voting 

carried out on its behalf on its website.  

Investment managers have produced written guidelines of their process and practice in this 

regard. They are encouraged to vote in line with their guidelines, in respect of all 

resolutions, at annual and extraordinary general meetings of companies. Investment 

managers are expected to report on their voting activity on a regular basis.  

Page 46



15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix – Investment Beliefs 

The Committee believes that 

• It is important that funding related aspects and, in particular, funding level and cash 

flow profile feed into investment strategy decisions. Given this, actuarial and 

investment matters are looked at in tandem by the Committee, most notably when 

setting the investment strategy. 

• The Committee targets a strong funding level to provide some buffer to the risk of 

future employer contribution increases. This and knowledge of the future cash flow 

profile of the Fund enables the Committee to adopt a long-term investment horizon. 

This enables the Fund to accept short term volatility in investment returns or the 

illiquidity of some assets, in order to achieve higher investment returns. In this 

context, the Committee believes that, over the longer term, equities are expected to 

outperform other liquid assets, in particular, government bonds. The Committee is 

therefore comfortable that the Fund maintains a significant allocation to equities in 

order to support the affordability of contributions. 

• Strategic asset allocation is a key determinant of investment risk and return, and 

thus is typically more important than manager or stock selection which going 

forward will be delegated to the LGPS pool to which the Fund is a member. In 

addition, the Committee believes that periodic rebalancing of asset class weightings 

back to their strategic benchmark can add value over the long term. 

• Risk can be mitigated through the diversification of the portfolio, by selecting a 

variety of both asset classes and managers. A balance needs to be struck between 

the need for diversification and keeping a small enough number of mandates to 

ensure good governance. 

• Markets are dynamic and are not always efficient, and therefore offer opportunities 

for investors. Active management can add value over time but it is not guaranteed 

and can be hard to access. Where generating ‘alpha’ is particularly difficult, passive 

management may be preferred, but brings some of its own risks. In all cases, 

managers will be judged on net returns calculated after fees. It is one of the roles of 

the Investment Committee to monitor investment costs and challenge where 

necessary. 

• A strong ESG / RI policy is required by regulation and should be seen within the 

context of the Fund’s long-term investment and futureproofing its financial security. 

ESG considerations can help identify superior long-term investments and the 

Committee requires its managers to include them as an integral part of their 

Page 47



16 

 

 

 

 

 

investment processes, provided these considerations do not detrimentally impact 

financial returns or risk. The Fund requires managers to report back on them on all 

ESG matters.  

• The Committee believe that controlling climate change will impact all investment 

decisions going forward and, therefore, require their investment managers to adopt 

a policy of engaging with investee companies to improve their behaviour in all areas 

but particularly regarding climate change, The committee believes that engagement 

with investee companies rather than exclusion, is the best approach to achieve 

material change and is more compatible with their fiduciary duty and more 

supportive of their long-term investment goals. However, where investee companies 

are not taking sufficient action or are not prepared to engage in good faith on these 

issues, we believe this is likely to impact future returns and expect our managers to 

act accordingly. 

• Effective governance and decision-making structures that promote decisiveness, 

efficiency and accountability add value to the Fund. The Committee believes in 

appointing good investment managers with which to work in partnership, delegates 

authority to them, and monitors their performance (on financial and other metrics) 

regularly. The Committee also believes that taking independent advice, notably in 

investment and actuarial matters, can strengthen governance, and add value to the 

Fund. 

 

November 2021 

 

Page 48



 

Gloucestershire Pension

Voting Report, Q3 2021

EOS at Federated Hermes

Over the last quarter we made voting recommendations at 116 meetings (1,228 resolutions). At 41 meetings we recommended opposing one or
more resolutions. We recommended voting with management by exception at six meetings and abstaining at one meeting. We supported
management on all resolutions at the remaining 68 meetings.

Global

We made voting recommendations at 116 meetings
(1,228 resolutions) over the last quarter.

Developed Asia

We made voting recommendations at six meetings (34
resolutions) over the last quarter.

Emerging and Frontier Markets

We made voting recommendations at 59 meetings
(423 resolutions) over the last quarter.

Europe

We made voting recommendations at seven meetings (99
resolutions) over the last quarter.

North America

We made voting recommendations at two meetings (17
resolutions) over the last quarter.

United Kingdom

We made voting recommendations at 42 meetings
(655 resolutions) over the last quarter.

     Total meetings in favour 58.6%

     Meetings against (or against AND abstain) 35.3%

     Meetings abstained 0.9%

     Meetings with management by exception 5 .2%

     Total meetings in favour 33.3%

     Meetings against (or against AND abstain) 66.7%

     Total meetings in favour 71.2%

     Meetings against (or against AND abstain) 28.8%

     Total meetings in favour 28.6%

     Meetings against (or against AND abstain) 71.4%

     Total meetings in favour 50%

     Meetings against (or against AND abstain) 50%

     Total meetings in favour 50%

     Meetings against (or against AND abstain) 33.3%

     Meetings abstained 2.4%

     Meetings with management by exception 14.3%

For professional investors only www.hermes‐investment.com

I I 11111111111111 I I 

BRUNEL 
Pension Partnership 

Page 49



The issues on which we recommended voting against management or abstaining on resolutions are shown below.

Global

We recommended voting against or abstaining on 1 4 4
resolutions over the last quarter.

Developed Asia

We recommended voting against or abstaining on t e n
resolutions over the last quarter.

Emerging and Frontier Markets

We recommended voting against or abstaining on 8 3
resolutions over the last quarter.

Europe

We recommended voting against or abstaining on 1 3
resolutions over the last quarter.

North America

We recommended voting against or abstaining on fou r
resolutions over the last quarter.

United Kingdom

We recommended voting against or abstaining on 3 4
resolutions over the last quarter.

     Board structure 35.4%

     Remuneration 28.5%

     Shareholder resolution 0.7%

     Capital structure and dividends 20.8%

     Amend articles 9.0%

     Audit and accounts 2.1%

     Investment/M&A 1.4%

     Other 2.1%

     Board structure 90%

     Amend articles 10%

     Board structure 34.9%

     Remuneration 15.7%

     Capital structure and dividends 31.3%

     Amend articles 13.3%

     Audit and accounts 1 .2%

     Investment/M&A 2.4%

     Other 1 .2%

     Board structure 53.8%

     Remuneration 23.1%

     Audit and accounts 15.4%

     Other 7.7%

     Board structure 50%

     Remuneration 2 5%

     Shareholder resolution 2 5%

     Board structure 11.8%

     Remuneration 70.6%

     Capital structure and dividends 11.8%

     Amend articles 2 .9%

     Other 2 .9%

2021Q3VFS

For professional investors only www.hermes‐investment.com

Voting Report Gloucestershire Pension

Page 50



 

Gloucestershire Pension

Engagement Report, Q3 2021

EOS at Federated Hermes

Engagement by region
Over the last quarter we engaged with 194 companies held in the Gloucestershire Pension portfolios on a range of 602 environmental, social
and governance issues and objectives.

Global

We engaged with 194 companies over the last quarter.

Australia & New Zealand

We engaged with four companies over the last quarter.

Developed Asia

We engaged with 26 companies over the last quarter.

Emerging & Developing Markets

We engaged with 17 companies over the last quarter.

Europe

We engaged with 41 companies over the last quarter.

North America

We engaged with 71 companies over the last quarter.

United Kingdom

We engaged with 35 companies over the last quarter.

     Environmental 32.6%

     Social and Ethical 22 .3%

     Governance 28.6%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 16.6%

     Environmental 41.7%

     Governance 33.3%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 25.0%

     Environmental 34.8%

     Social and Ethical 28.8%

     Governance 25.8%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 10.6%

     Environmental 28.6%

     Social and Ethical 8.2%

     Governance 38.8%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 24.5%

     Environmental 31.8%

     Social and Ethical 20.9%

     Governance 27.9%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 19.4%

     Environmental 32.8%

     Social and Ethical 25.8%

     Governance 25.0%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 16.4%

     Environmental 32.2%

     Social and Ethical 20.0%

     Governance 35.6%

     Strategy, Risk and Communication 12.2%

For professional investors only www.hermes‐investment.com

I I 11111111111111 I I 

BRUNEL 
Pension Partnership 

Page 51



Engagement by theme
Over the last quarter we engaged with 194 companies held in the Gloucestershire Pension portfolios on a range of 602 environmental, social
and governance issues and objectives.

Environmental

Environmental topics featured in 32 . 6% of our
engagements over the last quarter.

Social and Ethical

Social and Ethical topics featured in 22 .3% of our
engagements over the last quarter.

Governance

Governance topics featured in 28 .6% of our
engagements over the last quarter.

Strategy, Risk and Communication

Strategy, Risk and Communication topics featured in
1 6 . 6% of our engagements over the last quarter.

     Climate Change 79.1%

     Forestry and Land Use 6.6%

     Pollution and Waste Management 9.2%

     Supply Chain Management 1 .5%

     Water 3.6%

     Bribery and Corruption 0.7%

     Conduct and Culture 9.0%

     Diversity 26.1%

     Human Capital Management 16.4%

     Human Rights 43.3%

     Labour Rights 4.5%

     Board Diversity, Skills and Experience 21.5%

     Board Independence 11.6%

     Executive Remuneration 50.6%

     Shareholder Protection and Rights 11.6%

     Succession Planning 4.7%

     Audit and Accounting 7.0%

     Business Strategy 37.0%

     Cyber Security 8.0%

     Integrated Reporting and Other Disclosure 25.0%

     Risk Management 23.0%

2021Q3EFS

For professional investors only www.hermes‐investment.com

Engagement Report Gloucestershire Pension

Page 52



1 

 

Pension Administration Summary Performance  

 

Table 1 – Summary Performance 

 

Service Target 2018/19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Actual 

2020/21 
Actual 

2021/22 to 
30/09/2021 

(previous quarter) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 96% 98% 90% 74% (79%) 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 69% 61% 80% 58% (58%) 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 98% 99% 93% 69% (73%) 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 82% 67% 70% 54% (39%) 

Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the 
statutory deadline 

100% 100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see note 1 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 98% 99% 97% 96% (100%) 

 

 

Table 2 – 2021/22 Performance to 30 September 2021 

Service Standards 
– Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 
(previous 
quarter) 

No. 
processed 
on time 
(previous 
quarter) 

Actual 
achievement 
(previous quarter) 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 
 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 401 (201) 297 (158) 74% (79%) 13 (13) not available 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 461 (206) 268 (119) 58% (58%) 13 (14) 19 (20) 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 222 (98) 154 (72) 69% (73%) 13 (12) 19 (19) 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 26 (18) 14 (7) 54% (39%) 9 (10) 12 (12) 

2020/21 Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,265 34,265 100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 81 (40) 78 (40) 96% (100%) 6 (5) 32 (n/a) 

Page 53



2 

2020/21 Performance (full year) 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 534 482 90% 9 not available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 872 701 80% 12 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 424 395 93% 10 20 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 89 62 70% 10 17 

2019/20 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,434 see 
note 1 

34,434 see 
note 1 

100% see note 
1 

N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 136 132 97% 6 22 

 

2019/20 Performance (full year) 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 739 724 98% 8 not available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 983 603 61% 13 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 649 641 99% 7 23 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 76 51 67% 7 10 

2018/19 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,167 see 
note 1 

34,167 see 
note 1 

100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 194 192 99% 4 16 

Page 54



3 

 

2018/19 Performance (full year) 

 

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement 

No. Processed No. 
processed on 
time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 

Estimates to employees (15 
days) 

90% 615 587 96% 7 

Retirements and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 858 592 69% 13 

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 620 609 98% 7 

Death Grants Paid (8 days) 90% 79 65 82% 7 

2017/18 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within the 
statutory deadline 

100% 32,817 see 
note 1 

32,817 see 
note 1 

100% see note 
1 

N/A 

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days) 

90% 147 144 98 5 

 

 

 

Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were 

received by the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the 

member records held within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% 

of the Annual Benefit Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory 

deadline. 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Business Plan 2021/22 

 
The following is an update on the Key Tasks/Work Plan which formed part of the agreed 

business plan for 2021/22.  

Comments on each topic are contained within the table. For the amber items, this 

represents that these activities are yet to commence, but these activities are scheduled to 

take place over multiple quarters: 

 

Governance 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of Risk Register ✓ - 

completed 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ 

Approval of External Audit Plan ✓ - 

completed 

   

Implement outcomes of the Funds 

Governance Review 

 ✓ - launched 

and ongoing 

✓ - launched 

and ongoing 

✓ 

Review and approve Business Plan    ✓ 

Annual review against The Pensions 

Regulators Code of Practise 

   ✓ 

Approval of audited Fund accounts  ✓ - on agenda   

Approval of Annual Report  ✓ - on agenda   

Review Policy Statements  ✓ ✓ - launched 

and ongoing 

✓ 

Training Needs Analysis ✓ - 

completed 

   

 

Funding 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of ongoing funding position ✓ - 

completed 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ 

Cash flow modelling   ✓ - 

launched and 

ongoing 

 

 

Page 57



 

Investment Management 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Monitor Fund performance ✓ - 

completed 

✓ - completed ✓ - 

completed 

✓ 

Responsible Investment Reporting ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Asset transitions to Brunel Portfolios ✓ - 

completed 

   

Review the inflation exposure on the 

Fund and implemented agreed 

recommendations 

✓ ✓ - 

commenced 

✓ - ongoing  

Review the Funds Investment Strategy 

Statement 

   ✓ 

Procure consultancy support in 

preparation for the next full strategic 

review in 2022/23 

   ✓ 

Review the Funds Responsible 

Investment Policy 

  ✓ ✓ 

Review the recommendations of the 

Taskforce for Climate-related Financial 

Disclosure (TCFD) and requirements for 

UK Stewardship code signatory status 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

Administration 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Issue Annual Benefit Statements to 

active and deferred members 

 ✓ - completed   

P60’s distributed to pensioner members ✓ - 

completed 

   

Recruitment of agreed additional 

resources 

✓ - ongoing ✓ - ongoing ✓ - ongoing ✓ 

Annual pension in payment and CARE 

accrual increase exercise 

✓ - pension in 

payment 

completed, 

Care accrual 

ongoing 

   

Page 58



Annual submission of HMRC Event 

report 

   ✓ 

Issue notices to employees for breaches 

of HMRC Annual Allowance limits 

  ✓ - 

completed 

 

Provision of data to actuary to produce 

financial accounting required for 

employer accounts 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ - 

completed 

 

Reconciliation of membership data for 

all employers 

✓ - ongoing ✓ - ongoing  ✓ 

Review and correct data errors  ✓ - 

commenced 

✓ - ongoing  

Process and reconcile membership pay 

and contribution data for year end 

✓ - ongoing ✓ - completed   

Data quality assessment for the 

Pensions Regulator 

 ✓ - 

commenced 

  

Possible implementation of McCloud 

judgement  

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Possible implementation of revised 95k 

cap regulations 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



   
  

Gloucestershire Pension Fund   

Governance Review – Work Plan  
This action plan builds on the recommendations set out in our Governance Review report dated 9 June 2021. This is designed to be a high-level action plan setting 

out the key actions and we have added timescales to assist the Fund in monitoring progress of these actions on an ongoing basis.   

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Review of PC Constitution - produce 

report to take to  
September 2021 PC meeting with 
proposal   

Consider whether the Committee could have further  
representation from other employers and scheme members in the  
Fund. Also need to consider voting rights of these representatives.   

Completed  ✓ - agreed proposals 
to be taken to 
Constitution in January 
2022 

Review of duties of the PC  The majority of the duties of the PC are investment focused.  
Consider including a number of non-investment duties as well.  

Action is ultimately to update the PC Terms of Reference  

Completed  ✓ - agreed proposals 
to be taken to 
Constitution in January 
2022  

Develop a Fund Conflict of  
Interest Policy  

No policy currently in place.  

Fund currently relies on the Council's Conflicts of Interest Policy  

Completed  ✓ - agreed by 
Committee in 
September 2022 

Develop a Fund Risk  
Management Policy  

No policy currently in place.  

Develop a policy to provide a clearer risk management framework 
(incorporating existing risk register)  

In advance of 
December  
2021 PC meeting  

✓ - on the meetings 
agenda 

Review the Fund's Breaches log  Ensure breaches log covers all expected areas, and ensure this is 
populated and taken to PC and PB for information.  

In advance of 
December  
2021 PC meeting  

✓ - on the meetings 
agenda 

Review the Fund's Breaches of  
Law Procedure  

We understand that this was last reviewed in 2016.  In advance of 
December  
2021 PC meeting  

✓ - on the meetings 
agenda 

  

P
age 61



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  2  
  

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Update the Administering  
Authority's Discretionary Policy  

Current policy dates back to September 1999  

Due to the age of the current policy this is effectively going to be a 
brand-new policy given that so much has changed since the current 
policy was written.  

Q3 2021/22  ✓ - on the meetings 
agenda 

Update the Fund's Governance  
Compliance Statement and  
Policy  

The current Compliance Statement is dated July 2017. We would 

anticipate this document being reviewed in conjunction with the 

Governance Policy statement which was last reviewed in February 

2020.  

We understand that an updated Compliance Statement has been 
drafted so we assume that our input would be to review the draft 
updated policy  

Q3 - Q4 2021/22   Will be undertaken in Q4 
2021/22 

Review of Scheme of Delegation  Review Council’s Scheme of Delegation to ensure that pension fund 

matters are covered.  

Consider this in conjunction with recommendation from SAB Good 
Governance review regarding LGPS senior officer.  

Q3 - Q4 2021/22  Will be undertaken in Q4 
2021/22 

Review the Fund's  
Communications Policy  

We understand that a review was due to be undertaken in  
2019/20 but this did not take place  

Q4 2021/22 – Q1 
2022/23  

 

Review the Fund's  
Administration Strategy  

Last reviewed in 2017  Q4 2021/22 – Q1 
2022/23  

 

Review the Fund's Investment  
Strategy Statement  

Our report suggested some potential enhancements to the current 
policy in relation to Responsible Investment.  

As per Fund's 
business plan  

 

P
age 62



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  3  
  

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Develop a Fund Business  
Continuity Policy / Plan  

Expected to be included in TPR New Code.   

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's approach 
to Business Continuity.  

Q2 2021/22 – Q1 
2022/23  

 

Develop a Fund Cyber Strategy  Expected to be included in TPR New Code.   

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's approach 
to Cyber Security.  

Q4 2021/22 – Q1 
2022/23  

 

Carrying out a review of Fund's 

practices against TPR's New  
Code of Practice    

As part of best practice, we would expect the Administering Authority 
to carry out a regular review of their practices against the New Code.  

Q1 2022/23   

Develop a Fund Data  
Improvement Policy  

We understand that the Fund do the common / scheme specific 
scoring through Aquila Heywood but currently no formal data 
improvement policy or plan is in place. We recommend that having a 
Data Improvement Policy is best practice.  

To be included in 
2022/23 business 
plan  

 

Develop a Fund Data  
Improvement Plan  

  To be included in 
2022/23 business 
plan  

 

Implementation of new Training  
Strategy  

A Training Strategy was put in place in April 2021. Ensure successful 

implementation of this Strategy and the associated training plans.  

As part of this we would recommend that a training needs analysis is 
carried out to identify any gaps.  

Ongoing  ✓ - training needs 
analysis undertaken and 
training plan established 
and agreed by 
Committee in September 
2021.  
 
 

P
age 63



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  4  
  

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Development of Fund's own 

identity separate from the  
Council  

This could include the Fund having different branding to the Council.  

Creation of a separate Fund website or more distinctly separate section 
within the Council's website.  

Ongoing   

Ensuring all of the Fund's policies 
and procedures are easy to access 
from Fund's website / section of 
Council's website  

Currently not all of the Fund's policies and procedures are easy to find 
on the Fund's section of the Council's website  

Ongoing   

Increase the number of Pension  
Board meetings each year  

We don't think that the current approach of having two meetings a year 

is sufficient.  

We note that in the March 2021 meeting it was proposed that the PB 
moves to quarterly meetings.  

Completed   

  

  

  

P
age 64



 

Agenda Item 6 

 

Pension Board 
19 January 2022 

 

Risk Management Policy and Risk Register 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 

Background 
 
The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 added provisions to the Pensions Act 2004 related to 
the requirement to have internal controls in public service pension schemes. CIPFA 
published technical guidance on managing risk in the LGPS. The publication explores how 
risk manifests itself across the broad spectrum of activity that constitutes LGPS financial 
management and administration, and how, by using established risk management 
techniques, those risks can be identified, analysed and managed effectively. 
 
The publication also considered how to approach risk in the LGPS in the context of the role 
of the administering authority as part of a wider local authority and how the approach to 
risk might be communicated to other stakeholders. 
 
The publication also considers how to approach risk in the LGPS in the context of the role of 
the administering authority as part of a wider local authority and how the approach to risk 
might be communicated to other stakeholders. 
   
The Pensions Regulator, under the Pensions Act 2004 was required to issue a code of 
practice relating to internal controls.  The Pensions Regulator has issued such a code in 
which he encourages scheme managers (i.e. administering authorities) to employ a risk 
based approach to assess the adequacy of their internal controls and to ensure that 
sufficient time and attention is spent on identifying, evaluating and managing risks and 
developing and monitoring appropriate controls.  
 
The Pensions Regulator’s code of practice guidance on internal controls requires scheme 
managers to carry out a risk assessment and produce a risk register which should be 
reviewed regularly.  The risk assessment should begin by: 
 

• setting the objectives of the scheme 

• determining the various functions and activities carried out in the running of 
the scheme, and 

• identifying the main risks associated with those objectives, functions and 
activities. 

 
Schemes should then consider the likelihood of risks arising and the effect if they do arise as 
well as what internal controls are appropriate to mitigate the main risks they have identified 
and how best to monitor them. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



 

Agenda Item 6 

 

 
The code states that risk assessment is a continual process and should take account of a 
changing environment and new and emerging risks, including significant changes in or 
affecting the scheme and employers who participate in the scheme.  The code also states 
that an effective risk assessment process will provide a mechanism to detect weaknesses at 
an early stage and that schemes should periodically review the adequacy of internal controls 
in: 
 

• mitigating risks 

• supporting longer-term strategic aims, for example relating to investments 

• identifying success (or otherwise) in achieving agreed objectives, and 

• providing a framework against which compliance with the scheme regulations and 
legislation can be monitored. 

 
Governance Review 
 
The Governance Review, undertaken by AON identified that the Fund did not have an 
explicit Risk Management Policy in place. Although the Investment Strategy Statement and 
the Funding Strategy Statement both have sections relating to risk management, these 
focus on specific risks relating to investment and funding respectively. It was recommended 
that the Fund produced a risk management policy that clearly sets out the risk philosophy of 
the Fund and the process for monitoring and managing the risks in the Fund. The policy 
should adopt the principles contained in CIPFA's Managing Risk in the LGPS document and 
the Pension Regulator’s code of practice in relation to the Fund. The recommendation for 
the production of a risk management policy was agreed by Committee and incorporated 
into the work plan.  
 
Risk Management Policy 
 
The Risk Management Policy of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, approved by Pensions 
Committee on 3 December 2021, is attached as appendix 1 to this report. 
 
The Policy details the risk management strategy for the Fund, including: 
 

• the risk philosophy for the management of the Fund, and in particular attitudes to, 
and appetite for, risk 

• how risk management is implemented 

• risk management responsibilities 

• the procedures that are adopted in the risk management process. 
 
The policy recognises that effective risk management is an essential element of good 
governance in the Local Government Pension Scheme ("the LGPS”). By identifying and 
managing risks through an effective policy and risk management strategy, the Fund can: 
 

• demonstrate best practice in governance 

• ensure high quality administration 

• improve financial management 

Page 66



 

Agenda Item 6 

 

• minimise the risk and effect of adverse conditions 

• identify and maximise opportunities that might arise 

• minimise threats. 
 
The policy adopts best practice risk management, which supports a structured and focused 
approach to managing risks and ensures that risk management is an integral part in the 
governance of the Fund at a strategic and operational level. 
 
The policy covers in detail the following key aspects of the Fund: 
 

• our aims and objectives 

• philosophy on risk management 

• risk management process 
o risk identification 
o risk analysis 
o assessment of risk 
o risk control 
o risk monitoring 

 
Reporting 
 
Progress in managing risks will be monitored and recorded on a risk register and key 
information is provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and the Pension 
Board as part of the regular update reports on governance, investments and funding, and 
administration and communications.  The reporting information will include as a minimum: 
 

o a summarised version of the risk register   
o a summary of the main changes since the previous report 
o the Fund’s risk dashboard showing the score of all existing risks and any changes as 

part of that dashboard. 
 
As part of the implementation a revised risk register will be created that is based on the risk 
management process of the risk management policy. An example of the new risk register is 
attached as appendix 2.  

The existing risk register, attached as appendix 3 this report was reviewed on 15 November 
and the following changes have been agreed by Committee at its last meeting in December 
2021. 

Highlighted Risks 

o G7 
o The Pension Board at its meeting in October 2021 has proposed that this risk 

should be increased until the successful deployment of the training 
strategy/plan has been delivered and the assessment of knowledge repeated. 
This would also align the risk to that of G5. 

o F9 & G8 
o These risks have now been removed, as all transitions, in accordance with the 

Page 67



 

Agenda Item 6 

 

transition plan, to the Brunel Portfolios has now been completed and 
reviewed. 

o F6 
o The risk remains at an elevate level at this time. This risk will be reviewed once 

the inflation and interest rate risk exposure of the Fund has been reviewed, 
as part of the ongoing work plan. 

 
o A/R 1.1, A/R 1.2 & G5 

o These remain at a medium residual risk as the recruitment plan for the agreed 
team resources is still ongoing. Risk G5 will remain elevated at this time until 
the delivery of the training plan has commenced and its impact evaluated 
after delivery. 

In addition to the above updated narrative being shown in red on risks F5, F7, A/R4, A/R6, & 
G7 on the attached current risk register. 
 
Review 
 
The Risk Management Policy will be formally reviewed and updated at least every three 
years or sooner if the risk management arrangements or other matters included within it 
merit reconsideration including if there are any changes to the LGPS or other relevant 
Regulations or Guidance which need to be taken into account.  
 
Recommendation 

That the Board notes the approved Risk Management Policy and the changes to the risk 
register, as outlined in this report.  
 
Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 68



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Risk Management Policy 

v1.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Version Control 
 

Document owner Head of Pensions 

Version Number 1.1 

Date 3 December 2021 

Committee approval 3 December 2021 

Next review due December 2024 

Page 69



2 
 

Contents 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

Who does this Policy apply to? ............................................................................................................... 3 

Aims and Objectives ................................................................................................................................ 3 

Philosophy on Risk Management ............................................................................................................ 4 

Legislative and related context ............................................................................................................... 4 

Responsibility .......................................................................................................................................... 6 

The Fund’s Risk Management Process .................................................................................................... 6 

Reporting ................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Monitoring of this Policy ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Costs ...................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Approval, Review and Consultation ...................................................................................................... 10 

Further Information .............................................................................................................................. 10 

Appendix 1 – Criteria for assessing likelihood and impact ................................................................... 11 

 

Introduction 
 
This is the Risk Management Policy of the Fund, which is managed and administered by 

Gloucestershire County Council ("the Administering Authority”). The Policy details the risk 

management strategy for the Fund, including: 

• the risk philosophy for the management of the Fund, and in particular attitudes to, and 
appetite for, risk 

• how risk management is implemented 

• risk management responsibilities 

• the procedures that are adopted in the risk management process. 
 

There are varying definitions of risk and as individuals, we will all perceive risk differently. The 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”) defines risk as: 

• the effect of uncertainty on the Funds aims and objectives 
 

Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering Authority for the Fund, recognise that effective risk 

management is an essential element of good governance in the Local Government Pension Scheme 

("the LGPS”). By identifying and managing risks through an effective policy and risk management 

strategy, the Fund can: 

• demonstrate best practice in governance 

• ensure high quality administration 

• improve financial management 

• minimise the risk and effect of adverse conditions 

• identify and maximise opportunities that might arise 

• minimise threats. 
 

Page 70



3 
 

The Fund adopts best practice risk management, which supports a structured and focused approach 

to managing risks and ensures that risk management is an integral part in the governance of the Fund 

at a strategic and operational level. 

 

Who does this Policy apply to?  
 
This Risk Management Policy applies to all members of the Pension Committee and the Pension Board, 

including scheme member and employer representatives.  It also applies to all officers involved in 

managing the Fund including the Head of Pensions and the Section 151 officer (from hereon in 

collectively referred to as the senior officers of the Fund).   

Other officers involved in the daily management of the Fund are also integral to managing risk for the 

Fund and will be required to have appropriate understanding of risk management relating to their 

roles, which will be determined and managed by the Head of Pensions and their team.  

Advisers to the Fund are also expected to be aware of this Policy, and assist senior officers, Committee 

and Board members as required, in meeting the objectives of this Policy.   

Aims and Objectives  
 
The Fund’s key governance objectives are to: 

• Act in the best interests of the Fund’s members and employers 

• Strive to ensure compliance with the appropriate legislation and statutory guidance, and to 
act in the spirit of other relevant guidelines and best practice guidance  

• Act with integrity and be accountable to the Fund’s stakeholders for the Fund’s decisions, 
ensuring they are robust and well based  

• Have robust governance arrangements in place to facilitate informed decision making, 
supported by appropriate advice, policies and strategies 

 

In relation to risk management, the Fund will aim to: 

• integrate risk management into the culture and day-to-day activities of the Fund  

• raise awareness of the need for risk management by all those connected with the delivery of 
services (including advisers to the Fund, employers and all other partners involved in the 
delivery of services) 

• anticipate and respond positively to change 

• minimise the probability of negative outcomes for the Fund and its stakeholders 

• establish and maintain a robust framework and procedures for identification, analysis, 
assessment and management of risk, and the reporting and recording of events, based on best 
practice  

• ensure consistent application of the risk management methodology across all Fund activities, 
including projects and partnerships 

• minimise the cost of risk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



4 
 

Philosophy on Risk Management  
 
The Fund recognises that it is not possible or even desirable, to eliminate all risks.  Accepting and 

actively managing risk is therefore a key part of the risk management strategy for the Fund.  A key 

determinant in selecting the action to be taken in relation to any risk will be its potential impact on 

the Fund’s objectives in the light of the Fund’s risk appetite, particularly in relation to investment 

matters. Equally important is striking a balance between the cost of risk control actions against the 

possible effect of the risk occurring. 

In managing risk, the Fund will: 

• ensure that there is a proper balance between risk taking and the opportunities to be gained 

• adopt a system that will enable the Fund to anticipate and respond positively to change 

• minimise loss and damage to the Fund and to other stakeholders who are dependent on the 
benefits and services provided 

• make sure that when embarking upon new areas of activity (new investment strategies, 
joint-working, framework agreements etc.), the risks they present are fully understood and 
considered in making decisions. 
 

The Fund also recognises that risk management is not an end in itself; nor will it remove risk from 

the Fund or the Administering Authority. However, it is a sound management technique that is an 

essential part of how the Fund is managed. The benefits of a sound risk management approach 

include better decision-making, improved performance and delivery of services, more effective use 

of resources and the protection of reputation. 

 

Legislative and related context  
 
The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 added the following provision to the Pensions Act 2004 related 

to the requirement to have internal controls in public service pension schemes.   

 

“249B Requirement for internal controls: public service pension schemes 

(1) The scheme manager of a public service pension scheme must establish and operate 

internal controls which are adequate for the purpose of securing that the scheme is 

administered and managed— 

(a) in accordance with the scheme rules, and 

(b) in accordance with the requirements of the law. 

(2) Nothing in this section affects any other obligations of the scheme manager to establish 

or operate internal controls, whether imposed by or by virtue of any enactment, the scheme 

rules or otherwise.  

(3) In this section, “enactment” and “internal controls” have the same meanings as in section 

249A.” 

 

 

 

Page 72



5 
 

CIPFA Managing Risk Publication 

CIPFA has published technical guidance on managing risk in the LGPS. The publication explores how 

risk manifests itself across the broad spectrum of activity that constitutes LGPS financial 

management and administration, and how, by using established risk management techniques, those 

risks can be identified, analysed and managed effectively. 

 

The publication also considers how to approach risk in the LGPS in the context of the role of the 

administering authority as part of a wider local authority and how the approach to risk might be 

communicated to other stakeholders. 

 

CIPFA Investment Pooling Governance Principles for LGPS Administering Authorities 

CIPFA has also published guidance on investment pooling and the number of different risks this 

introduces for LGPS administering authorities.  It also highlights how investment pooling potentially 

changes the magnitude of existing risks and how administering authorities might respond to them 

through appropriate internal controls. 

 

The Pension Regulator's Code of Practice 

Section 90A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires the Pensions Regulator to issue a code of practice 

relating to internal controls.  The Pensions Regulator has issued such a code in which he encourages 

scheme managers (i.e. administering authorities) to employ a risk based approach to assess the 

adequacy of their internal controls and to ensure that sufficient time and attention is spent on 

identifying, evaluating and managing risks and developing and monitoring appropriate controls.  

The Pensions Regulator’s code of practice guidance on internal controls requires scheme managers 

to carry out a risk assessment and produce a risk register which should be reviewed regularly.  The 

risk assessment should begin by: 

• setting the objectives of the scheme 

• determining the various functions and activities carried out in the running of the scheme, 
and 

• identifying the main risks associated with those objectives, functions and activities. 
 

Schemes should then consider the likelihood of risks arising and the effect if they do arise as well as 

what internal controls are appropriate to mitigate the main risks they have identified and how best 

to monitor them. 

The code states that risk assessment is a continual process and should take account of a changing 

environment and new and emerging risks, including significant changes in or affecting the scheme 

and employers who participate in the scheme.  The code also states that an effective risk assessment 

process will provide a mechanism to detect weaknesses at an early stage and that schemes should 

periodically review the adequacy of internal controls in: 

• mitigating risks 

• supporting longer-term strategic aims, for example relating to investments 

• identifying success (or otherwise) in achieving agreed objectives, and 

• providing a framework against which compliance with the scheme regulations and 
legislation can be monitored. 

 

Page 73



6 
 

Under section 13 of the Pensions Act 2004, the Pensions Regulator can issue an improvement notice 

(i.e. a notice requiring steps to be taken to rectify a situation) where it is considered that the 

requirements relating to internal controls are not being adhered to. 

Application to the Fund  

The Fund adopts the principles contained in CIPFA's Managing Risk in the LGPS document and the 

Pension Regulator’s code of practice in relation to the Fund, and this Risk Management Policy 

highlights how the Fund will strive to achieve those principles through use of risk management 

processes incorporating regular monitoring and reporting. 

 

The Pension Regulators Code of Practice for Public Service Pension Schemes is expected to be 

replaced by a new Single Modular Code in 2022 (where the Pensions Regulator is merging their 

codes into one interactive code). It is expected to include updated guidance on risk management 

and internal controls.  The Fund will follow that updated code and this Policy will be updated in due 

course to reflect the Regulator’s code.  

Responsibility  
 
Gloucestershire County Council as the Administering Authority for the Fund must be satisfied that 

risks are appropriately managed. For this purpose, the Head of Pensions is the designated individual 

for ensuring the processes outlined in this Policy are carried out subject to oversight of the Pension 

Committee.  

The Fund’s Risk Management Process  
 
The Fund’s risk management process is in line with that recommended by CIPFA and is a continuous 

approach which systematically looks at risks surrounding the Fund’s past, present and future activities.  

The main processes involved in risk management are identified in the figure below and detailed in the 

following sections. 

 

Risk identification 

The Fund’s risk identification process is both a proactive and reactive one, looking forward i.e. horizon 

scanning for potential risks and looking back, by learning lessons from reviewing how existing controls 

have manifested in risks to the organisation. Risks are identified by a number of means including, but 

not limited to: 

 

Risk 

Analysis

Risk 

Control 

Risk 
Monitoring

Risk 
Identification

Page 74



7 
 

• formal risk assessment exercises 

• performance measurement exercises 

• monitoring against the Fund's business plan 

• findings of internal and external audit and other adviser reports 

• feedback from the Pension Board, employers and other stakeholders 

• informal meetings of senior officers or other staff involved in the management of the Pension 
Fund with and without the Fund's advisers 

• liaison with other organisations, regional and national associations, professional groups, etc 

• legal determinations including those of the Pensions Ombudsman, the Pensions Regulator and 
court cases 

• business planning or strategic workshops  

• business or service continuity plans developed by the Fund.  
 

Once identified, risks will be documented on the Fund's risk register, which is the primary control 

document for the subsequent analysis, control and monitoring of those risks.  

New risks can emerge at any time and risk identification should include allocation of sufficient time 

and resource identifying these and should therefore be integral to the day to day management of the 

Fund. 

Risk analysis 

Once potential risks have been identified, the next stage of the process is to analyse and profile each 

risk. Risks will be assessed against the following where the score for likelihood (from one to five) will 

be multiplied by the score for impact (from one to five) to determine the current risk category, as set 

out below:  

 

Risk Score Range Risk Category  

1 to 6 Low 

7 to 12 Medium 

13 to 25 High  

 

Assessment of risk 

Im
p

ac
t 

(c
o

n
se

q
u

en
ce

s)
 1 Insignificant Low Low Low Low Low 

2 Minor Medium Medium Low Low Low 

3 Moderate High Medium Medium Low Low 

4 Major High High Medium Medium Low 

5 Critical High High High Medium Low 

  
  

  
  

5 Almost 
certain 

4 Highly 
likely 

3 Probable 2 Possible 1 Rare 

> 90% 76% - 90% 41% - 75% 10% - 40% < 10% 

    Likelihood (probability) of risk happening 

 

Page 75



8 
 

Criteria for assessing likelihood and impact are included at Appendix 1 to help promote consistent risk 

evaluation across Fund matters.  

The resulting scores are then interpreted as follows:  

Level of risk Level of concern Action required 

Red 
Very concerned, major 
consequences and high 
likelihood of happening 

Unacceptable level of risk exposure which 
requires immediate, corrective action to be 
taken. Regular monitoring required, at least 
monthly 

Amber 
Concerned, moderate 
consequences and possible 
occurrence 

Acceptable level of risk exposure subject to 
regular active monitoring measures, at least 
quarterly. 

Green 
Content, insignificant 
consequences 

Acceptable level of risk exposure subject to 
regular active monitoring measures, at least 
annually 

 

Risk control 

The risk register also shows the target risk score for each of the risks shown.  This helps the Fund 

determine whether any further action is required to control the risk which in turn may reduce the 

likelihood of a risk event occurring or reducing the severity of the consequences should it occur.  Risk 

control actions, often referred to as internal controls, could comprise taking steps to avoid, transfer 

and/or mitigate risk.  Before any such action can proceed, it may require Pension Committee approval 

where appropriate officer delegations are not in place.  The result of any change to the internal 

controls could result in any of the following: 

  

• Risk elimination – for example, ceasing an activity or course of action that would give rise to the 
risk. 

• Risk reduction – for example, choosing a course of action that has a lower probability of risk or 
putting in place procedures to manage risk when it arises. 

• Risk transfer – for example, transferring the risk to another party either by insurance or through 
a contractual arrangement. 
 

A key determinant in selecting the action to be taken will be its potential impact on the Fund's 

objectives in the light of the Fund’s risk appetite. Equally important is striking a balance between the 

cost of risk control actions against the possible result of the risk occurring.  The Fund recognises that 

it is not possible to eliminate all risks; accepting and actively managing risk is therefore a key part of 

the risk management strategy.   

The Fund's risk register details are categorised in to three separate sections, funding and investment 

risks, operational and regulatory risks, and governance risks. It includes the following: 

• all further action in relation to a risk  

• the owner for that action  

• the date from which the risk did not meet the target score  

• the expected date for being back to the target score 

• the next review date, and  

• the overall owner for the risk. 
 

Page 76



9 
 

Where necessary, the Fund’s business plan will be updated in relation to any agreed action as a result 

of an identified risk. 

 
Risk monitoring 

Risk monitoring is the final part of the risk management cycle and is the responsibility of the Head of 

Pensions. In monitoring risk management activity, the Fund considers whether: 

• the risk controls taken achieved the desired outcomes 

• the procedures adopted and information gathered for undertaking the risk assessment were 
appropriate 

• greater knowledge of the risk and potential outcomes would have improved the decision-
making process in relation to that risk 

• there are any lessons to learn for the future assessment and management of risks. 
 

Reporting 
 
The Pension Committee have a responsibility for ensuring robust risk management arrangements are 

in place.  In addition, Scheme Advisory Board (England and Wales) guidance on the creation and 

operation of local pension boards in the LGPS suggests that the Pension Board could review the risk 

register as it relates to the scheme manger function of the authority.   

Progress in managing risks will be monitored and recorded on the risk register and key information is 

provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and the Pension Board as part of the regular 

update reports on governance, investments and funding, and administration and communications.  

This reporting information will include as a minimum: 

• a summarised version of the risk register   

• a summary of the main changes since the previous report 

• the Fund’s risk dashboard showing the score of all existing risks and any changes as part of that 
dashboard. 
 

Monitoring of this Policy 
 
In order to identify whether the Fund meets the objectives of this policy the Administering Authority 

will review the delivery of the requirements of this Policy on an annual basis taking into consideration 

any feedback from the Pension Board. 

Key risks to the effective delivery of this Policy 

The key risks to the delivery of this Policy are outlined below.  The Pension Committee will monitor 

these and other key risks and consider how to respond to them. 

▪ Risk management becomes mechanistic, is not embodied into the day to day management of 
the Fund and consequently the objectives of the Policy are not delivered 

▪ Changes in Pension Committee and/or Pension Board membership and/or senior officers mean 
key risks are not identified due to lack of knowledge 

▪ Insufficient resources being available to satisfactorily assess or take appropriate action in 
relation to identified risks  

▪ Risks are incorrectly assessed due to a lack of knowledge or understanding, leading to 
inappropriate levels of risk being taken without proper controls 

Page 77



10 
 

▪ Lack of engagement or awareness of external factors means key risks are not identified  
▪ Conflicts of interest or other factors leading to a failure to identify or assess risks appropriately. 

 
 

Costs 
 
All costs related to the operation and implementation this Risk Management Policy will be met directly 

by the Fund.   

 
Approval, Review and Consultation 
 
This Risk Management Policy was approved on 3 December 2021 by the Pension Committee.  It will 

be formally reviewed and updated at least every three years or sooner if the risk management 

arrangements or other matters included within it merit reconsideration including if there are any 

changes to the LGPS or other relevant Regulations or Guidance which need to be taken into account.  

Further Information 
 
If further information about anything in or related to this Risk Management Policy is required, please 

contact: 

Head of Pensions  

E-mail – matthew.trebilcock@gloucestershire.gov.uk   

Telephone – (01452) 328920 

 

 
 
 
  

Page 78

mailto:matthew.trebilcock@gloucestershire.gov.uk


11 
 

Appendix 1 – Criteria for assessing likelihood and impact 
 

 

Criteria for assessing likelihood 

Description % of risk happening       OR 
potential 
timescale 

  

Almost certain Greater than 90%   Once in 1 to less than 3 years 

Highly likely 76% to 90%   Once in 3 to less than 5 years 

Probable  41% to 75%   Once in 5 to less than 10 years 

Possible 10% to 40%   Once in 10 to less than 20 years 

Rare Less than 10%   Once in 20 or more years 

 

 

Criteria for assessing impact 

Critical Service disruption > 20 days  
Critical Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund) 
Ministerial/Regulatory intervention 
Public enquiry 
Exceedingly negative national publicity  

Major Service disruption 10-20 days  
Major Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund) 
Legal action almost certain and difficult to defend  
Adverse national media coverage 

Moderate Service Disruption 5-10 days  
Moderate Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund) 
Legal action expected  
Adverse local media coverage/lots of service user complaints 

Minor Minor impact on service, typically between 1 to 4 days  
Minor Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund) 
Non-compliance with regulations / standards or local procedures resulting in 
disciplinary action 
Moderate volumes of service user complaints contained within the Fund 

Insignificant Insignificant impact on service, typically no more than a couple of hours 
Insignificant financial loss 
Legal action possible but unlikely and defendable 
Isolated service user complaints contained within the Fund 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



12 
 

Some specific examples for each impact criteria: 

Critical Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by more than 25% over a 1-
month period 
Delay in paying pensioners by more than 3 working days 
Consistently missing both legal and Fund’s service delivery timeframes 
Incorrect actual benefit calculations affecting >300 members 
Formal DLUHC, Pension Regulator or Scheme Advisory Board (or other) 
intervention or exercise of powers.  

Major Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level 15-25% over a 1-month period 
Delay in paying pensioners by more than 2 working days 
Missing some legal timescales and regularly missing the Fund’s service delivery 
timeframes 
Incorrect actual benefit calculations affecting 200-300 members 

Moderate Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by 10-15% over a 1-month 
period  
Delay in paying pensioners by 1 working day 
Meeting the majority of legal timescales but missing some of the Fund’s service 
delivery timeframes 
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting 100-200 members 

Minor Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by 5-10% over a 1-month 
period 
Delay in paying pensioners by less than1 working days 
Meeting the majority of legal and Fund’s service delivery timeframe 
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting 50-100 members 

Insignificant Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by up to 5% over a 1-month 
period 
Meeting all legal but occasionally not meeting all the Fund’s service delivery 
timeframes 
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting up to 50 members 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



13 
 

Version Control 
 

Date  Author  Description / Changes made  Version 

number  

03/12/2021  Matthew Trebilcock  Original Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund version  

1.0  

03/12/2021  Matthew Trebilcock  Inclusion of risk definition.  1.1  

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



All Fund Risk Heat Map and Summary of Governance Risks Appendix 2

9 6 9

6 5 11 12 13

7 8 10 14 15

4 1 3 4 5

9 2 10 3 1 2

8 7

Likelihood Likelihood

1

6 3 1

1
`

` `

5 2 7 4 5

`

Governance Risks
Funding & Investment Risks (includes accounting and 

audit)

Im
p

a
c
t

(1) Insignificant

(4) Major

(5) Critical

(2) Minor

(3) Moderate

(1) Rare (2) Possible (3) Probable (4) Highly likely

Im
p

a
c
t

Administration & Communication Risks

25 November 2021

(1) Insignificant

(4) Major

(5) Critical
Key

Each risk is represented in the chart by a number in a square. 

- The number denotes the risk number on the risk register.

- The location of the square denotes the current risk exposure.

(1) Rare
(5) Almost 

certain

(5) Almost 

certain
(4) Highly likely (3) Probable (2) Possible

(2) Minor

The background colour within the square denotes the target risk exposure.

New risks since the last reporting date are denoted with a blue and white border.

An arrow denotes a change in the risk exposure since the previous 

reporting date, with the arrow coming from the previous risk exposure.

(3) Moderate

P
age 83



Risk no: Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at risk 

(see key)

Current 

Impact

(see key)

Current 

Likelihood

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact

(see key)

Target 

Likelihood

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back on 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date

Last 

Updated

1

Administering Authority unaware of 

structural changes in an employer’s 

membership (e.g. large fall in 

employee members, large number of 

retirements) or not advised of an 

employer closing to new entrants

- Will impact on achievement of 

fully funded pension liabilities over 

the longer term

- The Actuary may revise the rates 

and adjustments certificates to 

increase employers conts 

between triennial valuations

(3) Moderate
(4) Highly 

likely
3

1 - Close relationshp with employers and communicates required 

standards, e.g. for submission of data (3) Moderate (2) Possible 1 L Current likelihood 2 too 

high

Head of 

Pensions
31/01/2022 24/11/2021

Meets target?

Objectives extracted from relevant Fund policies and strategies

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Control Risk Register
Governance Risks

25/11/2021 Governance short Gloucestershire PF Risk Register - template v0.3 JG ML 25112021.xlsm

P
age 84



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

Version: 1g 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line 

with the anticipated returns underpinning 

valuation of liabilities over the long-term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

 
Only anticipate long-term return on 

a relatively prudent basis (currently 

4.2% pa for on-going employers per 

the 2019 valuation) to reduce risk of 

under- performing. 

Assets invested on the basis of 

specialist advice, in a suitably 

diversified manner across asset 

classes, geographies, managers, 

etc. 

Analysis of progress at three yearly 

valuations for all employers, with 

strategic asset allocation to be re-

examined by an investment 

specialist in the context of the 

valuation results. 

Inter-valuation roll-forward of 

liabilities between valuations at 

whole Fund level. Actuarial Review 

on a like for like basis has 

confirmed a strong deficit recovery 

plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Long term forecasting of Strategic 

Asset Allocation ongoing by 

Independent Advisor and reported 

quarterly to Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16 

 
 
 
Regular monitoring of Fund's cash 

flow with actuarial estimates of 

future cash flow position. 

Overall investment strategy options 

including diversification considered 

as an integral part of the funding 

strategy.  Use of asset liability 

modelling.   Actuarial Review on a 

like for like basis has confirmed a 

strong deficit recovery plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial 

 
 
 
 
The new final strategic investment 

allocation and strategy was approved 

by the Pension Committee on 14th 

February 2020. This has been 

followed by an Equity Review in 

January 2021. Implementation of 

the equity strategy will be 

undertaken appropriately. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

P
age 85



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
F3 

 
 

 
 

Fall in risk-free returns on Government 

bonds, leading to rise in value placed on 

liabilities. 

 
 

 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 

 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
12 

 

 

Stabilisation modelling at whole 

Fund level allows for the 

probability of this within a 

longer-term context. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as 

above. Some investment in bonds 

helps to mitigate this risk.   

Actuarial Review on a like for like 

basis has confirmed a strong deficit 

recovery plan. 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 

Assumed long term investment 

return set as 4.2% for on-going 

employers under the 2019 

valuation. This long-term 

investment return is one of the 

factors used to determine the 

contributions for all employers 

covering the period 2020/21 to 

2022/23. 

 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Increasing Pension Fund deficit 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 
 

Actuarial review via Triennial 

Valuation and regular update 

reports. 

Regular consideration by Pension 

Committee on manager 

performance relative to funding 

assumptions, funding position and 

funding strategy.  Actuarial Review 

on a like for like basis has 

confirmed a strong deficit recovery 

plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial 

 
 
 
 
 
Assets currently exceed the 

projected liabilities. Future long-

term investment returns still within 

tolerance levels. The funding 

position will continue to be 

monitored on a quarterly basis and 

reported to Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 

 
F5 

 

 
Active investment manager under-

performance relative to benchmark. 

 

 
Maximising investment returns 

to help the Fund achieve its 

funding target 

 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
12 

Quarterly investment monitoring 

analyses market performance and 

active managers B r u n e l  

p o r t f o l i o s  relative to their index 

benchmark. 

Diversification of investments 

across asset classes and across 

different fund managers 

 
 

 
2 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
6 

 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Financial 

Performance in the current 

portfolio's and in the new Brunel 

portfolio's will be monitored against 

agreed performance targets and will 

be reported back to the Committee 

on a quarterly basis. 

 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 86



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

F6 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Pay and price inflation significantly more 

than anticipated. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

The focus of the actuarial valuation 

process is on real returns on 

assets, net of price and pay 

increases. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as 

above, gives early warning. 

Some investment in index-linked 

bonds also helps to mitigate this 

risk. 

Employers pay for their own salary 

awards and should be mindful of 

the geared effect on pension 

liabilities of any bias in pensionable 

pay rises towards longer-serving 

employees. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

There is a greater risk for a more 
inflationary environment as a result 
of the Covid pandemic, as 
Governments and central banks look 
to dealing with the substantial debt 
burden the pandemic has caused. A 
main risk to the pension funds 
liabilities is inflation, due to the 
inherent link to the benefits. 
A review of the inflation and interest 
rate risks on the Fund is ongoing with 
any identified mitigations brought 
back to Committee for consideration. 
Until this review has been concluded 
the risk will remain increased.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Unexpected increase in employer’s 

contribution rate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To stabilise changes in 

employer contribution rates 

over the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

An explicit stabilisation mechanism 

has been agreed for eligible 

employers as part of the funding 

strategy.  Other measures are also in 

place to limit sudden increases in 

contributions. 

Obtain information on financial 

strength of individual employers. 

Discuss with employers their ability 

to absorb rises in their level of 

contribution. 

Where appropriate mitigate 

impact through deficit spreading 

and phasing in of contribution 

rises, with appropriate security 

from employers and further 

analysis by the Fund’s actuary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Following the 2019 valuation of the 

Fund the contribution rates for the 

vast majority of employers will 

remain at the levels set under the 

2016 valuation or will reduce. A 

review of the Funds contribution 

strategy is scheduled for Q1 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 87



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A company, without a guarantor, admitted to 

the Fund as an admission body may become 

financially unviable, leaving a significant 

financial deficit with the Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

Under current admission rules, a 

transferee admission body will 

always have a funding guarantee 

from the transferring scheme 

employer. A community admission 

body will only be admitted to the 

Fund if they have a funding 

guarantee from a scheme employer 

with tax raising powers. A surety 

bond to cover the cost of paying 

pensions early if the company goes 

into liquidation is also generally 

required by the scheme employer to 

cover the potential risk of the 

admitted body becoming insolvent 

and the value of this surety or bond 

is reviewed regularly to ensure it 

provides adequate cover for the 

financial risks involved. 

Many years ago, prior to the 

introduction of these rules, some 

employers were admitted to the 

Fund without guarantors. At the 

start of 2019/20 there were seven 

"old" employers within the Fund 

without a guarantor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Four Admitted Bodies without 

guarantors now remain within the 

Fund. As part of the 2019 valuation 

the contribution rates for these 

employers were calculated based on a 

lower GILTS based investment return, 

which results in higher contributions. 

This partially addresses this risk for 

these four remaining admitted 

bodies without a guarantor. Further 

engagement and review of the 

current position will be undertaken 

with these Employers through 

2021/22 ahead of the valuation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 

 
F9 

 
 
 
Financial loss experienced during the 

transitioning of Assets to the new Brunel 

Portfolio's 

 
 
 
Maximising investment returns 

to help the Fund achieve its 

funding target 

 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
5 

 
 

 
15 

Detailed reconciliation of assets 

transferred undertaken by the 

Finance and Investments Manager. 

Detailed report from transition 

experts commissioned by the Brunel 

will be produced following each 

transition to provide assurance to 

clients. 

 
 

 
2 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
8 

 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Financial 

Formal reporting and analysis by 

third party consultants is undertaken 

to ensure the transitions are 

completed in an appropriate manner. 

These outputs are reviewed by 

Officers and assured back to the 

Oversight Board. The final transitions 

have now been completed and 

evaluation of these transitions will be 

reported back to Committee in 

December 21. All transitions have 

now been completed and reviewed. 

 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 88



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F/D1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pensioners living longer, thus increasing 

cost to Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10 

 

 
Set mortality assumptions with 

some allowance for future 

increases in life expectancy. 

The Fund Actuary has direct access 

to the experience of over 50 LGPS 

funds which allows early 

identification of changes in life 

expectancy that might in turn 

affect the assumptions 

underpinning the valuation. 

The Fund also sets life expectancy 

assumptions using ClubVita, which 

is a specialised longevity company 

and provides life expectancy 

assumptions based on the profile 

of the Fund’s own membership. 

Administering Authority encourage 

any employers concerned at costs 

to promote later retirement culture.  

Each 1 year rise in the average age 

at retirement would save roughly 

5% of pension costs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This has been addressed under the 

2019 valuation of the Fund with 

specific Gloucestershire related data 

being supplied by Club Vita analysis, 

hence longevity movements have 

been specifically considered under 

the 2019 valuation. The impact of the 

Covid pandemic will continue to be 

monitored as part of the Club Vita 

analysis, but the impact of this may 

only be realized over the longer-term 

analysis.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F/D2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 

contributing employees declines relative to 

retired employees leading to the possibility 

of there not being sufficient liquid funds 

available to pay liabilities as they fall due. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimized 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Continue to monitor at each 

valuation, seeking monetary 

amounts rather than % of pay. 

Between valuations regularly 

monitor level of active members on 

both a total Fund basis and by 

individual employer. Regularly 

monitor how cash flow positive the 

Fund is. Regularly review investment 

strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

 

 
The Fund commissioned Hymans 

Robertson to undertake cash flow 

modelling based on the following 

three scenarios: 

Scenario 1 – cash flows projections 

based on 2016 valuation membership 

data, Scenario 2 – cash flows 

projections based on 2016 valuation 

membership data, with a 20% 

reduction in actives, Scenario 3 - with 

a 40% reduction in active members. 

This modelling indicated that the 

fund will remain cash flow positive 

until 2033 under scenario1, to 2026 

under scenario 2 and would 

immediately become cash flow 

negative under scenario 3. Given that 

active membership in the 

Gloucestershire scheme is still 

increasing slightly it is felt that 

scenario 1 is the most likely outcome 

for the fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

P
age 89



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

F/D3 

 

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements 

To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 

4 

 

3 

 

12 

Employers are charged the extra 

cost of non-ill-health retirements 

following each individual decision. 

 

2 

 

3 

 

6 

 

► 

 

Financial 

  

15 Nov 2021 

 

F/D4 

 
Reductions in payroll causing insufficient 

deficit recovery payments 

To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 

4 

 

3 

 

12 

Require employers to pay sums 

due for deficit recovery 

contributions as a fixed monetary 

amount rather than being 

expressed as a % of pay. 

 

2 

 

3 

 

6 

 

► 

 

Financial 

  

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F/D5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Ill-health retirements significantly 

more than anticipated 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-

health experience on an ongoing 

basis. The employer may be 

charged additional contributions if 

this exceeds the ill-health 

assumption built in. Ill health 

insurance is available to be 

purchased by individual employers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 
A new ill health liability insurance 

procedure was introduced from 1 

April 2020 under which all Town and 

Parish Council's, Academy Schools 

and Admitted Bodies without 

guarantors, as the highest risk 

employers within the fund in relation 

to this issue are included within an 

overall external insurance policy 

arranged by the Fund, funded within 

the contributions set under the 2019 

valuation. All other employers will be 

included within the cover of a central 

policy unless they formally opt out of 

cover, under the procedures agreed 

by the Pension Committee in 

September 2019. Full details of the 

new arrangements were sent to all 

employers with the details of the 

outcome of the 2019 valuation and 

the contributions set for the period 

2020/21 to 2022/23. Only three 

employers have opted out of the new 

insurance arrangements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 90



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
F/D6 

 
 
 
 

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment 

strategy and employer contributions if 

large numbers of active members are 

outsourced on a “closed” (to new 

entrants) basis 

 
 
 
 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
Take advice from the Fund actuary 

on the likely impact this will have on 

Fund investment out performance 

assumptions and employer 

contributions. Monitor levels of 

outsourcings on a “closed” basis and 

advise employers of implications so 

these are considered when they 

review the business case for an 

outsourcing. 

Regularly review investment 

strategy and strategic asset 

allocation. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 
No significant impact to date, but the 

risk continues to be monitored on a 

regular basis. The comPASS 

modelling of contributions payable 

by GCC, the Police and District 

Council's has taken account of this, 

especially the Publica outsourcing 

and hence this was considered when 

the employer contributions were set 

for the years 2020/21 to 2022/23. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 

 
F/D7 

 
 
 

 

Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes 

due to introduction of "Freedom & Choice" 

resulting in a change in funding level 

 
 
 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
Taken advice from the Fund actuary 

on the proportion of the Fund's 

active and deferred members aged 

55 or over and the maximum 

exposure of the Fund to these 

transfers, split between active and 

deferred members. Considered 

impact on funding level given 

different possible levels of take up 

from active and deferred members. 

 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 
The comPASS modelling of 

contributions payable by GCC, the 

Police and District Council's has 

taken account of this, especially the 

Publica outsourcing and hence this 

was considered when the employer 

contributions were set for the years 

2020/21 to 2022/23. 

 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A/R1.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Significant additional costs resulting from 

changes to national pension requirements 

and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising 

from public sector pensions reform, and/or 

more complex regulations requiring 

increased administration resources. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimized 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
 
 
The Administering Authority 

considers all consultation papers 

issued by the Government and 

comments where appropriate. 

Considered different % take up 

scenarios for active and deferred 

members 

The results of the most recent 

reforms have been built into the 

valuation. Any changes to member 

contribution rates or benefit levels 

will be carefully communicated with 

members to minimise possible opt-

outs or adverse actions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

 

The Pensions Committee have 

agreed increased resources for the 

Pensions Team in January 2021.  

The residual risk will remain raised 

from 6 to 9, until progress in the 

recruitment of the agreed resources 

has been achieved, at which time it 

is anticipated that the residual risk 

will be reduced back to the previous 

level.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 91



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
A/R 
1.2 

 

Under resourcing of Pension Administration 

staff resulting in a deterioration of 

performance against key performance 

indicators and/or intervention from the 

Pensions Regulator. 

 

Experience indicates that 

intervention by the Pensions 

Regulator has major implications 

in terms of increased workload 

and/or adverse financial 

implications. 

 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
16 

 

This risk is regularly monitored 

and, as detailed in risk A/R 1.1 

actions have already been taken to 

increase the level of Pensions 

Officers in order to improve 

performance against key 

performance indicators. 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
9 

 
 

 
► 

Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

The Pensions Committee have 

agreed increased resources for the 

Pensions Team in January 2021.  

The residual risk will remain raised 

from 6 to 9, until progress in the 

recruitment of the agreed resources 

has been achieved, at which time it 

is anticipated that the residual risk 

will be reduced back to the previous 

level. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 

 
A/R2 

 
 

 
Failure to collect and account for 

contributions from employers and 

employees on time 

 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
12 

 

Regular monthly monitoring and 

reconciliation of Fund contributions 

received, including a detailed 

analysis of individual employer 

contributions and employee 

contributions by pay banding. 

Robust debt management 

processes are in place to recover 

any late payments 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 

 
 

 

Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

  
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

A/R3 

 
 
 
 
 

Loss of funds through fraud or 
misappropriation 

 
 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
Procedures and processes are in 

place and applied in relation to eg: 

checking for "ghost" scheme 

members; multiple levels of 

authorisation for claims and fund 

payments plus secondary checking 

of lump sum payments. Procedures 

are documented and staff are 

trained and managed in carrying 

these out. The Fund's internal 

auditors carry out regular reviews. 

 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 

Fraud 

 
 
 

The funds internal auditors regularly 

review the adequacy of controls 

within the Pensions Section. These 

reviews make use of experienced 

Counter Fraud staff who are 

available to the internal auditors. 

 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 

 
A/R4 

 
 
Does the fund have sufficient resources to 

provide sufficient input to the development 

oversight of the Brunel Pension Partnership 

in the context of the importance of 

ensuring that the partnership operates in 

an efficient and effective manner. 

 
To ensure the fund is proactive in 

the development of the proposals 

oversight and the robust control 

environment required for the 

collective management of assets, 

to avoid a detrimental impact on 

the fund. 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
16 

 
Additional staffing resources may 

be required to facilitate 

dedicated staffing resources to 

oversight take forward the 

pooling so lut ion proposal. This 

may require additional 

contributions from participating 

funds. 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

 
Officer resources are focused on the 

important client-side roles, including 

looking at the adequacy of control 

systems. The future recruitment of 

the Pension Investment & 

Accounting Manager post will 

provide further resilience to this. 

 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 92



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
A/R5 

 

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of 

Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held 

on the Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system 

with those held by HMRC could result in 

additional financial costs to the 

Gloucestershire Fund. 

 
 
 
 
Additional financial costs to the 
Fund 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

5 

 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 

15 

 
A detailed reconciliation procedure 

has commenced and a large 

number of discrepancies have been 

identified where the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not 

liable for GMP payments held on 

HMRC records. 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
Service 
Continuity 

 

 
Detailed reconciliation process 

completed and results returned to 

HMRC which has resulted in a 

significant reduction in potential 

abilities. 

 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A/R6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COVID-19 Pandemic having a detrimental 

impact to the Pension Fund service provided 

to members and/or to the collections of 

pension fund contributions and 

investments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Without appropriate actions 

being taken new retirees would 

not receive their pensions, 

contributions would not be 

received and new investments 

would not be actioned 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Due to remote access the majority of 

the finance and investment team 

staff can all work effectively from 

home with a minimal negative 

impact on the service. With regard 

to administration team, due to the 

paper-based nature of the service, 

effective working from home is not 

possible for all staff, and hence 

some office working would be 

needed to continue to provide an 

adequate service to members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Service 
Continuity 

 
Due to the fact that the majority of 

the Finance offices have been empty 

since the pandemic, The Pensions 

Administration team have taken over 

other offices and introduced a social 

distancing mode of working. The 

team has been split into two, with 

each sub team working in the office 

every other week. This, supported 

by home working, where possible, 

has ensured that the key services 

have continued to be provided 

effectively, especially the calculation 

and payment of new pensions, 

payment of death grants and the 

issuing of Annual Benefit Statements 

to all members by the statutory 

deadline. The finance and 

investment team have worked 

effectively at home to deliver the full 

service and have met its statutory 

deadlines. Future agile working 

requirements are now being 

assessed for the team, with a view to 

be rolled out in Q1 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 

 
G1 

 

Administering Authority unaware of 

structural changes in an employer’s 

membership (e.g. large fall in employee 

members, large number of retirements) or 

not advised of an employer closing to new 

entrants 

 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
12 

 
The Administering Authority has a 

close relationship with employing 

bodies and communicates required 

standards e.g. for submission of 

data. 

The Actuary may revise the rates 

and Adjustments certificate to 

increase an employer’s 

contributions (under Regulation 

38) between triennial 
valuations 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 

 
Governance 

  
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 93



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
G2 

 
 
 

 

Actuarial or investment advice is not 

sought, or is not heeded, or proves to be 

insufficient in some way 

 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
12 

 

The Administering Authority 

maintains close contact with its 

specialist advisers. Advice is 

delivered via formal meetings 

involving Elected Members, and 

recorded appropriately. 

Actuarial advice is subject to 

professional requirements such as 

peer review 

 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

  
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Administering Authority failing to 

commission the Fund Actuary to carry out 

a termination valuation for a departing 

Admission Body. 

 
 
 
 
 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
The Administering Authority 

requires employers with Best Value 

contractors to inform it of 

forthcoming changes. The 

administering authority also 

monitors contract periods of 

Admission Bodies and regularly 

monitors levels of active employees 

across all employers. Where their 

active membership materially 

decreases further steps are taken. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 

G4 

 
Failure to comply with the Myners’ 

Investment Principles 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 

4 

 

3 

 

12 

Compliance as detailed in the 

Investment Strategy Statement 

and Governance Statements are 

kept under regular review. 

 

2 

 

3 

 

6 

 

► 

 

Governance 

  

15 Nov 2021 

P
age 94



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
G5 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge, skills 

and resources at officer and member level 

in relation to administering the LGPS 

 
 
 
 
 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

Training needs assessments for the 

Administering Authority are carried 

out and an annual training plan 

produced. The Fund subscribes to 

the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills 

Framework for the LGPS and makes 

this information available to all 

members of the Pension Committee 

and relevant officers. Appropriately 

qualified external advisers and 

consultants are used as appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

The Pensions Committee have 

agreed increased resources for the 

Pensions Team in January 2021.  

The residual risk will remain raised, 

until progress in the recruitment of 

the agreed resources has been 

achieved, at which time it is 

anticipated that the residual risk will 

be reduced back to the previous 

level. With the adoption of the 

Training Strategy this will provide a 

framework for compliance with the 

required Knowledge and Skills 

requirements for both officers and 

members. The training needs 

assessment will ensure a robust and 

appropriate training plan is 

delivered. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
G6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Failure to internally hold personal data 

securely and keep pension records up-to-

date and accurate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring it's responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

Personal data and scanned 

documents relating to scheme 

members are maintained in an 

online system with logical access 

controls via individual password 

access for those that need to 

maintain and access this 

information. Procedures for 

maintaining pension records are 

documented and the process is 

monitored and managed within the 

Pensions Administration team. 

Procedures are regularly reviewed 

by the Fund's internal auditors. 

Physical access controls are also in 

operation within the Pension Fund 

office. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 95



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
G7 

 
 
 

 

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund 

Committee or Pension Board, and/or the 

lack of adequate training, resulting in a 

negative impact on governance 

arrangements within the Gloucestershire 

LGPS. 

 
 
 
 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimized 

 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 

 

Training is being provided on an on-

going basis to Committee and Board 

Members both at formal meetings 

of the Committee/Board and at 

internal and external training 

sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 
 
 

 
▲ 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

 

The Pension Boards membership is 6 

(3 member and 3 Employer 

representatives). Currently there is a 

one vacancy on the Board.  

Council elections in May 2021 have 

resulted in 4 new members of the 

Committee and 3 returning members. 

The district representative and the 

scheme member representative have 

also remained on Committee. A 

training needs assessment has been 

undertaken which has now informed 

an appropriate training plan, but 

based on the results of the 

assessment, the Board has proposed 

that this risk should be elevated until 

the successful deployment of the 

training strategy/plan has been 

delivered and the assessment of 

knowledge repeated. This also aligns 

this risk to that of G5. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
G8 

 

Transition from the current custodian to 

State Street Bank under the Brunel Pension 

Partnership resulting in failings during the 

transition and/or inadequate performance 

reports post transition and/or negative 

impacts on the final accounts of the Pension 

Fund due to failings in the accounting 

reports received from State Street Bank 

 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 

 
Detailed control procedures 

implemented during the transition 

with support from a transition 

manager working for the Brunel 

Pension Partnership 

 
 
 
 
 

1 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

 
 

No major problems were 

encountered during the transitions 

undertaken to date and assets 

transferred were reconciled back to 

the detailed records held by each 

manager. All transitions have now 

been completed and reviewed. 

 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
G9 

 
 
Failure to comply with the General Data 

Protection Regulation resulting in breaches 

which have to be reported to the Pension 

Regulator and the Information 

Commissioners Office resulting in 

complaints from scheme members and/or 

significant financial fines. 

 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

5 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

20 

 

 
Detailed guidance and support was 

obtained from the GCC Information 

Management Team which resulted 

in additional guidance being 

provided on the Pension Fund 

website to meet the requirements 

of GDPR. 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

 
Detailed guidance and support was 

obtained from the GCC Information 

Management Team which resulted 

in additional guidance being 

provided on the Pension Fund 

website to meet the requirements 

of GDPR. A recent internal audit has 

confirmed that there are 

satisfactory arrangements in this 

area. 

 
 
 
 
 

15 Nov 2021 

P
age 96



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

  
 

 
G10 

 

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key 

information and data as a result of 

exploited technological vulnerabilities 

facilitated through malicious attack, 

primarily from external sources. 

 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
5 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
20 

Anti-malware and internet security 

software. Patch management 

policies and procedures. Compliance 

with PSN. Internal and External ICT 

security testing. Managing user 

privileges. 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
9 

 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Governance 

  
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G11 

 
 
 
 

Failing to adequately take account of, and 

monitor and report on, Environmental, 

Social and Governance ("ESG") factors, 

including Climate Change, in relation to 

the investment of the Funds’ assets, 

resulting in negative ESG implications 

and/or financial loss. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
In the longer-term investments 

with positive ESG impacts may 

well lead to improved financial 

returns. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
As a member of the Brunel Pension 

Partnership the Fund will benefit 

from the fact that ESG factors, 

including Climate Change, are 

integral to all of the investment 

decisions made by the BPP on 

behalf of Client Funds. Such factors 

will be considered for all 

investment manager appointments 

made by the BPP, and a robust on-

going monitoring and reporting 

system of ESG and Climate Change 

factors will ensure that the Pension 

Committee receives on- going 

assurance in this area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

 
 

In January 2020 the Brunel Pension 

Partnership launched their detailed 

Climate Change policy. The 

Gloucestershire Pensions Committee 

received a copy of this policy at its 

May meeting, together with a 

detailed presentation from Faith 

Ward, the Chief Responsible 

Investment Officer at the Brunel, and 

a recommendation that the 

Gloucestershire Fund formally 

adopts the BPP Climate Change 

policy. 

 
 

 
15 Nov 2021 

P
age 97



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – November 2021  
 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 
or consequences if risk occurs 
and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 
or 
Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 
or 
Opportunity 

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 
Tr

av
el

 

 
 
Category of 
Risk or 
Opportunity 

 
 
 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review. L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 98



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

Pension Board 
19 January 2022 

 

Reporting and Recording Breaches of the Law Policy 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 
 

Background 
The policy, approved by Pensions Committee on 3 December 2021, sets out the procedure 
to be followed by certain persons involved with the Gloucestershire Pension Fund in relation 
to identifying, recording and, where necessary, reporting breaches of the law to the 
Pensions Regulator. 
 
Breaches can occur in relation to a wide variety of the tasks normally associated with the 
administrative function of a scheme such as keeping records, internal controls, calculating 
benefits and making investment or investment-related decisions. 
 
The policy is designed to assist those individuals who have a legal responsibility to report 
certain breaches to the Regulator in determining whether a breach they have identified 
should be reported.  It has also been developed to assist the Administering Authority, in 
ensuring it is aware of all breaches of the law in relation to the Fund and that these are 
appropriately recorded and then dealt with. 
 
The policy, attached as appendix 1, sets out how the Administering Authority of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund will strive to achieve best practice through use of a formal 
reporting breaches procedure.  It reflects the guidance contained in the Regulator’s Code of 
Practice.   
 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund Reporting Breaches Procedure 
The policy aims to ensure individuals responsible are able to meet their legal obligations and 
avoid placing any reliance on others to report. The procedure will also assist in providing an 
early warning of possible malpractice and reduce risk. There are four key steps to this 
procedure: 
 

1. Understanding the law and what is a breach 
2. Determining whether a suspected breach is an actual breach 
3. Determining whether the breach is likely to be of material significance and so should 

be reported to the Regulator 
4. Recording the breach, even if it is not reported. 

 
Contained within the policy is information on the assistance available for individuals in 
following this policy including: 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

1. referral to a level of seniority for a decision to be made on whether to report 
2. dealing with complex cases 
3. timescales for reporting 
4. early identification of very serious breaches 
5. a decision tree 
 

Reporting 
In accordance with best practise, the policy stipulates that a report will be presented to the 
Pension Committee and the Pensions Board on a quarterly basis setting out: 
 

• all breaches, including those reported to the Regulator and those unreported, with 
the associated dates 

• in relation to each breach, details of what action was taken and the result of any 
action (where not confidential) 

• any future actions for the prevention of the breach in question being repeated 

• highlighting new breaches which have arisen in the last year/since the previous 
meeting. 

 
Review 
This Reporting and Recording Breaches of the Law Policy will be formally reviewed and 
updated by the Pension Committee at least every three years, or sooner as a result of legal 
or regulatory changes, evolving best practice and ongoing review of the effectiveness of the 
procedure set out in this Policy. 
 
 
Recommendation 
That the Board note the approved Reporting and Recording Breaches of the Law Policy.  
 
 
Contact Officer 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 100



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

Reporting and Recording Breaches of the 

Law Policy 

v1.0 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Control 
 

Document owner Head of Pensions 

Version Number 1.0 

Date 3 December 2021 

Committee approval 3 December 2021 

Next review due December 2024 

   

Page 101



2 
 

 

 

Contents 

BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION 3 

REQUIREMENTS AND TO WHOM THIS POLICY APPLIES 3 

OTHER ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY OR ORGANISATIONAL REQUIREMENTS 4 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND REPORTING BREACHES PROCEDURE 5 

SUPPLIER AND ADVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES 7 

ASSISTANCE FOR INDIVIDUALS IN FOLLOWING THIS POLICY 7 

REPORTING A BREACH TO THE PENSIONS REGULATOR 9 

REPORTING TO PENSION COMMITTEE AND PENSIONS BOARD 9 

TRAINING 10 

APPROVAL AND REVIEW 10 

FURTHER INFORMATION 10 

APPENDIX A - EXAMPLE BREACHES OF THE LAW 11 

APPENDIX B - DETERMINING WHETHER A BREACH IS LIKELY TO BE OF MATERIAL SIGNIFICANCE 13 

APPENDIX C – TRAFFIC LIGHT FRAMEWORK FOR DECIDING WHETHER TO REPORT 15 

APPENDIX D - EXAMPLE RECORD OF BREACHES FOR PENSION COMMITTEE REPORTING 16 

 
   

Page 102



3 
 

Background and Introduction 
 

This Policy sets out the procedure to be followed by certain persons involved with the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund (the "Fund"), which is managed and administered by Gloucestershire County Council 
(the "Administering Authority"), in relation to identifying, recording and, where necessary, reporting 
breaches of the law to the Pensions Regulator (the "Regulator"). 
 
Breaches can occur in relation to a wide variety of the tasks normally associated with the 
administrative function of a scheme such as keeping records, internal controls, calculating benefits 
and making investment or investment-related decisions. 
 
This Policy has been developed to assist those individuals who have a legal responsibility to report 
certain breaches to the Regulator in determining whether a breach they have identified should be 
reported.  It has also been developed to assist the Administering Authority, in ensuring it is aware of 
all breaches of the law in relation to the Fund and that these are appropriately recorded and then 
dealt with. 
 
The Administering Authority has delegated responsibility for the implementation of this Policy to the 
Head of Pensions. A breaches log for the Fund is maintained by the Head of Pensions. 
 
The following persons, or any other person who has a responsibility to report breaches of the law in 
relation to the Fund, are strongly encouraged to follow this Policy should they identify such a breach:  

• all members of the Pension Committee and Pension Board 

• all officers involved in the management and administration of the Fund, including staff 
members of the Administering Authority, and the Section 151 Officer 

• any professional advisers including external auditors, actuaries, legal advisers, and investment 
managers1 and external suppliers  

• officers of employers participating in the Fund who are responsible for pension matters 

• any other person otherwise involved in advising the managers of the Fund, including the 
Monitoring Officer, and staff members of the internal audit function. 

 
Throughout this Policy, any person to whom this Policy applies, as a result of them identifying a breach 
or potential breach, will be referred to as the "individual". 
 

Requirements  
 

This section clarifies the full extent of the legal requirements and to whom they apply. 
 
Pensions Act 2004 
Section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 (the "Act") imposes a requirement on the following persons: 

 

• a trustee or manager of an occupational or personal pension scheme 

• a member of the pension board of a public service pension scheme 

• a person who is otherwise involved in the administration of such a scheme an occupational or 
personal pension scheme 

• the employer in relation to an occupational pension scheme 

 
1 However, these advisors should note that the application of this Policy relates to the reporting of legal breaches relating 
to the administration of the Fund, rather than any breaches relating to their role and responsibilities that do not affect the 
administration of the Fund.  For example, if an investment manager has breached the investment association guidelines, 
then this would not be reportable under this Policy (albeit the Administering Authority would still expect this information 
to be recorded separately and notified to it). 

Page 103



4 
 

• a professional adviser in relation to such a scheme 

• a person who is otherwise involved in advising the trustees or managers of an occupational or 
personal pension scheme in relation to the scheme. 

 
to report a matter to the Regulator as soon as is reasonably practicable where that person has 
reasonable cause to believe that: 

a) a legal duty relating to the administration of the scheme has not been or is not being complied 
with, and 

b) the failure to comply is likely to be of material significance to the Regulator. 
 

The Act states that a person can be subject to a civil penalty if he or she fails to comply with this 
requirement without a reasonable excuse.   

 
The duty to report breaches under the Act overrides any other duties the individuals listed above may 
have. However, the duty to report does not override ‘legal privilege’. This means that, generally, 
communications between a professional legal adviser and their client, or a person representing their 
client, in connection with legal advice being given to the client, do not have to be disclosed. 

 
The Pension Regulator's Code of Practice 
Practical code in relation to this legal requirement is included in The Pension Regulator’s Code of 
Practice including in the following areas: 

 

• implementing adequate procedures to consider and record breaches 

• judging whether a breach must be reported 

• submitting a report to the Regulator 

• whistleblowing protection and confidentiality. 
 

Application to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
The Administering Authority has developed this Policy in relation to the Fund. This document sets 
out how the Administering Authority will strive to achieve best practice through use of a formal 
reporting breaches procedure.  It reflects the guidance contained in the Regulator’s Code of Practice.   
 

Other Administering Authority or Organisational Requirements 
 

In addition to the requirements of this Policy, there may be other policies which may be in place 
relating to areas such as fraud or whistleblowing that apply to the individuals covered by this Policy 
for reporting and recording breaches in relation to Fund matters. For example, Gloucestershire 
County Council has in place the following: 

• Counter-fraud and Corruption Strategy – setting out the Council's strategy for preventing, 
deterring, and investigating fraud and corruption,  

• Whistleblowing Policy – setting out how someone working with or within the Council can 
raise an issue in confidence, as well as what sort of concerns should be reported. 
 

This Policy should be followed in addition to any existing procedures or policies that may be in place, 
such as those listed above. Individuals are reminded that there is a legal requirement to report 
breaches of the law in relation to the Fund that could be considered significant to the Regulator. The 
Head of Pensions supported by the Council's Monitoring Officer (contact details at the end of this 
procedure) can assist if an individual is uncertain how to deal with the interaction between this Policy 
and any other organisation's policy or procedure that may be in place. 

 

Page 104



5 
 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Reporting Breaches Procedure 
 
Overview 
The following procedure details how individuals responsible for reporting and whistleblowing can 
identify, assess, record, and report a breach of the law relating to the Fund.   

 
It aims to ensure individuals responsible are able to meet their legal obligations and avoid placing any 
reliance on others to report. The procedure will also assist in providing an early warning of possible 
malpractice and reduce risk. There are four key steps to this procedure: 
 

1. Understanding the law and what is a breach 
2. Determining whether a suspected breach is an actual breach 
3. Determining whether the breach is likely to be of material significance and so should be 

reported to the Regulator 
4. Recording the breach, even if it is not reported. 

 
These steps are explained below: 

 
1. Understanding the law and what is a breach 
Individuals may need to refer to regulations and guidance when considering whether there has been 
a breach of the law. Some of the key provisions are shown below: 

 

• Section 70(1) and 70(2) of the Pensions Act 2004: 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/35/contents 

• Employment Rights Act 1996: 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/18/contents 

• Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations 2013 
(Disclosure Regulations): 
www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/2734/contents/made 

• Public Service Pension Schemes Act 2013 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/contents 

• Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations (various): 
http://www.lgpsregs.org/timelineregs/Default.html (pre 2014 schemes) 
http://www.lgpsregs.org/index.php/regs-legislation (2014 scheme) 

• The Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice  
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/codes-of-practice/code-14-
public-service-pension-code-of-practice 
Individuals should refer to the section on ‘Reporting breaches of the law’, and for information 
about reporting late payments of employee or employer contributions, the section of the code 
on ‘Maintaining contributions’. 

 
Further guidance and assistance can be provided by the Head of Pensions provided that requesting 
this assistance will not result in alerting those responsible for any serious offence (where the breach 
is in relation to such an offence).  
 
A breach of the law is “an act of breaking or failing to observe a law, agreement, or code of conduct.”. 
In the context of LGPS it can encompass many aspects of the management and administration of the 
scheme. Some examples of breaches are included in Appendix A. 
 
 

 

Page 105

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/2734/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/contents
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/codes-of-practice/code-14-public-service-pension-code-of-practice
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/codes-of-practice/code-14-public-service-pension-code-of-practice


6 
 

2. Determining whether a suspected breach is an actual breach 
Individuals then need to have reasonable cause to believe that a breach of the relevant legal provision 
has occurred, not just a suspicion. Where a breach is suspected, the individual should carry out further 
checks to confirm the breach has occurred.  
 
Where the individual does not know the facts or events, it will usually be appropriate to check with 
the Head of Pensions, a member of the Pension Committee or Pension Board. Where necessary this 
may involve taking appropriate legal advice or input from other specialist advisors who are able to 
explain what has happened. However, there are some instances where it would not be appropriate to 
make further checks, for example, if the individual has become aware of theft, suspected fraud or 
another serious offence and they are also aware that by making further checks there is a risk of either 
alerting those involved or hampering the actions of the police or a regulatory authority. In these cases, 
the Regulator should be contacted without delay. 

 
3. Determining whether the breach is likely to be of material significance 
Should an individual have reasonable cause to believe that breach of the law has occurred, they must 
decide whether that breach is likely to be of material significance to the Regulator, and therefore 
should be reported to the Regulator. To do this, an individual should consider the following, both 
separately and collectively: 
 

• cause of the breach (what made it happen) 

• effect of the breach (the consequence(s) of the breach) 

• reaction to the breach 

• wider implications of the breach. 
 

Individuals may also request the most recent breaches log from the Head of Pensions, as there may 
be details on other breaches which may provide a useful precedent on the appropriate action to take.  

 
Further details on the above four considerations are provided in Appendix B to this Policy.  
 
The individual should use the traffic light framework described in Appendix C to help assess the 
material significance of each breach and to formally support and document their decision. 
 
It should be noted that the Regulator's role is in relation to requirements under the Pensions Act 2004.  
As such, it is possible that some breaches of the law do not fall within the Regulator's remit.  However, 
given the complex nature of the law relating to pension schemes, including the wide-ranging 
responsibilities covered by the Pensions Act 2004, the Administering Authority encourages reporting 
of any breach that is materially significant regardless of the specific area of the law that has been 
breached.  The Regulator can then determine whether it is a matter they have jurisdiction over or not.   
 
The Head of Pensions can assist with determining whether the breach should be reported and can also 
assist in completing the document to report the breach. However, the individual is ultimately 
responsible for determining what should be included in the report and for submitting the report to 
the Regulator. 

 
4. Recording the breach, even if it is not reported 
The record of past breaches may be relevant in deciding whether to report a breach (for example it 
may reveal a systemic issue).  The Head of Pensions will maintain a record of all breaches identified.  
Therefore, individuals should provide the following information to the Head of Pensions so that all 
identified breaches can be recorded: 

• copies of reports submitted to the Regulator    

Page 106



7 
 

• copies of information relating to any other breach the individual has identified.  
 

The information should be provided to the Head of Pensions as soon as reasonably practicable and 
certainly no later than within 20 working days of the decision made to report or not.  The record of 
all breaches (reported or otherwise) will be included at each Pension Committee meeting, and this 
will also be shared with the Pension Board. 
 

Supplier and advisor responsibilities  
 

Where a breach has been identified relating to the Fund by a Fund supplier or advisor, the supplier or 
adviser must alert the Head of Pensions immediately. They must produce a preliminary report setting 
out an assessment of the breach. The preliminary assessment must contain:  
 

• the circumstances leading to the breach 

• the impact and scale of the breach, both financial and with regard to the impact of service 
on members or other affected persons/organisations 

• the steps that have been taken to rectify the breach 

• a preliminary assessment, based on the Regulator’s traffic light flowchart, of the materiality 
of the breach.  

 
For the avoidance of doubt all breaches of the law (regardless of whether they are deemed material) 
must be reported to the Head of Pensions in this way. 
 

Assistance for individuals in following this Policy 
 

The following information is provided to assist individuals in following this Policy. 
 
Referral to a level of seniority for a decision to be made on whether to report  
The Administering Authority has designated the Head of Pensions to ensure the Council acts and 
operates within the law. They are considered to have appropriate experience to help investigate 
whether there is reasonable cause to believe a breach has occurred, to check the law and facts of the 
case, to maintain records of all breaches and to assist in any reporting to the Regulator, where 
appropriate.  
 
Individuals must bear in mind, however, that the involvement of the Head of Pensions is to help clarify 
the individual’s thought process and to ensure this Policy is followed. The individual remains 
responsible for the final decision as to whether a matter should be reported to the Regulator and for 
completing the reporting procedure. 
 
The matter should not be referred to the Head of Pensions if doing so will alert any person responsible 
for a possible serious offence to the investigation (as highlighted in step 2 above). If that is the case, 
the individual may instead refer the matter to the Council's Monitoring Officer. Otherwise, the 
individual should report the matter to the Regulator setting out the reasons for reporting, including 
any uncertainty – a telephone call to the Regulator before the submission may be appropriate, 
particularly in the case of a more serious breach. 

 
Dealing with complex cases 
The Head of Pensions may be able to provide guidance on particularly complex cases. Guidance may 
also be obtained by reference to previous cases, information on which will be retained by the 
Administering Authority, or via discussions with those responsible for maintaining the records. 

Page 107



8 
 

Information may also be available from national resources such as the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board 
(www.lgpsboard.org) or the Local Government Association (www.lgpsregs.org).  
 
If timescales allow, legal advice or other professional advice can be sought, and the case can be 
discussed at the next Pension Committee and Pension Board meeting. 

 
Timescales for reporting 
The Pensions Act and Regulator’s Code require that if an individual decides to report a breach, the 
report must be made in writing as soon as reasonably practicable.  Individuals should not rely on 
waiting for others to report and nor is it necessary for a reporter to gather all the evidence which the 
Regulator may require before taking action.  A delay in reporting may exacerbate or increase the risk 
of the breach.  The time taken to reach the judgements on “reasonable cause to believe” and on 
“material significance” should be consistent with the speed implied by ‘as soon as reasonably 
practicable’.  In particular, the time taken should reflect the seriousness of the suspected breach. 

 
Early identification of very serious breaches 
In cases of immediate risk to the Fund, for instance, where there is any indication of dishonesty, the 
Regulator does not expect reporters to seek an explanation or to assess the effectiveness of proposed 
remedies. They should only make such immediate checks as are necessary.   

 
The more serious the potential breach and its consequences, the more urgently reporters should make 
these necessary checks. In cases of potential dishonesty, the reporter should avoid, where possible, 
checks which might alert those implicated. In serious cases, reporters should use the quickest means 
possible to alert the Regulator to the breach. 
 
Decision tree 
A decision tree is provided below to show the process for deciding whether or not a breach has taken 
place and whether it is materially significant to the Regulator and therefore, needs to be reported, 
and then ensuring it is recorded. 
 

  

Page 108

http://www.lgpsboard.org/
http://www.lgpsregs.org/


9 
 

 
 

Reporting a breach to the Pensions Regulator  
 

Reports must be submitted via the Regulator’s online system at 
https://login.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk, or by post or email, and should be marked urgent if 
appropriate.  If necessary, a written report can be preceded by a telephone call.  
 
The individual should ensure they receive an acknowledgement for any report they send to the 
Regulator. The Regulator will acknowledge receipt of all reports within five working days and may 
contact reporters to request further information. Reporters will not usually be informed of any actions 
taken by the Regulator due to restrictions on the disclosure of information. 
 
As a minimum, individuals reporting should provide: 

• full scheme name (Gloucestershire Pension Fund) 

• description of the breach/breaches 

• any relevant dates 

• name, position, and contact details 

• role in connection to the scheme 

• employer name or name of Gloucestershire County Council as the Administering 
Authority/Scheme Manager. 

 
If possible, reporters should also indicate: 

• the reason why the breach is thought to be of material significance to the Regulator 

• scheme address (provided at the end of this Policy) 

• scheme manager's contact details (provided at the end of this document) 

• pension scheme registry number (10079170) 

• whether the breach has been reported before. 
 

The individual should provide further information or reports of further breaches if this may help the 
Regulator in the exercise of its functions. The Regulator may make contact to request further 
information. 
 
Confidentiality 
If requested, the Regulator will do its best to protect the identity of the individual who has reported 
the breach and will not disclose information except where it is lawfully required to do so in relation to 
their employer.   
 
An employee may have protection under the Employment Rights Act 1996 if they make a report in 
good faith. 

 

Reporting to Pension Committee and Pensions Board 
 

A report will be presented to the Pension Committee and the Pensions Board on a quarterly basis 
setting out: 

• all breaches, including those reported to the Regulator and those unreported, with the 
associated dates 

• in relation to each breach, details of what action was taken and the result of any action (where 
not confidential) 

• any future actions for the prevention of the breach in question being repeated 

• highlighting new breaches which have arisen in the last year/since the previous meeting. 

Page 109

https://login.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/


10 
 

 
This information will also be provided upon request by any other individual or organisation (excluding 
sensitive/confidential cases or ongoing cases where discussion may influence the proceedings).  An 
example of the information to be included in the quarterly reports is provided in Appendix D to this 
Policy which sets out the template breaches log. 

 

Training  
 

The Head of Pensions will ensure that all relevant officers and all Pension Committee and Pension 
Board members receive appropriate training on this Policy at the commencement of their 
employment or appointment to the Pension Committee or Pension Board as appropriate and on an 
ongoing basis.  
 
Suppliers and advisers must ensure that all staff with responsibilities in relation to the Fund receive 
appropriate training with regard to this Policy and their obligations under it. They must advise the 
Head of Pensions if they do not feel they are able to carry out that training, and training will be 
arranged for them by the Head of Pensions.  

 

Approval and review 
 

This Breaches Policy was approved by the Gloucestershire Pension Committee at the meeting of 3 
December. It will be formally reviewed and updated by the Pension Committee at least every three 
years, or sooner as a result of legal or regulatory changes, evolving best practice and ongoing review 
of the effectiveness of the procedure set out in this Policy. 
 

Further information 
 
If further information about anything in or related to this Breaches Policy is required, please contact: 
 
Head of Pensions  
E-mail – matthew.trebilcock@gloucestershire.gov.uk   
Telephone – (01452) 328920  
 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, Gloucestershire County Council, Shire Hall, Westgate Street, 
Gloucester, GL1 2TG 
 
  

Page 110



11 
 

Appendix A - Example breaches of the law 
 

This appendix provides some examples of breaches of the law. This is not an exhaustive list given there 
are many sets of legislation that must be followed and some of these are extremely lengthy and 
complex. It should, however, provide a useful indication of the range of potential breaches that may 
arise. 
 
Funding strategy not having regard to CIPFA guidance 
Regulation 58 of the LGPS Regulations 2013, as amended, requires the administering authority to 
prepare, maintain and publish a statement setting out its funding strategy and, in doing so, to consult 
with such persons as it considers appropriate. In doing this, the administering authority must also have 
regard to CIPFA guidance on preparing and maintaining a Funding Strategy Statement which clearly 
states employers should be consulted. The funding strategy impacts on the employers of the Fund and 
therefore a breach of the law by the administering authority is likely to have arisen if a statement was 
prepared which impacts on employers without first consulting with those employers. 
 
Late notification of benefits 
Various regulations dictate timescales for notifying scheme benefits, some of which are summarised 
below.  Most of these requirements are included in more general pensions legislation, i.e. not the 
LGPS Regulations 2013. A breach would arise every time one of these timescales was not met.  All 
breaches would relate to the administering authority apart from the last one which would be a breach 
by an employer. However, the first five listed could have been a result of delayed or incorrect 
information from an employer, which could be a separate and additional breach of the law by that 
employer. 
 

Process Legal requirement 

To provide new starters with 
information about the scheme. 

Two months from date of joining (provide information about the 
scheme in this timeframe, or within one month of receiving 
jobholder information where the individual is being automatically 
enrolled or re-enrolled). 

To inform members who 
leave the scheme of their 
leaver rights and options. 

As soon as is practicable, and no more than two months from 
date of initial notification (from employer or scheme member). 

To notify the amount of 
retirement benefits. 

One month from date of retirement if on or after normal pension 
age, or two months from date of retirement if before normal 
pension age. 

To notify dependant(s) the 
amount of death benefits. 

As soon as possible, but in any event no more than two months 
from date of becoming aware of the death, or from date of 
request. 

Provide annual benefit 
statements to active 
members. 

By 31st August in the same calendar year. 

Receipt of employee 
contributions from 
employers. 

By 19th of the month following their deduction, or 22nd if paid 
electronically. 

 
 
 
 

Page 111



12 
 

Errors in benefit calculations 
The LGPS Regulations 2013, as amended, and previous LGPS legislation relating to historical service or 
leavers, dictate how benefits should be calculated. This includes elements such as what fraction of pay 
is used to calculation a pension and what counts as pay for LGPS purposes.  A breach of the law by the 
administering authority would arise in the situation that any calculation was carried out that was not 
in accordance with those provisions.   
 
Errors in deducting contributions 
Regulation 20 of the LGPS Regulations 2013, as amended, states which elements of pay should be 
treated as pensionable and therefore should have pension contributions deducted from them and 
should be used for calculating benefits from 1 April 2014.  Regulation 4 of the LGPS (Benefits, 
Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007, as amended, is the equivalent provision for pre-1 
April 2014 scheme membership and therefore it details how pensionable pay should be calculated by 
an employer for benefits accruing prior to 1 April 2014. Under these provisions, non-contractual 
overtime is pensionable from 1 April 2014 but not classed as pensionable for benefits accruing before 
1 April 2014.  A breach of the law by an employer would arise if any of the following happened: 
 

• an employer did not deduct pension contributions from non-contractual overtime since 1 April 
2014 

• an employer did not include non-contractual overtime in the amount of any pensionable pay 
notified to the administering authority for membership from 1 April 2014 

• an employer did include non-contractual overtime in the amount of final pay notified to the 
administering authority to be used to calculate benefits accrued prior to 1 April 2014.  

 
Late notifications from year-end information by an employer 
Regulation 80 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 requires each employer to provide to the administering 
authority a list of specific information for each scheme member, such as pensionable pay, by 30 June 
each year.  A breach of the law by an employer would arise if they failed to provide this year end list 
to the administering authority by 30 June or if the information was incomplete or inaccurate. 
 
Inadequate knowledge of a Pension Board member 
Section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004 requires every Pension Board member to be conversant with 
the LGPS rules and Fund policies as well as having knowledge and understanding of pension matters 
at a degree appropriate for the purpose of them exercising their Pension Board functions.  Where a 
Pension Board member has failed to attend training or demonstrate that they already have the 
required level of knowledge, it is possible that a breach of the law will have occurred by that Pension 
Board member. 
  

Page 112



13 
 

Appendix B - Determining whether a breach is likely to be of material significance 
 

To decide whether a breach is likely to be of material significance individuals should consider the 
following elements, both separately and collectively: 
 

• cause of the breach (what made it happen) 

• effect of the breach (the consequence(s) of the breach) 

• reaction to the breach 

• wider implications of the breach. 
 

The cause of the breach 
Examples of causes which are likely to be of concern to the Regulator are provided below: 
 

• acting, or failing to act, in deliberate contravention of the law 

• dishonesty 

• incomplete or inaccurate advice 

• poor administration, i.e., failure to implement adequate administration procedures 

• poor governance 

• slow or inappropriate decision-making practices. 
 

When deciding whether a cause is likely to be of material significance individuals should also consider: 
 

• whether the breach has been caused by an isolated incident such as a power outage, fire, 
flood, or a genuine one-off mistake. 

• whether there have been any other breaches (reported to the Regulator or not) which when 
taken together may become materially significant. 
 

The effect of the breach 
Examples of the possible effects (with possible causes) of breaches which are considered likely to be 
of material significance to the Regulator in the context of the LGPS are given below: 
 

• Pension Committee or Pension Board members not having enough knowledge and 
understanding, resulting in the Pension Boards not fulfilling its role, the Fund not being 
properly governed and administered and/or the Administering Authority breaching other 
legal requirements. 

• Conflicts of interest of Pension Committee or Pension Board members, resulting in them being 
prejudiced in the way in which they carry out their role and/or the ineffective governance and 
administration of the Fund and/or the Administering Authority breaching legal requirements. 

• Poor internal controls, leading to schemes not being run in accordance with their scheme 
regulations and other legal requirements, risks not being properly identified and managed, 
and/or the right money not being paid to or by the Fund at the right time. 

• Inaccurate or incomplete information about benefits and scheme information provided to 
members, resulting in members not being able to effectively plan or make decisions about 
their retirement. 

• Poor member records held, resulting in member benefits being calculated incorrectly and/or 
not being paid to the right person at the right time. 

• Misappropriation of assets, resulting in scheme assets not being safeguarded. 

• Other breaches which result in the Fund being poorly governed, managed or administered. 
 
 
 

Page 113



14 
 

The reaction to the breach 
A breach is likely to be of concern and material significance to the Regulator where a breach has been 
identified and those involved: 
 

• do not take prompt and effective action to remedy the breach and identify and tackle its cause 
to minimise risk of recurrence 

• are not pursuing corrective action to a proper conclusion, or 

• fail to notify affected scheme members where it would have been appropriate to do so. 
 

The wider implications of the breach 
Individual’s should also consider the wider implications when deciding whether a breach must be 
reported.  The breach is likely to be of material significance to the Regulator where the fact that a 
breach has occurred makes it more likely that further breaches will occur within the Fund or, if due to 
maladministration by a third party, further breaches will occur in other pension schemes. 
  

Page 114



15 
 

Appendix C – Traffic light framework for deciding whether to report 
The Administering Authority recommends that those responsible for reporting use the traffic light 
framework when deciding whether to report to the Regulator. This is illustrated below: 
 
 

Where the cause, effect, reaction, and wider implications of a breach, when 
considered together, are likely to be of material significance.   

 
These must be reported to the Pensions Regulator.   
 
Example: Several members’ benefits have been calculated incorrectly.  The 
errors have not been recognised and no action has been taken to identify and 
tackle the cause or to correct the errors. 

 
 
 Where the cause, effect, reaction, and wider implications of a breach, when 

considered together, may be of material significance. They might consist of 
several failures of administration that, although not significant in themselves, 
have a cumulative significance because steps have not been taken to put 
things right. 

 
You will need to exercise your own judgement to determine whether the 
breach is likely to be of material significance and should be reported. 

 
Example: Several members’ benefits have been calculated incorrectly. The 
errors have been corrected, with no financial detriment to the members. 
However, the breach was caused by a system error which may have wider 
implications for other public service schemes using the same system. 

 
 
 Where the cause, effect, reaction, and wider implications of a breach, when 

considered together, are not likely to be of material significance.   
 

These should be recorded but do not need to be reported. 
 

Example: A member’s benefits have been calculated incorrectly. This was an 
isolated incident, which has been promptly identified and corrected, with no 
financial detriment to the member. Procedures have been put in place to 
mitigate against this happening again. 

 
All breaches should be recorded even if the decision is not to report. 
When using the traffic light framework individuals should consider the content of the red, amber, and 
green sections for each of the cause, effect, reaction, and wider implications of the breach, before 
considering the four together. Some useful examples of this framework are provided by the Regulator 
at the following link: 
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/codes/code-related-report-breaches.aspx 
Where the cause, effect, reaction, and wider implications of a breach,

AMBER 

GREEN 

RED 

Page 115



 

16 
 

Appendix D - Example breaches log for Pension Committee / Pension Board reporting 

Ref. Date 
entered 
in 
register 

Title of 
Breach and 
date breach 
occurred 
 

Owner of 
breach 
and date 
reviewed 

Third party 
which 
caused the 
breach (if 
any) 

Description 
and cause 
 

Number and 
categories of 
members / 
employers 
affected 

Possible 
effect 
and 
wider 
implications 
 

Action 
already 
taken to 
rectify 
breach  

Assessment 
of breach 
(red/amber/
green) and 
summary of 
rationale 

Reported  
to TPR 
(Yes/No) and 
if yes date 
reported / 
name of 
reporter 

If reported, 
outcome of 
TPR report 

Outstanding 
actions to be 
taken to 
rectify Breach 
(if any) 
 

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

             

 
*New breaches since the previous meeting should be highlighted 
 
 
 
 

P
age 116



 

17 
 

 
Version Control 
 

Date  Author  Description / Changes made  Version 
number  

03/12/2021  Matthew Trebilcock  Original Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund version  

1.0  

 
 

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Pension Board 
19 January 2022 

 

Statement of Administering Authority Discretions Policy 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 

Background 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) and related 
legislation, require an Administering Authority to prepare and keep under review, a written 
statement of its policy in relation to the exercise of its discretion under a number of 
provisions of the Regulations.  
 
There are a number of discretions under the regulations which although not specifically 
requiring a written policy, would benefit from an Administering Authority doing so, thereby 
demonstrating that the Fund will apply these policies equally to all members of the Pension 
Fund, regardless of who their employer is.  
 
 
Statement of Administering Authority Discretions Policy 
The Statement of Administering Authority Discretions for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, 
approved by Committee on 3 December 2021, is attached as appendix 1 to this report. The 
statement has been updated to reflect the current policies of the Fund in line with current 
legislation. 
 
The attached statement provides a description of the discretion within the regulations and 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund policy in relation to that discretion under the following 
areas: 

• key strategies and policies 

• disputes 

• admission agreements and employer management 

• payments relating to death 

• transferring or linking benefits 

• other miscellaneous discretions 

• discretions relating to employers which no longer exist 
 
The statement also covers the discretion required under the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2000 (as amended). 
 
As part of the review, there are two areas that have been materially amended to reflect 
administrative, operational or legislative changes from the previous statement: 
 

• Ref 45 – Abatement of pensions on re-employment (applies to pre 1 April 2014 
retirees only including councillor members) 

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

o This has been amended to reflect the changes to the abatement policy which 
have been approved by Committee on 3 December 2021  

• Ref 12 – 15 
o This has been amended to reflect the operational nature of the admission 

agreements process and reflect the changes in the nature of the employer 
base and the preferred approach to pension arrangement for outsourced 
services. In the future all employer related activities under these discretions 
will be reported back to Pensions Committee and the Pension Board on a 
quarterly basis. 

 
The policies do not give, nor shall they be deemed to give, any contractual rights to any 
member of the Pension Fund, or to any other person whatsoever. Nothing in this attached 
statement will cause the Administering Authority’s capacity to exercise its discretionary 
powers to be unlawfully fettered or restricted in any way. 
 
These discretions will be exercised in line with the provisions of the various LGPS 
Regulations and other legislation.  Nothing within the statement can overwrite the legal 
requirements within those provisions.  
 
  
Review 
The policies within this statement will be reviewed, as required, in the light of future 
changes to the LGPS legislation or other relevant legislation.  They will also be reviewed at 
least every three years. The next review of this statement will be done no later than 
December 2024. 
 
 
Recommendation 
That the Board notes the Statement of Administering Authority Discretions Policy.  
 
 
Contact Officer 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 120



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

Statement of Administering Authority 

Discretions Policy 

v1.0 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Control 
 

Document owner Head of Pensions 

Version Number 1.0 

Date 3 December 2021 

Committee approval 3 December 2021 

Next review due December 2024 

Page 121



2 

  
 

 

Administering Authority statement of discretions policies   

 
Introduction 
  
Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering Authority to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, has 
determined its discretionary policies in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013 (as amended), and related legislation, and these are outlined in this statement.  We will apply these policies 
to all members of the Pension Fund, regardless of who their employer is.  Where relevant, these policies equally 
apply to members who left pensionable service prior to 1 April 2014 (albeit only in relation to discretions 
exercised since the effective date of these policies), to councillor members and to pension credit members. 
  
We updated the content of these policies in December 2021 in line with current legislation. These amended 
policies were approved at the Gloucestershire Pension Committee meeting on 3 December 2021, and are 
effective from that date unless stated otherwise within this document.  
 
We retain the right to change these policies at any time as long as we republish the amended policy at least 
within one month of when the change(s) we are introducing come(s) into effect.  
 
These policies do not give, nor shall they be deemed to give, any contractual rights to any member of the Pension 
Fund, or to any other person whatsoever. Nothing in this document will cause the Administering Authority’s 
capacity to exercise its discretionary powers to be unlawfully fettered or restricted in any way. 
 
We will exercise these discretions in line with the provisions of the various LGPS Regulations and other 
legislation.  Nothing within this statement can overwrite the legal requirements within those provisions. 
 
We will review the policies within this statement as required in the light of future changes to the LGPS legislation 
or other relevant legislation.  It will also be reviewed at least every three years. The next review of this statement 
will be done no later than December 2024. 

 

Page 122



3 

Administering Authority Discretions under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 

 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

 Key Strategies and Policies 

1 R13 - 55 

Publish a Governance Policy stating how 

functions are delegated and whether the 

Administering Authority complies with 

guidance given by the Secretary of State 

A copy of the current Governance Policy 

Statement can be found on the Pension 

Fund's website. 

2 R13 - 58 
Decide on the Funding Strategy for 

inclusion in funding strategy statement 

Agreed in co-operation with actuary and 

in consultation with employers.  A copy 

of the current Funding Strategy 

Statement can be found on the Pension 

Fund's website. 

3 R13 - 61 

Develop a Communication Policy setting 

out how the Administering Authority 

communicates with members, 

representatives of members, prospective 

members and employing authorities and 

the format, frequency and method of 

communications 

A copy of the current Communications 

Policy Statement can be found on the 

Pension Fund's website. 

4 
R13 – 59(1) 
and (2) 

Decide whether to have a written 

Pensions Administration Strategy and, if 

so, the matters it should include 

A copy of the current Pensions 

Administration Strategy can be found on 

the Pension Fund's website. 

5 R13 – 105(2) 

Whether to delegate any Administering 

Authority functions under the 

Regulations 

The Administering Authority does 

delegate certain functions to senior 

officers and to the Pension Committee as 

appropriate.  Details of these are set out 

in the Council’s Constitution and in the 

Governance Policy Statement. 

6 R13 – 106(3) 

Whether to establish a joint local 

pensions board (if approval has been 

granted by the Secretary of State) 

The Administering Authority did not 

establish a joint pension board. 

7 R13 – 106(6) 
Decide procedures applicable to the local 

pensions board 

Procedures have been decided and are 

detailed in the Governance Policy 

Statement and the Board’s Terms of 

Reference. 

Page 123



4 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

8 R13 – 107(1) 

Decide appointment procedures, terms 

of appointment, and membership of the 

local pensions board 

The appointment procedures and terms 

have been decided and are detailed in 

the Governance Policy Statement and the 

Board’s Terms of Reference. The 

membership of the local pension board is 

set out on the County Council’s website. 

Disputes 

9 

R13 – 74(1) 

A58 

R97 - 100 

Appoint a person for dealing with 

applications under Stage One of the 

dispute resolution procedures (IDRP) in 

relation to any disputes relating to the 

role as Administering Authority (includes 

in relation to councillor members) 

The Assistant Director for Legal Services 

will act as the Stage One IDRP 

adjudicator for Administering Authority 

disputes.   

10 

R13 – 76(4) 

A60(8) 

R97 - 99 

Decide the procedure to be followed by 

the Administering Authority when 

exercising its Stage Two IDRP functions 

(includes in relation to councillor 

members) 

Stage 2 determinations are dealt with by 

the Head of Pensions, after obtaining 

relevant advice and guidance. 

11 

R13 – 79(2) 

A63(2) 

R97 – 105(1) 

Whether Administering Authority should 

appeal to the Secretary of State against 

an employer decision (or lack of a 

decision) (includes in relation to 

councillor members). 

The Fund will appeal to the Secretary of 

State when there is sufficient evidence 

that an employer has made a decision or 

committed an act (or failed to act) that is 

both wrong in law and material, where 

we have been unable to persuade the 

employer to alter its actions (or 

inactions).  Such matters will be decided 

by the Head of Pensions. 

Admission Agreements and Employer Management 

12 

R13 – 3(5) 
and Sch 2, 
Part 3, Para 
1  

 

Whether to agree to an admission 

agreement with an external employer. 

Agreement to admission as a scheme 

employer for an admission body will be 

decided by the Head of Pensions, after 

obtaining any relevant advice and 

guidance.  

13 
R13 – Sch2, 
Part 3, Para 
14 

Whether to backdate the effective date 

of an admission agreement with an 

external employer. 

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions, after obtaining any relevant 

advice and guidance.  

14 R13 – 4(2)(b) 

Whether to agree to an admission 

agreement with a Care Trust, NHS 

Scheme employing authority or Care 

Quality Commission 

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions, after obtaining any relevant 

advice and guidance. 

Page 124



5 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

15 

R13 – Sch 2, 
Part 3, para 
9(d) 

 

 

 

 

Whether to terminate a transferee 

admission agreement in the event of  

• insolvency, winding up or 

liquidation of the body 

• breach by that body of its 

obligations under the admission 

agreement 

• failure by that body to pay over 

sums due to the Fund within a 

reasonable period of being 

requested to do so  

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions, after obtaining any relevant 

advice and guidance. 

16 
R13 – Sch 2, 
Part 3, para 
12(a) 

Employees of a contractor are only 

entitled to remain in the LGPS whilst they 

continue to be "employed in connection 

with" the original services that were 

transferred.  This expression should be 

defined by the Administering Authority. 

This is defined as meaning an employee 
will be expected to work at least 75% of 
their time on the services covered by the 
contract to remain in the LGPS.   

17 R13 - 54(1) 
Whether to set up a separate admission 

agreement fund 

The Administering Authority does not 

operate a separate admission agreement 

fund.  

18 R13 – 64(2A) 

Whether to suspend, for up to 3 years, an 

employer’s obligation to pay an exit 

payment where the employer is again 

likely to have active members within the 

specified period of suspension. 

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions, taking into consideration the 

advice of the Fund Actuary.  

19 
R13 – 64 
(2ZAB) 

To determine the amount of any exit 

credit that may be payable to an exiting 

employer, taking into account the factors 

set out in the regulations 

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions, taking into consideration the 

advice of the Fund Actuary – please see 

the Funding Strategy Statement and the 

separate Exit Credit policy for more 

detail. 

20 
R13 – 
64(2ZA) 

Whether to agree to pay an exit credit 

which is payable to an exiting employer, 

beyond six months of the date on which 

that employer ceases to be a Scheme 

employer.  This would be an extension of 

the usual timescale and would only be 

permitted if agreement is also received 

from the exiting employer. 

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions and the exiting employer. 

Page 125



6 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

21 R13 – 64(4)  

Whether to obtain a revision of the rates 

and adjustments certificate if there are 

circumstances that make it likely that a 

Scheme Employer will become an exiting 

employer. 

This will be decided by the Head of 

Pensions – please see the Funding 

Strategy Statement for more detail. 

22 

R13 – 68(2) 

TP14 – Sch 
2, Para 2(3) 

R97 – 80(5) 

 

Whether to require any strain on Fund 

costs to be paid “up front” by an 

employer following redundancy / 

business efficiency retirement, flexible 

retirement, or the waiver (in whole or in 

part) of any actuarial reduction on 

voluntary or flexible retirement.  

Employers are invoiced upfront for all 

strain costs, upon crystallisation of the 

benefits, except in certain circumstances 

as set out in the Funding Strategy 

Statement where payment over 3 years 

is permitted.  

23 

R13 – 
80(1)(b) 

TP14 – 22(1) 

A64(1)(b) 

What information should be supplied by 

employers to enable Administering 

Authority to discharge its functions 

Details are available in the Pension 

Administration Strategy, which can be 

found on the Pension Fund's website. 

24 R13 – 69(1) 

Decide frequency of payment of 

contributions to the Fund by employers 

and whether to make an administration 

charge for late receipt. 

Details are available in the Pension 

Administration Strategy, which can be 

found on the Pension Fund's website. 

25 R13 – 69(4) 

Decide the format and frequency of 

information from employers to 

accompany payments of contributions to 

the Fund 

Details are available in the Pension 

Administration Strategy, which can be 

found on the Pension Fund's website. 

26 
R13 – 70 

TP14 – 22(2)  

Whether to issue an employer with a 

notice to recover additional costs 

incurred as a result of the employer’s 

level of performance 

Details are available in the Pension 

Administration Strategy, which can be 

found on the Pension Fund's website. 

27 R13 – 71(1) 
Whether to charge interest on overdue 

payments by employers  

Interest may be charged on any amount 

overdue by more than one month at one 

percentage point above base rate on a 

day to day basis from the due date to the 

date of payment and compounded with 

three-monthly rests.  

28 

R13 – 36(3)  

A56(2)  

R97 – 97(10) 

 

The Administering Authority is required 

to approve medical advisors used by 

employers (for the determination of ill 

health benefits) (including in relation to 

councillor members). 

Independent Registered Medical 

Practitioners used by employers will be 

accepted as long as the appropriate 

declaration is signed on the ill-health 

retirement certificate.  

Page 126



7 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

Payments relating to Death 

29 

R13 – 82(2) 

A52(2) 

R97 - 95 

 

A death grant due to a scheme member's 

estate can be paid to the personal 

representative(s), or anyone appearing to 

be, without the need for grant of probate 

/ letters of administration if the death 

grant is less than the amount specified in 

any order under Section 6 of the 

Administration of the Estates (Small 

Payments) Act 1965 (£5,000 at the time 

of the making of this policy).  This also 

relates to councillor members. 

Having obtained details of relevant 

documentation, potential beneficiaries 

and circumstances, the Pensions 

Administration Manager will determine 

on behalf of the fund and at the funds 

absolute discretion, to whom payment of 

the death grant is to be made. 

The Fund will not normally insist on 

production of grant of probate / letters 

of administration where the sum due is 

less than £5,000 and will usually make 

payment on completion of an indemnity 

form, subject to circumstances. 

30 

R13 – 
17(12), 
40(2), 43(2) 
& 46(2) 

TP14 – 17(5) 
to (8) 

B23(2), 32(2) 
& 35(2)  

T08Sch1  

R97 - 38(1) 
& 155(4) 

R95 - E8 

The Administering Authority may, at its 

absolute discretion, pay any death grant 

due (including AVCs, SCAVCs and life 

assurance relating to AVCs) to or for the 

benefit of the member’s nominee, 

personal representatives or any person 

appearing to the authority to have been a 

relative or dependent of the member.  

This also relates to councillor members. 

Having obtained details of relevant 

documentation, potential beneficiaries 

and circumstances, the Pensions 

Administration Manager will determine 

on behalf of the fund and at the funds 

absolute discretion, to whom payment of 

the death grant is to be made. 

31 

R13 – Sch 1 

TP14 – 
17(9)(b) 
B25 

 

The Administering Authority must decide 

the evidence required to determine 

financial dependence of a cohabiting 

partner on a scheme member or financial 

interdependence between the cohabiting 

partner and the scheme member.  

The appropriate parties will be provided 

with the details of the evidence required 

to determine financial dependence or 

interdependence. Where required, the 

final decision will be made by the 

Pensions Administration Manager.  

32 

TP14 – 3(6), 
4(6)(c), 8(4), 
10(2)(a), 
17(2)(b) 

B10(2) 

Where a member to whom regulation 

B10 applies (use of average of three years 

pay for final pay purposes) dies before 

making an election, whether to make 

that election on behalf of the deceased 

member. 

The Administering Authority, where it 

has been made aware that regulation 

B10 applies, would make the election on 

behalf of the member to ensure that the 

highest benefits are paid.   

Page 127



8 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

33 

TP14 – 3(6), 
4(6)(c), 8(4), 
10(2)(a) & 
17(2)(b) 

T08 - Sch 1 

R97 - 23(9) 

Whether to make an election on behalf of 

a deceased member who had a certificate 

of protection of pension benefits so their 

benefits may be calculated using the best 

pay figure.  

The Administering Authority, where it 

has been made aware that a certificate 

of protection applies, would make the 

election on behalf of the member to 

ensure that the highest benefits are paid.   

34 

R13 – Sch 1 
"Eligible 
Child" 

TP17(9)  

Whether to treat a child as being in 

continuous education or vocational 

training, despite a break (including a child 

of a councillor member) so that the 

child's pension resumes after the break.  

The fund will cease the pension upon the 

child initially ceasing education.  

Upon the child returning to education 

following a break and after the fund 

having obtained details of the relevant 

circumstances, the Pensions 

Administration Manager will 

subsequently determine on behalf of the 

fund, whether to re-instate the child’s 

pension. 

35 
R97 - 47(1) 

R95 – G11(1) 

How to apportion children’s pension 

amongst eligible children (applies to 

children of leavers between 1st April 1998 

and 31st March 2008 and children of 

councillor members) 

Where there is more than one eligible 

child, the Fund will normally divide the 

child's pension equally between the 

eligible children, with delegated 

authority given to the Pensions 

Administration Manager to determine 

what is appropriate. 

36 

B27(5) 

R97 – 47(2) 

R95 – G11(2)  

Whether to pay the whole or part of a 

child’s pension to another person for the 

benefit of the child (includes children of 

councillor members).  This applies to pre 

1st April 2014 leavers only. 

Where a child is below the age of 18, we 

will normally pay his/her pension to the 

person who has the care of the child, to 

be applied for the benefit of that child.  

This will be decided on a case by case 

basis by the Pensions Administration 

Manager. 

37 R95 - F7 
Whether to suspend spouses’ pensions 

during remarriage or cohabitation. 

The Fund will not suspend survivor’s 

pensions during any period of remarriage 

or cohabitation.  

Transferring or Linking Benefits 

38 
R13 – 
98(1)(b) 

Whether to agree to the payment of a 
bulk transfer 

Bulk transfer terms will be negotiated 

and agreed on a case by case basis in 

consultation with the Fund Actuary and 

the Scheme employer. 

Page 128



9 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

39 R13 – 100(6) 

The Administering Authority (with the 

agreement of the employer) may extend 

the 12 month time limit for a scheme 

member to elect to transfer in benefits 

from a non-local government pension 

scheme or personal pension plan. 

The employer can extend with the 

agreement of the Administering 

Authority providing this is not of financial 

detriment to the Fund or employer.  The 

Administering Authority decision will be 

made by the Head of Pensions. 

40 R13 – 100(7) 
Whether to allow transfers of pension 

rights into the Fund 

The Fund will allow transfers in within 12 

months from the date of joining the fund 

unless maladministration has occurred 

when consideration will be given to 

extending that time period (see above).  

41 
TP14 – 
15(1)(d)  
& A28(2)  

Whether to charge a scheme member for 

the provision of an estimate of the 

additional pension that would be 

provided in the Fund in return for a 

transfer in of in house AVC/SCAVC funds 

(only applies where the arrangement was 

entered into before 1st April 2014) 

Scheme members may request one 

quote per financial year that is provided 

free of charge.  In the exceptional case 

that a further quote is requested by the 

same member, we reserve the right to 

impose an administration charge on the 

scheme member. The decision as to 

whether to impose a charge will be made 

on a case by case basis by the Pensions 

Administration Manager. 

42 TP14 – 10(9) 

Where a deferred member also has 

ongoing multiple concurrent 

employments, the member may be able 

to choose which employment the 

deferred benefits are aggregated with. 

We can decide this where the member 

does not make their own election within 

12 months. 

Where the member does not make a 

decision, the Fund will aggregate benefits 

in the way that appears most beneficial 

to the member, which is usually 

aggregating to the highest paid post or 

main employment.  

43 R97 - 118 

Whether the Fund will retain the 

Contributions Equivalent Premium (CEP) 

where a scheme member transfers out to 

a contracted in pension scheme (for 

councillor members and pre 1.4.08. 

leavers)  

The Fund will retain the CEP in these 

circumstances.  

 

Other Miscellaneous Discretions 

44 
R97 – 
106A(5) 

The date to which benefits shown on 

deferred Annual Benefit Statements are 

calculated 

All annual benefit statements will be 

calculated as at the 31st March 

preceding their distribution. 

Page 129



10 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

45 

TP14 – 3(13) 

A70(1) & 
A71(4(c)  

T08 – 12 

R97 – 109 & 
110(4)(b) 

Abatement of pensions on re-

employment (applies to pre 1 April 2014 

retirees only including councillor 

members) 

The Fund will not abate pensions on re-

employment.  

46 
R13 – 

22(3)(c) 

The pension account may be kept in such 

form as is considered appropriate 

Pension accounts will be kept in the 

format specified by the Fund’s pensions 

administration software provider.  

47 
R13 – 83 

A52A 

An Administering Authority may 

determine how and to whom benefits 

may be paid if the recipient is incapable 

of managing their affairs by reason of 

mental disorder or otherwise 

In these circumstances we may decide to 

pay some or all of the benefit to 

someone else to be applied for the 

benefit of the scheme member. The 

Pensions Administration Manager will 

decide these matters on a case by case 

basis. 

48 R13 – 16(1) 

Whether to turn down a request to pay 

an APC/SCAPC by regular contributions 

over a period of time where it would be 

impractical to allow such a request, for 

example, due to the pension being 

bought resulting in very small payments 

We will not normally decline a request 

unless an employer asks us to and, if an 

employer does so, the Pensions 

Administration Manager will decide 

whether to decline the request. 

49 R13 – 16(10) 

Whether to require a satisfactory medical 

before agreeing to an application to pay 

an APC or  SCAPC, and whether to turn 

down the application if not satisfied that 

the member is in reasonably good health. 

Any scheme member wishing to 

purchase additional pension via an 

APC/SCAPC by paying regular 

contributions will be required to undergo 

a medical examination. 

50 R13 – 32(7) 

A scheme member wishing to receive 

benefits other than at normal pension 

age, or on flexible retirement, must elect 

to do so within certain time limits.  The 

Administering Authority may extend 

these time limits. 

The Administering Authority will extend 

these time limits.   

51 

TP14 – 
15(1)(c) 

T08 - Sch1  

& R97 - 
83(5) 

Whether to extend the time period for a 

scheme member electing to capitalise 

remaining contributions to an added 

years contract in cases of redundancy 

We expect any elections to be made 

within the time limits in the regulations.  

However, the time limit may be extended 

by the Pensions Administration Manager 

depending on the circumstances of the 

case.  

Page 130



11 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

52 

R13 – 34(1) 

B39 

T08 - 14(3) 

R97 – 49 & 
156 

The Administering Authority may 

commute small pensions into a lump sum 

where they are below nationally 

prescribed limits.  

The Administering Authority will not 

commute small pensions into a lump 

sum. 

53 

R13 – 
49(1)(c) 

B42(1)(c) 

Decide, in the absence of an election 

from the scheme member, which benefit 

is to be paid where the member would be 

entitled to a benefit under two or more 

regulations in respect of the same period 

of Scheme membership 

These will be decided on a case by case 

basis by the Pensions Administration 

Manager and the decision will usually be 

to award the highest benefit.  

54 R97 - 147 

Whether to permit a Pension Credit to 

remain in the Fund or require a transfer 

out   

Pension Credit benefits will remain in the 

Fund unless an election to transfer-out is 

received from the Pension Credit 

member.  

55 
R97 - 50 and 
157 

Whether to commute benefits due to 

exceptional ill-health (applies to 

councillor members and pre 1st April 2008 

leavers only) 

The Fund will provide a member with the 

option to commute to a lump sum 

payment in lieu of a pension where 

evidence of exceptional ill-health is 

received and the fund has been informed 

by the employer that the member has 

been made aware of the exceptional ill-

health criteria. 

56 

 

R97 - 91(6)  

 

The Administering Authority may 

determine the timing of pension increase 

payments by employers to Fund (applies 

to pre 1st April 2008 leavers only) 

Pension increase payments made on 

behalf of the employers will be recharged 

on a quarterly basis. 

Discretions relating to employers which no longer exist 

57 

R13 – 38(3) 
& 38(6) 

B31(4) and 
31(7) 

A former employer must decide whether 

a deferred member meets the criteria for 

permanent ill health.  This also applies to 

a scheme member who was formerly in 

receipt of Tier 3 ill-health benefits.  The 

Administering Authority may decide this 

if that employer no longer exists.   

The Administering Authority will make a 

decision based on the medical evidence. 

The decision will be made by the Head of 

Pensions. 

Page 131



12 

Ref 

Regulation 
Reference 
(see key at 
end) 

Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

58 
TP14 – Sch 
2, Paras 1(2) 
and 2(2) 

An employer can choose to allow rule of 

85 protections to apply to a scheme 

member’s benefits on voluntary 

retirement. In doing this some or all of 

the early retirement reduction would not 

apply.  This provision can only apply to 

scheme members who have reached age 

55.   The Administering Authority may 

decide this if that employer no longer 

exists. 

The Fund will not normally allow the rule 

of 85 protections to apply on voluntary 

retirement. The Head of Pensions will 

decide these matters on a case by case 

basis.  

59 

TP14 – 3(1), 
Sch 2, Paras 
2(1) and 2(2) 

B30(5) and 
30A(5) 

An employer can choose whether to 

waive on compassionate grounds any 

reduction to benefits that might 

otherwise apply. This can also apply to 

former Tier 3 Ill-Health members. The 

Administering Authority may decide this 

if that employer no longer exists.   

Where the employer no longer exists, the 

decision whether to waive actuarial 

reductions on compassionate grounds 

will be made by the Head of Pensions 

and each case will be considered on its 

merits.     

60 R13 – 30(8) 

An employer can choose to waive, in 

whole or in part, any reduction that 

might otherwise apply to that scheme 

member’s benefits on flexible retirement.  

The Administering Authority may decide 

this if that employer no longer exists. 

The Fund will not normally waive any 

actuarial reductions in flexible retirement 

cases. The Head of Pensions will decide 

these matters on a case by case basis.     

61 R13 – 30(8) 

An employer can choose to waive, in 

whole or in part, any early retirement 

reduction that might otherwise apply to a 

scheme member’s benefits on voluntary 

retirement.  These provisions only apply 

to scheme members who have reached 

age 55.  The Administering Authority may 

decide this if that employer no longer 

exists. 

The Fund will not normally waive any 

actuarial reductions in retirement cases. 

The Head of Pensions will decide these 

matters on a case by case basis.        

 

  

Page 132



13 

 

Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination 
of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended) 

Ref 
Regulation 

Reference  
Description of Discretion Gloucestershire Pension Fund Policy   

62 31(2) 

Where an employer terminates employment 

early, the Administering Authority may agree 

to pay compensation on behalf of employer 

from the Fund and recharge payments to 

employer 

The Administering Authority will pay 

compensation on behalf of the 

employer from the Fund and 

recharge payments to the employer. 

 

 

*Key to Regulation References: 

• R13 – The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 

• TP14 – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 

• A – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 

• B – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 
2007 

• T08 – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008  

• R97 – The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 

• R95 - The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995 

*Note that references to old provisions (e.g. R97) generally apply in relation to scheme members who left under 

those provisions. 

 

Version Control 
 

Date  Author  Description / Changes made  Version 

number  

03/12/2021  Matthew Trebilcock  Original Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund version  

1.0  

 

 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Gloucestershire Pension 

Fund 
Pension Arrangements for Outsourced Services:   
Potential use of “pass-through” 

November 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Julie West 

  

Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries  

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021 
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-
THROUGH PAPER.DOCX 

 

Contents 
 

Pension Arrangements for Outsourced Services: Potential use of “pass-through Page 

 
1 Addressee and purpose 2 
2 Background and changing landscape across LGPS 2 
3 Risk comparison of traditional and pass-through approach 3 
4 Approach to setting contribution rates 5 
5 How does the awarding authority decide whether or not to offer risk sharing? 6 
6 Implementing pass-through 7 
7 Recommendations and next steps 7 
8 Reliances and limitations (including compliance with professional standards) 8 

 

 

Appendix – Case Studies 9 
 

 

Page 136



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 002 
 

1 Addressee and purpose 

Addressee  

This paper is addressed to the Gloucestershire County Council in its capacity as the Administering Authority of 

the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”). It has been prepared by Hymans Robertson LLP in our capacity 

as actuaries to the Fund. 

Purpose 

We understand the Fund would like to understand the potential risks and impacts of setting a default approach 

of offering ‘pass-through’ to all of its related outsourcings.  The purpose of this paper is to set out the principles 

of the admission body risk sharing route known as “pass-through” and provide a comparison of the risks 

between this and the traditional admission route. It also sets out the possible contribution rate approaches and 

next steps to consider for implementation. 

2 Background and changing landscape across LGPS 

Background 

There are a number of approaches for awarding authorities to outsource a service to a contractor.  In the past, 

the traditional approach has been for the awarding authority to pass the pensions risk and costs to the 

contractor and in return the contractor receives assets such that at commencement they are fully funded. The 

contractor’s contribution rate will vary over time, and at the end of the contract they will either have to pay a 

cessation debt or potentially benefit from an exit credit at the Fund’s discretion.  

However, risk sharing is becoming more common in LGPS funds as contractors become more aware of pension 

risk and the financial consequence of adverse experience whilst participating in funds. Under these agreements, 

the awarding authority would agree to retain some of the pension risks that would have transferred to the 

contractor under the traditional approach. In essence, this means limiting (or even removing) potential variation 

in contribution rates, and possibly limiting (or even removing) the degree of any cessation debt / exit credit.  

We are also aware that procuring a bond is becoming more difficult (or impossible) for contractors.  Pass-

through may eliminate the requirement for a bond to be obtained (subject to agreement from the awarding 

authority).  

The pass-through approach 

A number of different approaches can be taken in offering risk sharing agreements between the awarding 

authority and a contractor.  However, as mentioned above, this paper focuses on the agreement known as 

‘pass-through’. The defining feature of a pass-through arrangement is to pass significantly less pension risk onto 

the contractor, in order to reduce the volatility of the contractor’s costs of participation.  The consequence is that 

more of the pension risk remains with the awarding authority.  By passing less of the pension risks to the 

contractor, the awarding authority should expect more competitive bids as less uncertainty needs to be ‘priced 

into’ quotes. 

Impact of regulation changes  

Regulatory changes have changed the risk profile when outsourcing a service.  Traditionally, at the end of a 

contract, the awarding authority who is assumed to act as guarantor; 

• faced the risk that the contractor was in deficit and unable to meet the cost of any exit payment required 

by the Fund.  In this circumstance, the responsibility for meeting this payment falls to the awarding 

authority; and  

Page 137



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 003 
 

• had the upside potential in the case where the contractor is in surplus.  Any surplus at the end of the 

contract would transfer back to the awarding authority. 

Regulatory changes in 2018 and 2020, which introduced “exit credits”, removed the upside potential in a 

traditional outsourcing arrangement, as the Fund is now required to refund a surplus (if one exists) to the 

contractor on exit from the Fund - subject to new Fund discretions on the level of “exit credit” paid.   

Under a pass-through arrangement, the awarding authority usually agrees to cover most pension fund risks.  As 

a result, the risk of a deficit emerging usually remains with the awarding authority (so there would be no 

obligation for the contractor to meet any potential deficit at the end of the contract).  However, it would also 

enable the awarding authority to keep the upside potential of an emerging surplus. This arrangement (that any 

deficit or surplus on cessation would pass back to the awarding authority with some exclusions – see section on 

what risks should not be shared) would need to be detailed in either the contract for services, a side-letter or the 

contractor’s admission agreement to the Fund. 

3 Risk comparison of traditional and pass-through approach 

There are a number of pros and cons of the traditional approach to pensions provisions when outsourcing 

versus those under pass-through which are set out below. We consider these separately from the perspective of 

the awarding authority, contractor, and Fund. A couple of case studies are also included in the Appendix 

comparing the traditional and pass-through approaches in the situation where there is (a) a deficit and (b) a 

surplus arising on cessation.  

(i) Contractor’s perspective 

Traditional approach Pass-through approach 

+  May benefit from a surplus at the end of the 

contract by way of an exit credit if experience is 

favourable. 

-  May have to pay a pensions debt at the end of the 

contract if a deficit exists (due to unfavourable 

experience). 

-  Variable ongoing contribution rates so cost volatility 

may be high. 

-  Likely have to pay a higher ongoing contribution 

rate when assessed as a stand-alone employer of 

lower covenant than the awarding authority. 

- Required to prepare FRS102 accounting disclosures 

typically adding to its balance sheet provisions. 

-  Likely have to pay for actuarial reports (opening 

position, FRS102, cessation). 

-  Cost of legal fees and risk of exposure to pension 

issues such as death of an active member if an 

admission agreement has not been concluded by the 

start date of the contract. 

+  Stable, potentially lower, ongoing 

contributions. 

+    Much reduced risk of pension cost volatility. 

+  No cessation debt payable on exit at end of 

contract. 

+ No need for annual FRS102 disclosures / added 

balance sheet provision. 

+  More easily protects transferring members’ 

statutory pension rights, as admission is more 

straightforward. This stops potential issues such as 

a death of an active member being treated as a 

death of a deferred member, where no finalised 

admission agreement is in place. 

-  No benefit of good experience (not entitled to any 

surplus at end of contract). 

 

Page 138



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 004 
 

 

 

(ii) Awarding Authority’s perspective 

Traditional approach Pass-through approach 

+  Contractors take the risk of adverse market / 

membership experience for duration of contract (i.e. 

contractor responsible for any deficit that has 

emerged over the course of the contract). 

-     Contractors may “price high” for the contract, or 

not bid at all, meaning less competitive tenders: it 

could be less attractive for them to bid due to 

potential variability of those rates following each 

formal actuarial valuation, and due to the potential 

for a cessation debt at the end of the contract. 

-  Issues arise where the contractor cannot afford the 

deficit at the end of the contract (Awarding 

Authority may be asked to cover the deficit 

anyway as the guarantor of last resort). 

-  Considerable internal administration time and 

cost spent on dealing with pensions 

issues/admission agreements (as well as 

actuarial/legal advice being sought). 

-  As the Awarding Authority has statutory 

responsibility to ensure pension protection is in 

place when TUPE transfer takes place, if the 

Admission Agreement is not concluded they would 

be tied to resolving issues in the interim such as the 

death of an active member. 

+  Should lead to lower contract prices as more 

certainty of pension costs for bidding contractors. 

+    More competitive tenders as more bidders 

encouraged to respond to tender (due to more 

certainty over pensions costs).  

+  Awarding Authority retains benefit of any 

pension surplus at the end of the contract. 

+  Less risk of bad publicity if employer defaults. 

+  More straightforward admissions process 

potentially with one contribution rate payable for 

all new contracts saving on actuarial costs. 

+  It is the Awarding Authority’s responsibility to 

ensure pension protection to transferring 

members. A pass-through route should reduce 

risks such as death of an active member 

occurring before a winning bidder is admitted to 

the Fund and the associated additional time and 

costs due to legal issues to resolve and 

potentially time consuming IDRPs. 

-  Risk of increased deficit if experience is adverse 

as the risk of a deficit emerging is not transferred 

to the contractor, it stays with the Awarding 

Authority. 

-  Potential additional work/cost to monitor the 

risks that are passed to the contractor 

(excessive salary awards, early retirement strains, 

augmentations, non-statutory transfers-in). 

 

(iii) Fund’s perspective  

The Fund is protected under either approach as the awarding authority would act as guarantor of last result 

under the traditional route and explicitly as guarantor under the pass-through route.  

However, pass-through offers several administrative benefits compared to traditional agreements: 

• Simplified approach to admitting new bodies (lesser need to liaise with actuaries, template admission 

agreements need less manipulation);  

Page 139



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 005 
 

• Reduced requirement for a bond which we are aware can be challenging for contractors in the current 

environment (awarding authorities may still wish the contractor to obtain a bond to cover redundancy 

risk); 

• Simplified approach on cessation; and 

• Removes the administration burden and risks associated with making a determination of the level of exit 

credit to be paid to a contractor if there is a surplus at the end of a contract (subject to any 

representations made by the contractor or awarding authority to the contrary. 

What risks should not be shared? 

Pass-through usually covers the majority of pension risks including market risks.  However, where the contractor 

can materially change the liabilities (pensions) of their members, we suggest these risks should continue to lie 

with the contractor and should not be shared. These typically relate to strains arising due to: 

• excessive salary growth (i.e. this could be anything in excess of a fixed amount, in line with Council policy 

or an index such as Average Weekly Earnings); 

• early payment of benefit on unreduced terms, e.g. on redundancy (but excluding ill-health*); and 

• augmentation of benefits. 

*The awarding authority would usually retain the risk of ill-health early retirements, although this risk can be mitigated by taking out 

insurance from an external provider (as the Fund currently does for the majority of its employers, although notably Gloucestershire County 

Council do not benefit from this policy).   

We strongly advise the above risks should remain with the contracting employer and should be documented in 

the contract for services, a side letter or the contractor’s admission agreement with the Fund. This should detail 

which risks are being retained by the awarding authority and which risks are retained by the contractor. 

4 Approach to setting contribution rates 

Under the traditional approach the contractor simply pays the contribution rate arising from the triennial 

valuation or other reviews, which is calculated as per the approach set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy 

Statement (FSS).  

However, under a pass-through arrangement, the contractor may pay a number of possible contribution rates.  

Under a pass-through arrangement, the contribution rate may be: 

• set equal at all time with reference to the awarding authority’s contribution rate; or 

• fixed (at a single rate regardless of the valuation rate for the duration of the contract); or 

• capped (the valuation rate subject to an upper, but no lower, rate); or  

• collared (the valuation rate subject to a minimum and maximum level); or 

• the variable cost of benefits accruing calculated based on the contractor’s own membership. 

If the rate the contractor is paying under a fixed or restricted arrangement is less than the amount the Fund 

requires to fund these liabilities under the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS), the Fund may require the 

Awarding Authority to make good the difference to the Fund (i.e. on a monthly basis).  

Page 140



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 006 
 

Please note that we are assuming that the Fund would propose to adopt ‘simple’ pass-through arrangements 

(i.e. an arrangement where the awarding authority retains responsibility for liabilities on all of the service earned 

by members, both transferring past service and service accrued during the contract period).   

A ‘complex’ pass-through arrangement is possible where responsibility for the service is split between awarding 

authority and contractor, usually with the awarding authority taking on responsibility for past service liabilities at 

date of transfer and the contractor for liabilities that accrue on service earned during the contract period.  

However, this is significantly more complex to administer and would incur additional actuarial fees.  

5 How does the awarding authority decide whether or not to 
offer risk sharing? 

We understand that the Fund would like to propose “pass-through” as the standard approach for new admission 

agreements.  However, it is possible to consider the most appropriate route to admission depending on the 

circumstances of the particular outsourcing. Typically a risk sharing or pass-through arrangement is suited to 

small contractors on short term contracts as there is less financial impact for the awarding authority in adverse 

markets and less time for markets to be volatile; there are also benefits in avoiding some of the administrative 

and actuarial processes and costs which may be disproportionate for such small cases.  However, we are 

aware of larger contracts within the Gloucestershire Pension Fund that operate using “pass-through” 

arrangements. 

In the event that the circumstances of each admission were considered, factors that feed into the decision 

making process include: 

• the awarding authority’s attitude to risk e.g. if risk averse then more elements of the traditional approach 

may be desirable. It may wish to transfer as much risk as possible away or take the view that if the 

outsourcing had not happened it would have had the risk anyway and are therefore happy to retain risk 

(particularly in respect of pensions built up by members prior to the transfer to the new contractor); 

• the extent to which the prospective contractor intends to price pension risks and costs into the contract; 

• the size of the liabilities associated with the outsourcing relative to the size of the awarding authority’s 

liabilities (and the cumulative position should this approach apply to most of the awarding authority’s 

outsourcings); 

• the financial strength (covenant) of the contractor; 

• market conditions at the time of the outsourcing; 

• the length of the contract period – the longer it is, the more room there is for risks/costs to increase; and 

• preferences of bidders e.g. bidders may request fixed rate deals. 

If the awarding authority decides to adopt risk sharing, it will need to think about the level at which the risks are 

shared and the price charged to the contractor for allowing risk sharing to happen.   

For large contracts, we would recommend seeking additional advice on the risks of pass-through to ensure the 

awarding authority is comfortable with the level of risks being retained.  Similarly, large outsourcings to a 

contractor where the admission agreements are closed can have cashflow and contribution rate implications.  

We would strongly recommend seeking additional actuarial advice for large outsourcings.  

  

Page 141



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 007 
 

6 Implementing pass-through  

As set out above, it is important to document all of the risk sharing arrangements.  These may be included in the 

contractor’s admission agreement to the Fund, or may also be included in either the services contract or a side 

agreement.  Any agreement will need to be carefully drafted to ensure that it is clear from the outset: 

• exactly what risks are being retained by the awarding authority;  

• the specific treatment of costs arising as a result of actions by the contractor; 

• who is responsible for future deficits and surpluses; 

• what happens at the end of the contract; 

• what happens if the contractor fails; 

• who pays what to whom in terms of contributions, including the amounts and timings of contributions 

payable to the Fund; and 

• what is the pension provision for new entrants. 

Where the awarding authority has implemented pass-through arrangements, it should ensure that it keeps track 

of all the “retained risks” from those arrangements and that they are appropriately allowed for at valuation and 

accounting exercises.  It should also share these with the Fund: this will be crucial at triennial valuation time (so 

that the contractors’ contribution rates are considered appropriately) and on cessation (so that a cessation debt 

or exit credit is not levied on the contractor/Fund respectively). 

In addition, the awarding authority may wish to draft and publish its policy on the approach to pass-through to 

ensure all departments, LEA schools and potential bidders are fully aware of how the pensions aspects of 

outsourcing will be dealt with. Note that we have been made aware that academies should make the 

Department for Education aware where any pass-through arrangements are agreed due to the nature of 

the guarantee offered to academy schools. 

7 Recommendations and next steps 

Pass-through is becoming more common in LGPS funds as contractors become more aware of pension risk and 

the financial consequences of adverse experience whilst participating in funds. The most competitive contract 

price is likely to be achieved if a contractor is offered pass-through.  Recent market conditions and changes in 

the Regulatory environment on the ability to repay surpluses make pass-through a more attractive offering for 

awarding authorities. However, this brings added risks.  

Our recommended approach is an arrangement where:  

• the main pension risk (the liabilities and assets) effectively remain with the awarding authority; 

• all new contractors pay a specified contribution rate during their participation in Fund which should be 

agreed between the admission body and the awarding authority. The Fund may wish to set a minimum 

acceptable specified contribution rate e.g. the awarding authority’s primary rate.   

• the contractor is held to account for any costs associated with employer driven decisions (excessive pay 

awards and early retirement strains);  

• there is consideration and advice taken by the awarding authority on whether pass-through remains 

appropriate for particularly large contracts; and 

Page 142



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 008 
 

• the arrangement should be clearly documented via the admission agreement, the services contract or a 

side agreement between the awarding authority and contractor. Either way, the Fund needs to be aware 

of all agreements.  

Ultimately, it is for the awarding authority to decide whether and when it wishes to utilise pass-through for future 

outsourcings rather than the Fund.  However, a consistent policy will ensure processes at the awarding authority 

and the Fund will be as efficient as possible. 

8 Reliances and limitations (including compliance with 
professional standards) 

This paper has been requested by and is provided to Gloucestershire County Council, in its capacity as 

Administering Authority to the Fund. Its purpose is to consider options for pass-through admission agreements.  

It should not be used for any other purpose.  It should not be released or otherwise disclosed to any third party 

except as required by law or with my prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its entirety. 

Hymans Robertson LLP accepts no liability where this is used for any other purpose or to any other party unless 

we have expressly accepted such liability. 

The figures quoted in the appendix to this paper are intended to demonstrate, at a high level, the financial 

impact of adopting a simple pass-through approach.  

This paper proportionately complies with Technical Actuarial Standards 100 and 300.  It should be read in 

conjunction with the 2019 Fund valuation report and the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement. 

 

 

Julie West FFA 

5 November 2021 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

 

 

  

Page 143



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 009 
 

Appendix – Case Studies 
Case study 1  

This contractor was set up on a fully funded basis on 1 September 2014 and ceased on 17 August 2019.  In this 

case a deficit arose on cessation. 

At end of contract: 

Value of liabilities relating to past service at the cessation date = £103k 

Value of assets relating to past service at the cessation date = £79k 

 

Outcome under a traditional arrangement: 

These liabilities and assets are the responsibility of the contractor and the appropriate accounting values are 

included on the contractor’s balance sheet throughout the duration of the contract. 

Contribution rates for the contractor could have varied over time as market conditions, membership experience 

and deficit/surpluses change over the duration of the contract (in this instance, we maintained rates at a 

constant level of 25.7% throughout their participation). 

Cessation deficit attributable to the contractor at the end of the contract = £79k - £103k = £24k 

Cessation debt payable by the contractor = £24k 

The liabilities and assets (including any deficit payment recovered from the contractor) would revert to the 

Awarding Authority’s portion of the Fund on cessation. 

Outcome under a pass-through arrangement: 

These liabilities and assets remain with the Awarding Authority and the appropriate accounting values are 

included on the Awarding Authority’s balance sheet throughout the duration of the contract. 

The employer would have paid a fixed contribution rate throughout the contract (they would have known this 

during the tendering exercise). 

Cessation deficit attributable to the Awarding Authority at the end of the contract = £79k - £103k = £24k (in 

practice, this would be dependent on the fixed rate that would have applied during the contract period). 

Cessation deficit payable by the contractor = £0k 

As these liabilities have never left the Awarding Authority, no cessation payment is due from the Awarding 

Authority.  The deficit arising at the end of the contract is funded by the Awarding Authority alongside its other 

liabilities.  However, a check would be carried out to ensure the contractor has met the conditions of the pass-

through arrangement (such as paying all its due contributions, not awarding excessive pay awards) which could 

precipitate a top-up from the contractor. 

  

Page 144



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

November 2021  
HTTPS://HYMANSROBERTSONLIVE.SHAREPOINT.COM/SITES/WRK-33270-2021/SHARED DOCUMENTS/211105 GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND - PASS-THROUGH 

PAPER.DOCX 010 
 

Case study 2  

This contractor was set up on a fully funded basis on 1 June 2012 and ceased on 25 June 2020.  In this case a 

surplus arose on cessation. 

At end of contract: 

Value of liabilities relating to past service at the cessation date = £13k 

Value of assets relating to past service at the cessation date = £30k 

 

Outcome under a traditional arrangement: 

These liabilities and assets are the responsibility of the contractor and the appropriate accounting values are 

included on the contractor’s balance sheet throughout the duration of the contract. 

Contribution rates for the contractor varied from 26.2% to 11.9% over time as market conditions, membership 

experience and deficit/surpluses changed over the duration of the contract. 

Cessation surplus attributable to the contractor at the end of the contract = £30k - £13k = £17k 

Exit credit potentially payable to the contractor = £17k 

Assuming the exit credit is then paid, the liabilities (£13k) and assets (£13k also, i.e. the £30k less the £17k exit 

credit payment out of the Fund) would then fall back to the Awarding Authority. 

Outcome under a pass-through arrangement: 

These liabilities and assets remain with the Awarding Authority and the appropriate accounting values are 

included on the Awarding Authority’s balance sheet throughout the duration of the contract. 

Contribution rates for the contractor would have been fixed throughout the contract period instead of varying. 

Cessation surplus attributable to the Awarding Authority at the end of the contract = £30k - £13k = £17k (in 

practice, this would be dependent on the fixed rate that would have applied during the contract period). 

Exit credit payable to the contractor = £0k* 

*As the Awarding Authority retained the pension risks, the Fund would likely determine that no exit credit would 

be due to be paid to the contractor; however for LGPS regulatory reasons the Fund would strictly speaking need 

to formally decide this on a case-by-case basis.   

The surplus arising at the end of the contract is included alongside the Awarding Authority’s other assets and 

liabilities.  However, a check would be carried out to ensure the contractor has met the conditions of the pass-

through arrangement (such as paying all its due contributions, not awarding excessive pay awards) which could 

precipitate a top-up from the contractor. 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Pension Board 
19 January 2022 

 

Proposals for Pension Arrangements for Outsourced Services 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 

 
Summary 
This report, presented to Committee on 3 December 2021, looked to set the Funds 
preferred solution regarding the pension arrangements for outsourced services. The 
previous options were documented within the Funding Strategy Statement, but with no 
guidance on the Fund’s preferred approach. Hymans Robertson in their capacity as actuary 
to the Fund, prepared a comprehensive paper, attached as appendix 1, to assist the Fund 
in understanding the principles of the admission body risk sharing route known as “pass-
through” and provide a comparison of the risks between this and the traditional (current) 
admission route. It also sets out the possible contribution rate approaches and next steps 
to consider for implementation. 
 
 
Background  
There are a number of approaches for awarding authorities to outsource a service to a 
contractor. The traditional (current) approach has been for the awarding authority to pass 
the pensions risk and costs to the contractor and in return the contractor receives assets 
such that at commencement they are fully (100%) funded. The contractor’s contribution 
rate will vary over time, and at the end of the contract they will either have to pay a 
cessation debt or potentially benefit from an exit credit at the Fund’s discretion.  
 
However, risk sharing is becoming more common in LGPS funds as contractors become 
more aware of pension risk and the financial consequence of adverse experience whilst 
participating in funds. Under these agreements, the awarding authority would agree to 
retain some of the pension risks that would have transferred to the contractor under the 
traditional approach. In essence, this means limiting (or even removing) potential variation 
in contribution rates, and possibly limiting (or even removing) the degree of any cessation 
debt / exit credit.  
 
 
The pass-through approach  
A number of different approaches can be taken in offering risk sharing agreements 
between the awarding authority and a contractor. The attached paper focuses on the 
agreement known as ‘pass-through’. The defining feature of a pass-through arrangement 
is to pass significantly less pension risk onto the contractor, in order to reduce the volatility 
of the contractor’s costs of participation. The consequence is that more of the pension risk 
remains with the awarding authority but by passing less of the pension risks to the 
contractor, the awarding authority should expect more competitive bids. 

Page 147



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 
Impact of regulation changes  
Regulatory changes have changed the risk profile when outsourcing a service. Traditionally, 
at the end of a contract, the awarding authority who is assumed to act as guarantor; 
  

• faced the risk that the contractor was in deficit and unable to meet the cost of any 
exit payment required by the Fund. In this circumstance, the responsibility for 
meeting this payment falls to the awarding authority; and  

• had the upside potential in the case where the contractor is in surplus. Any surplus 
at the end of the contract would transfer back to the awarding authority. 

 
Regulatory changes in 2018 and 2020, which introduced “exit credits”, removed the upside 
potential in a traditional outsourcing arrangement, as the Fund is now required to refund a 
surplus (if one exists) to the contractor on exit from the Fund - subject to the Funds 
discretions on the level of “exit credit” paid. 
 
Under a pass-through arrangement, the awarding authority usually agrees to cover most 
pension fund risks. As a result, the risk of a deficit emerging usually remains with the 
awarding authority (so there would be no obligation for the contractor to meet any potential 
deficit at the end of the contract). However, it would also enable the awarding authority to 
keep the upside potential of an emerging surplus.  

 
The attached paper provided a risk comparison of the traditional and pass through approach 
from the perspectives of the awarding authority, contractor and Fund. 
 
In the case of the Fund, it is protected under either approach as the awarding authority 
would act as guarantor of last result under the traditional (current) route and explicitly as 
guarantor under the pass-through route.  
 
However, pass-through offers several administrative benefits compared to traditional 
agreements:  

• Simplified approach to admitting new bodies (lesser need to liaise with actuaries, 
template admission agreements need less manipulation);  

• Reduced requirement for a bond which we are aware can be challenging for 
contractors in the current environment (awarding authorities may still wish the 
contractor to obtain a bond to cover redundancy risk); 

• Simplified approach on cessation; and 

• Removes the administration burden and risks associated with making a 
determination of the level of exit credit to be paid to a contractor if there is a surplus 
at the end of a contract. 

 
The attached paper also discussed the approach to setting contribution rates, what risks 
should not be shared, the options that would remain open to the awarding authority on 
determining whether to utilize the proposed new standard approach or other options, 
depending on the size and circumstances of a particular outsourcing. 
 
 

Page 148



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 
Proposals and next steps  
Pass-through is becoming more common in LGPS funds and we have already had multiple 
requests from new contractors to be admitted on this basis. Recent market conditions and 
changes in the Regulatory environment on the ability to repay surpluses make pass-through 
a more attractive offering for awarding authorities.  
  
Our approach approved by Committee on 3 December 2021 is a preferred arrangement 
where:  
 

• the main pension risk (the liabilities and assets) effectively remain with the awarding 
authority;  

• all new contractors pay a specified contribution rate during their participation in the 
Fund, which should be agreed between the admission body and the awarding 
authority. The minimum level allowable will be no lower than the awarding 
authority’s primary rate applicable at the time of the awarding of the contract.  

• the contractor is held to account for any costs associated with employer driven 
decisions (excessive pay awards and early retirement strains);  

• there is consideration and advice taken by the awarding authority on whether pass-
through remains appropriate for particularly large contracts; and  

 

• the arrangement should be clearly documented via the admission agreement, the 
services contract or a side agreement between the awarding authority and 
contractor. Either way, the Fund needs to be aware of all agreements.  
 

Ultimately, it is for the awarding authority to decide whether and when it wishes to utilise 
pass-through for future outsourcings rather than the Fund. However, a consistent policy will 
ensure processes at the awarding authority and the Fund will be as efficient as possible. 
 
 
Employer communication 
A communication exercise targeted at the relevant employers, will be undertaken by officers 
and the Actuary in Q1 2022 now that the proposal to adopt pass-through as the Funds 
preferred option for future outsourcings has been agreed. This communication exercise will 
include a full explanation of the pass-through approach, the risk and benefits of the 
approach, as well as things that should be considered as part of an outsourcing as well as a 
revised process guide for awarding authority to follow. 
 
As part of the formal valuation process, the Funding Strategy Statement will be reviewed 
and will state that pass-through is the preferred approach to employer outsourcings.  The 
Funds actuary has confirmed that the adoption of the pass-through approach is permitted 
within the current FSS, therefore, there is no requirement at this time for this document to 
be revised.  
 
 

Page 149



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 
 
Recommendation 
That the Board note the formal adoption of the pass-through approach, as specified in this 
paper, as the preferred pension arrangement for future outsourced services. 
 
 
Contact Officer 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 150



Document is Restricted

Page 151

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Pension Board Minutes
	4 Pension Committee Draft Minutes
	5 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 1 - Funding Update at 30 September 2021
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 2 - Investment Performance
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 3 - Strategic Asset Allocation
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 4 - Investment Strategy Statement (approved December 2021)
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 5 - Voting statistics
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 6 - Engagement statistics
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 7 - Pensions Admin Summary
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 8 - Business Plan
	Agenda Item 5 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Appendix 9 - Governance Review Work Plan

	6 Risk Management Policy & Risk Register
	Agenda Item 6 - Risk Management Policy and Risk Register - Appendix 1 - Risk Management Policy
	Agenda Item 6 - Risk Management Policy and Risk Register - Appendix 2 - Sample Risk Register
	Agenda Item 6 - Risk Management Policy and Risk Register - Appendix 3 - Existing Risk Register

	7 Reporting & Recording Breaches of the Law Policy
	Agenda Item 7 - Reporting and Recording Breaches of the Law Policy - Appendix 1

	8 Statement of Administering Authority Discretions Policy
	Agenda Item 8 - Statement of Administering Authority Discretions Policy - Appendix 1

	9 Pensions Arrangements for Outsourced Services
	Agenda Item 9 - Proposals for Pension Arrangements for Outsourced Services

	11 Pension Committee Draft Exempt Minutes

